
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422520

E-mail: democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 23 March 2021

Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 31 MARCH 2021 AT 6.00 PM

A VIRTUAL MEETING

You can watch this meeting via this weblink:

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ

Members of the Committee:
Max Thompson (Chair)
Val Shaw (Vice-Chair)
Jerry Avery
Ron Batstone

Jenny Hannaby
Diana Lugova
Robert Maddison

Mike Pighills
Janet Shelley

Substitutes Councillors
Paul Barrow, Dr
Eric Batts
Nathan Boyd

Andy Cooke
Amos Duveen
Hayleigh Gascoigne

Simon Howell
Elaine Ware

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this 
agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED
Head of Legal and Democratic 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


2

1. Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman, and general housekeeping 
matters.

2. Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.  

3. Minutes  (Pages 4 - 13)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the 
meeting held on Wednesday 11 February 2021.  

4. Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

5. Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent.  

6. Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Planning applications

All the background papers, with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (e.g. within Enforcement Files) used in the following reports 
within this agenda are held (normally electronically) in the application file (working 
file) and referenced by its application number.  These are available to view at the 
Council Offices (135 Milton Park, Milton) during normal office hours.

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page.



3

7. Austin House, 
76 Bath Street, 
Abingdon  

Demolition of a modern flat roof 
extension to Austin House, the 
remodelling of Austin House, a new 
building to provide boarding 
accommodation and a link corridor to 
link the new building to Austin House 
(as amplified and amended by plans 
and documents received 10 
September 2020; 6 November 2020 
and 09 February 2021).

P19/V3211/FUL & 
P19/V3212/LB

14 - 72

8. Crescent 
House, 21 Park 
Crescent,  
Abingdon  

Demolition of modern side and rear 
extensions, the remodelling of 
Crescent House, a new building to 
provide boarding accommodation and 
a link corridor to link the new building 
to Crescent House (as amplified by 
amended plans and further 
information received 28 August 2020; 
22 September 2020; 1 October 2020; 
6 December 2020 and 9 February 
2021).

P19/V3213/FUL 73 - 125

9. Land at 
Townsend 
Road, 
Shrivenham  

Redevelopment of the site to provide 
10 new dwellings (a net gain of 9 
units) and associated parking, 
gardens, access improvements and 
landscaping, following the demolition 
of the existing workshops and 
bungalow. (as amended by details 
received 28 October 2020 and 4 
November 2020).

P20/V1279/FUL 126 - 
146

10. Fourwinds, 26 
Bagley Wood 
Road, 
Kennington  

Proposed erection of a new detached 
dwelling with associated parking and 
amenity space within curtilage of 
existing house served by a 
vehicular/pedestrian access.  External 
alterations to existing dwelling house 
26 Bagley Wood Road. (Amended 
plans received 18 December 2020- 
reducing the height of the boundary 
fence, additional levels plan)

P20/V2669/FUL 147 - 
160



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee Minutes

Thursday, 11 February 2021 Pl.1

Minutes
of a meeting of the
Planning Committee
held on Thursday, 11 February 2021 at 6.00 pm

A virtual meeting

Open to the public, including the press

Present: 

Members: Councillors Max Thompson (Chair), Val Shaw (Vice-Chair), Jerry Avery, 
Ron Batstone, Jenny Hannaby, Diana Lugova, Robert Maddison, Mike Pighills and 
Janet Shelley

Officers: Paul Bateman, Martin Deans, Sarah Green, Emily Hamerton, Jeremy Lloyd and 
Stuart Walker

Also present: Councillor Paul Barrow, Councillor Eric Batts and Councillor Simon Howell

Number of members of the public: 14

Pl.215 Chair's announcements 

The Chair ran through housekeeping arrangements appropriate to a virtual meeting.

Pl.216 Apologies for absence 

There were no apologies for absence.

Pl.217 Minutes 

The minutes of the previous meeting, held on Wednesday 6 January 2021, were agreed to 
be a correct record of the meeting. It was agreed that the Chair sign them as such.

Pl.218 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

Pl.219 Urgent business 

None.

Pl.220 Public participation 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Thursday, 11 February 2021 Pl.2

The committee noted the list of members of the public registered to speak at the meeting.  
The committee had received prior to the meeting statements which had been made.

The chair advised the committee that in view of the considerable number of speakers at 
the meeting, he would allocate a maximum of six minutes per speaking category.

Pl.221 P19/V3185/FUL & P20/V2131/LB - 39a & 39b Ock Street, 
Abingdon 

Councillor Robert Maddison, a local ward councillor, stood down from the committee for 
consideration of this item.

Owing to telecommunication difficulties, Councillor Jerry Avery did not hear the whole 
debate and did not vote on this application.

The committee considered applications P19/V3185/FUL & P20/V2131/LB for a  
redevelopment to provide 1 x 2-bedroom and 3 x 1-bedroom flats, and a 1 x 2-bedroom 
maisonette (amended plans received 7 August 2020), with demolition of curtilage listed 
buildings and boundary walls at 39a and 39b Ock Street Abingdon.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

The planning officer reported that a site visit had been held at these properties on Tuesday 
9 February 2021. The application site was an old commercial yard with vehicular access 
via an archway. The site contained four single storey buildings that were generally in a 
poor state of repair. The proposal was to demolish all of the existing buildings and 
boundary walls and to erect new pitched roof buildings of one- and one-and-a-half storeys, 
in a courtyard arrangement. With reference to the density of the proposal, the planning 
officer reported that Policy CP23 of Local Plan Policy 1 (LPP1) required a minimum net 
density of 30 dwellings per hectare. Higher densities were encouraged in locations where 
it would result in the optimum use of land, where there was good access to services and 
public transport, and where it would contribute to enhancing the character of a place. In 
the view of planning officers, this brownfield site was in a sustainable location.

The planning officer reported that a heritage impact assessment (HIA) had been 
submitted, which had identified that two of the existing buildings on the east boundary, 
together with the east and north boundary walls, were curtilage listed. The HIA stated that 
the structures had been considerably altered over recent time, to have minimal heritage 
interest, and that therefore, their removal was deemed acceptable. It was also considered 
that the design and scale of the proposal represented an acceptable impact on the 
character and appearance of the Abingdon Town Centre Conservation Area and on the 
setting of the Albert Park Conservation Area.

The planning officer reported that the conservation officer agreed with much of the HIA, 
but considered that the impact of the development on the setting of the adjacent listed 
buildings had been underestimated. The conservation officer did not support the proposed 
removal of the east boundary wall which, although recently altered, provided heritage 
interest as a record of the historic burgage plots that existed behind the Ock Street 
frontages. Employing the recognised national heritage measure, the officer considered that 
the harm arising from the scheme was “less than substantial, minor”. Following the advice 

Page 5



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Thursday, 11 February 2021 Pl.3

provided by the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 196), this harm should be 
balanced against the public benefits of the proposal.

Mr. Nick Barnes, representing the Ock Street Clinic (dentists), at 45 Ock Street, and a 
local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Mr. Richard Tamplin, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. The democratic 
services officer had sent Mr. Tamplin’s statement to the committee prior to the meeting.

Mr. Paul Marland, a local resident, who had registered to speak in objection to these 
applications for the planning committee meeting on 27 January 2021 (the committee had 
run out of time to consider the application on that occasion), was unable to speak to this 
committee meeting, but his joint statement with Danielle Marland had been sent to the 
committee by the democratic services officer prior to this meeting (11 February 2021).

Mr. Anthony Pettorino, the agent, spoke in support of the application. The democratic 
services officer had sent Mr. Pettorino’s statement to the committee prior to the meeting.

Councillor Robert Maddison a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

The committee considered that the proposed construction management plan would not 
adequately safeguard residents from the loss of amenity as a result of out of hours delivery 
vehicle movements. The committee also considered that, by reason of its scale and 
massing, and the number of intended dwellings, the proposals represented 
overdevelopment. Additionally, the committee contended that the development would 
cause harm to the character and appearance of the locality. The committee took the view 
that proposed development caused harm to the amenity of neighbours through 
overshadowing and dominance. It also considered that the proposed development 
provided an inadequate amount, and poor quality, of outdoor space for future occupiers, to 
the detriment of their amenity. The committee expressed concern at the probable heritage 
loss caused by the intended removal of the east boundary wall.  For these reasons the 
committee concluded that planning permission and listed building consent should be 
refused.

A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was carried on being put to 
the vote.

RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P19/V3185/FUL, for the 
following reasons;

1. The proposed development, by reason of its scale and massing, and the number of 
dwellings proposed, represents an overdevelopment of the site that is inappropriate 
within its context, thereby causing harm to the character and appearance of the 
locality, contrary to policy CP37 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1.

2. The proposed development causes harm to the amenities of neighbours through 
overshadowing and dominance, contrary to policy DP23 of the Vale of White Horse 
Local Plan 2031 Part 2.

3. The proposed development provides an inadequate amount and a poor quality of 
outdoor space for future occupiers, to the detriment of their levels of amenity, and 
does not function well. As such, it is contrary to policy CP37 of the Vale of White 
Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1.

Page 6



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Thursday, 11 February 2021 Pl.4

4. The proposed development, by reason of its scale and massing, and the removal of 
the curtilage listed east boundary wall, causes harm to the character and 
appearance of the Abingdon Town Centre Conservation Area and harm to the 
setting of the Albert Park Conservation Area, and fails to preserve the special 
interest of, and the setting of, adjacent listed buildings. As such, the proposal is 
contrary to policy CP39 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1, to 
policies DP36, DP37 and DP38 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2, 
and to advice in the NPPF.

A motion moved and seconded, to refuse listed building consent was carried on being put 
to the vote.

RESOLVED: to refuse listed building consent for application P20/V2131/LB, for the 
following reason;

1. The demolition of the curtilage listed east boundary wall does not have clear or 
convincing justification and fails to preserve the special architectural and historic 
interest of the listed building, and its setting. As such, the proposal is contrary to 
policies DP36 and DP38 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 and 
advice in the NPPF.

Pl.222 P18/V2791/O - Land East of Kingston Bagpuize 

Councillor Jerry Avery, a local ward councillor, stood down from the committee for 
consideration of this item.

Councillor Robert Maddison encountered technical communication problems during the 
presentation of this item. The councillor was unable to participate in or hear the whole 
debate and did not vote on this application.

The committee considered application P18/V2791/O for a hybrid planning application 
comprising:  

1) outline planning permission, with all matters reserved except for access, for 
development of up to 660 homes (use class C3), extra care development of up to 70 
units (use class C2), a local centre of up to 0.5ha (use classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, 
B1(a), C2, D1 and D2) a one form entry primary school on an area for education 
provision of up to 2.2ha, playing field and car parking, informal open space, landscape 
and sustainable drainage areas, access, footpaths, cycle ways, infrastructure and 
associated engineering works (including a noise attenuation bund and acoustic fence) 
and  

2) full planning permission for construction of a three-arm roundabout to the A420 
(Oxford Road), a four arm roundabout to the A415 (Abingdon Road) and link road 
between. As amended by plans and information received 31 July 2020 and 12 
November 2020 on land east of Kingston Bagpuize.  

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the 
meeting.

Page 7



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Thursday, 11 February 2021 Pl.5

The planning officer reported that this application sought outline permission for 660 
dwellings, which included an extra care development, sports and playing fields, open 
space, a primary school, outside infrastructure and associated works. The application 
also sought full permission for the construction of a link road and two roundabouts. The 
principle of development was contained in the Local Plan, and planning officers 
considered that the application did not represent unacceptable landscape harm or 
visual harm. All of the housing elements, including the housing mix and space 
standards, could be secured by the development and the building heights were 
acceptable. Additionally, the proposal was acceptable to planning officers from flood 
risk, drainage, heritage and biodiversity perspectives. Notwithstanding the application’s 
overall acceptability, planning officers considered that highways and air quality issues 
arising from the proposal could frustrate approval. 

The planning officer also advised the committee of a correction to the report; regarding 
the contributions in connection with the s.106 legal agreement, shown at paragraph 
5.84 and associated table. The committee was advised that the public transport 
contribution figure was based on 700 dwellings, whereas the correct figure should be 
660. The total figure for public transport should be shown as £708,271. Additionally, to 
mitigate the extra care element impact upon public transport, the Oxfordshire County 
Council (OCC) had requested a further £23,851, as it was considered that some 
residents, staff and visitors would make use of the public transport service.

Expanding upon his opening statements, the planning officer reported that council 
officers were satisfied that through detailed design the development can be integrated 
into the landscape without material harm, and through the development of appropriate 
landscape proposals at reserved matters stage. A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), 
submitted with the application, confirmed that the site lay within Flood Zone 1 and was 
at a low risk of flooding. The council's drainage team raised no objection, subject to 
conditions requiring a fully detailed scheme based on the FRA be submitted and 
approved.  

The committee noted paragraph 5.35 of the report, which stated that the occupation of 
dwellings on the site would not commence prior to the completion of the upgrade to 
Frilford junction, unless an alternative phasing plan was agreed with the OCC and 
satisfactory air quality mitigation for Marcham was introduced. A representative of OCC 
highways section reported that a survey of the junction was to be undertaken and 
mitigation measures were possible, dependent upon changes being made by the 
developer or by a larger contribution being forthcoming. 

The committee noted that Policy CP33 of Local Plan Policy 1 (inter alia) ensured that 
developments were designed to promote sustainable transport access, and promote 
and support improvements to the local road network which increased safety and 
improved air quality.  The committee also noted paragraph 5.38, which stated that 
three key locations, the Frilford Junction and the A34 interchanges at Botley (with the 
A420) and Marcham (with the A415) already had severe peak hour traffic congestion. 
The committee concurred with council officers in contending that the proposal would 
add to peak hour traffic queues, increasing the severity of congestion.   

The planning officer reported that there remained some concern on the part of OCC 
regarding the transport modelling that had been undertaken and that further 
information was requested. In the absence of information available on the detail of the 
mitigation requirement and the timescale for its delivery, officers considered that at the 
present time it could not be demonstrated that the development would be sustainable 

Page 8



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Thursday, 11 February 2021 Pl.6

in terms of mitigating traffic generation and severe congestion to an acceptable 
degree. The planning officer reported the latest situation, namely that further 
correspondence between the applicant and OOC had now taken place regarding some 
outstanding issues listed in the response in appendix 3 of the report. An optioneering 
study for Frilford junction, and in respect of air quality issues in Marcham, had now 
commenced. It was expected that it would take 12 months to identify options from the 
study. In respect of the Marcham interchange, the developer had undertaken further 
modelling on proposals for the western arm to mitigate the effect of development. The 
developer would be prepared to undertake the improvement themselves. OCC 
considered that this could provide mitigation to an acceptable level. However, at this 
stage, OCC were unable to confirm whether the developer would deliver the 
improvements direct or whether this could be facilitated by a financial contribution for 
wider scheme. The planning officer reported that an OCC acceptance of any such 
measures did not affect the district council’s reasons for disapproval on other items.

Councillor Julian Mellor, a representative of Fyfield and Tubney Parish Council spoke 
objecting to the application. The democratic services officer had sent Councillor 
Mellor’s statement to the committee prior to the meeting.

Councillor David Warr, a representative of Kingston Bagpuize with Southmoor Parish 
Council spoke objecting to the application. The democratic services officer had sent 
Councillor Warr’s statement to the committee prior to the meeting.

The committee expressed sympathy with the parish council and residents that the 
sewage smell in the Kingston Bagpuize environs continued to be an intermittent 
problem and that Thames Water should be pressed for a reliable infrastructure 
solution, which would be required in the event of development in Kingston Bagpuize. 

Councillor Michael Hoath, a representative of Marcham Parish Council, spoke objecting 
to the application.

Dr. Paul Barrow, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Professor John Cobb, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.
Barnes. The democratic services officer had sent Councillor Warr’s statement to the 
committee prior to the meeting.

Mr. Roger Smith, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Ms. Vicky Bilton, the applicant, spoke in support of the application.
The democratic services officer had sent Mr. Smith’s and Ms. Bilton’s joint statement to 
the committee prior to the meeting.

Councillor Eric Batts, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

Councillor Jerry Avery, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

The committee maintained concerns that adequate highways improvements prior to 
development had not been demonstrated and that the impact of additional traffic 
movements associated with the proposed development would be severe and add to 
existing congestion. Also, Local Plan polices required that occupations of dwellings on 
this site would not begin until the completion of an upgrade at Frilford Junction. The 
Local Plan also stipulated that occupations of dwellings would not commence prior to 

Page 9



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Thursday, 11 February 2021 Pl.7

satisfactory air quality mitigation for Marcham. Thus, air quality also remained an 
important concern of the committee.

A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was carried on being put 
to the vote.

RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P18/V2791/O for the 
following reasons;

1. The proposal was contrary to paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework which states: "Development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or 
the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe." Further, 
Development Policy 16 (ii) of the Local Plan 2031 Part 2 requires evidence to 
demonstrate that acceptable off-site improvements to highway infrastructure can be 
secured where these are not adequate to service the development.

2. The proposal would generate additional traffic movements onto the highway 
network, including through the A34 interchange junctions at Botley and Marcham 
and the Frilford junction, which had been identified as operating over capacity in the 
peak hours. Based on the findings of the local highway authority, the impact of 
additional traffic movements associated with the proposed development would be 
severe.

3. The mitigation proposals would be inadequate; paragraph 108 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework states: "it should be ensured that any significant 
impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and 
congestion) can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree." 

4. The applicant has not been able to fully demonstrate that it is possible to mitigate 
the harm in terms of congestion, and the local highway authority has not yet been 
able to undertake the necessary studies to identify strategic schemes and calculate 
necessary contributions. Furthermore, the adopted site template under policy CP8a 
of Local Plan 2031 Part 2 confirms occupations of dwellings on this site will not 
begin until the completion of an upgrade at Frilford Junction.

5. In the absence of details of what mitigation is required and how this will be delivered 
at the Frilford junction, Botley and Marcham interchanges and notwithstanding the 
fact that the application site is allocated for housing development in the adopted 
Local Plan 2031 Part 2, the proposal does not amount to sustainable development 
and would be contrary to core policy 8a and development policy 16 of the Local 
Plan 2031 Part 2 and to paragraphs 108 and 109 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

6. Air quality issues have not been adequately addressed; an air quality management 
area (AQMA) exists beside the A415 through Marcham village. The proposal would 
add traffic onto the A415 and through the AQMA. The additional pollution generated 
by the increased traffic flows in the AQMA would be detrimental to the living 
conditions, and potentially the health of occupants of dwellings within the AQMA.

7. Furthermore, the adopted site template under policy CP8a of the Local Plan 2031 
Part 2 confirms occupations of dwellings on this site will not begin prior to 
satisfactory air quality mitigation for Marcham. The applicant has not been able to 

Page 10



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Thursday, 11 February 2021 Pl.8

fully demonstrate that it is possible to satisfactorily mitigate the harm arising from 
the development in terms of air quality for Marcham. This is considered contrary to 
core policy 43(vi) of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1, core policy 8a 
and development policy 26 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2, and 
to paragraph 181 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

8. In the absence of a S106 legal agreement relating to the provision of affordable 
housing, a primary school and land for expansion, onsite play and sports provision 
and financial contributions towards traffic and air quality impact mitigation, public 
transport, travel plan monitoring, public art, street naming, waste bin provision, 
education and the management of public open spaces, sport and play areas, the 
proposal would place increased pressure on these facilities and fail to provide the 
environmental, social and recreational services needed to support this 
development. This is considered contrary to core policies 7, 22, 24, 33 and 35 of the 
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 and development policies 17, 20, 26, 
28 and 33 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2.

Pl.223 P20/V2125/FUL - April Cottage, 39 Stallpits Road, Shrivenham 

Part way through the consideration of this application, members took a vote prior to the 
meeting guillotine of 8:30pm to continue.

The committee considered application P20/V2125/FUL for the development of four 
dwellings to the rear of April Cottage (amended plans, tree survey and transport technical 
note received 26 November 2020 - includes reduction in dwelling numbers to four) at April 
Cottage, 39 Stallpits Road, Shrivenham.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

The planning officer reported that this was a proposal in respect of one of the district’s 
larger villages and was in a sustainable location. No objections had been received from 
the technical consultees in respect of the application. In response to a question regarding 
a construction traffic management plan, the planning officer reported that in view of the 
small scale of development, it would not be reasonable for such a plan to be required. 
Highways obstructions were covered by highway legislation and it was usually 
acknowledged that there would be some short-term disruption related to small construction 
sites such as this. It was expected that construction workers would follow a code of 
practice that included working within reasonable hours. Any unreasonable noise would 
normally be covered by relevant environmental health legislation for noise nuisance.

Councillor Richard Bartle, a representative of Shrivenham Parish Council, spoke objecting 
to the application.

Ms. Sarah Wright, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. 

Ms. Sandra Green a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. The democratic 
services officer had sent the joint statement by Ms. Wright and Ms. Green to the 
committee prior to the meeting. 

Page 11



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Thursday, 11 February 2021 Pl.9

Mr. Jon Langdon–Bates the agent, spoke in support of the application. The democratic 
services officer had sent the statement by Mr. Langdon–Bates to the committee prior to 
the meeting.

Councillor Elaine Ware, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application. The 
democratic services officer had sent the joint statement from Councillors Elaine Ware and 
Simon Howell (the latter also a local ward councillor) to the committee prior to the meeting.

In response to a question, the planning officer reported that there would be a requirement 
to remove a section of hedge from the front of the site to widen the access and also some 
trees adjacent to the east and south boundaries. There were no highways objections 
following amendments to the proposals.

In response to a question as to whether the proposal represented overcrowding, the 
planning officer reported that the reduction in the number of dwellings on the site, and the 
reduction of their size, had afforded more space around the dwellings and the parking and 
public areas. It was not considered that the dwellings would appear cramped in their plots. 
Although the plots might be slightly smaller than those immediately surrounding, they 
would all meet the recommended garden sizes and provide sufficient parking, with some 
opportunity for planting along the access driveway and within the gardens. Planning 
officers considered that it would be difficult to regard the proposal as overdevelopment. 
The buildings had been altered in design to be more respectful to the area.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was carried on being put to 
the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P20/V2125/FUL, for the following 
reasons;

1. Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2. Approved plans

Pre-commencement

3. Surface water drainage details submission
4. Foul water drainage details submission
5. Landscaping scheme submission
6. Tree protection including updated protection plan showing utility routes
7. External and internal boundary treatments submission
8. Slab and ridge levels submission

Pre-construction above slab level

9. Details of materials

Pre-occupation

10. Access and visibility splays in accordance with plans
11. Parking and turning space in accordance with plans
12. Refuse collection point provided
13. Removal of permitted development rights for Classes B and C (roof enlargements 

or alterations)

Page 12



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Thursday, 11 February 2021 Pl.10

Pl.1  
The meeting closed at 8.45 pm

Page 13



Vale of White Horse Planning Committee

Wednesday 31 March 2021

Statements submitted to the Committee

7. Austin House, Bath Street, Abingdon

 Hester Hand – Friends of Abingdon Civic Society
 Mr. Frank Wright

8. Crescent House, 21 Park Crescent, Abingdon

 Hester Hand – Friends of Abingdon Civic Society

9. Land at Townsend Road, Shrivenham (item withdrawn)

 Councillor Elaine Ware
 Sarah Hockin

10. Fourwinds, 26 Bagley Wood Road, Kennington (item withdrawn)

 David Burson

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



Statement to the VWHDC Planning Committee 31 March 2021
Hester Hand – Friends of Abingdon Civic Society

Good evening. I am speaking about the Austin House application, but most of my comments would 
apply equally to Crescent House. 

The officer’s report (and his pre-application advice) draws extensively on NPPF guidance and on the 
Vale’s development policies, but this Committee also needs to be aware of the position set out in 
statute and case law, which takes precedence over such guidance and policies.  (The references are 
listed in the written version of this statement.)

The Council is required by law to give ‘considerable importance and weight’ to any harm to listed 
buildings or their settings, or to the character and appearance of Conservation Areas. In the Barnwell 
Manor case, the Court of Appeal reiterated that: “There is a strong presumption against granting 
permission for a development which would harm the character or appearance of a Conservation 
Area.” 

Officers accept that this development will cause harm to the setting of the listed building, and to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. They suggest that the harm is “less than 
substantial”, and that it is “at the lower end of this category”. There’s room for debate about that - 
and you will note that Historic England say their original concerns about the setting to the listed 
building have not been allayed by changes to the design – but all agree that there is harm. 

There is therefore (in law) a strong presumption against granting permission.  The Courts have said 
that that presumption may be overridden in "exceptional cases". What you have to decide is 
whether the public benefit from this proposal is sufficient to create such an exception – the 
“Planning Balance”.

The introduction to the officer’s report says the scheme will “enable the future proofing of the 
school’s accommodation, better management and improved pupil cohesion. It will also free up 
existing buildings for other school activities”. His more detailed analysis in section 6 focuses on the 
overall benefit created by the school - but these are not benefits of the scheme itself, they are being 
provided already and there is no suggestion that they will be increased because of the scheme. 

The nub of the argument is in 6.5 – that the scheme will secure the ‘medium to long-term viability of 
the school’ – but there is no suggestion that that viability is in question. In other words, there is little 
or no identifiable public benefit to put against the “great weight” of the heritage issues.

It is unfortunate that although the officer’s report listed some relevant case law, he did not brief you 
on its significance. However the Committee is fully entitled to take its own view of the planning 
balance. We urge you to do so, to conclude that there are no public benefits which outweigh the 
strong presumption against granting permission, and to refuse it. The School may appeal, but they 
will find that there is a heavy weight of high judicial authority against them, and in favour of 
protecting our designated heritage.

End 

(for references, see over)

Page 15



References:
Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed  Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
Forge Field Society and Sevenoaks DC [2014] EWHC 1995 paras 49 - 51, and the related cases cited 
there. 
Barnwell Manor Wind Farm Limited v East Northamptonshire District
Council and Others [2014] EWCA Civ 137
Wyeth-Price and Guildford Borough Council [2020] EWHC 3355

Page 16



Frank Wright & Camilla Ryan (by email)

[In the report to the Planning Committee, the scale and nature of the building work 
proposed are recognised as harmful to the CA  and yet there seems to be a 
presumption of acceptance of the plan based on that fact that the applicant is a 
school. However, case law points to  presumption of refusal as the starting point 
where a conservation area is concerned.]  This section may be omitted as it is 
covered by a previous speaker.  

Over the years,  we have seen a great increase in the use of Albert Park area.  More 
and more people are appreciating the resource they have on their door step, a 
resource that the whole community can enjoy.   And it is not just a green space – it is 
also an architectural entity – a Victorian park with its surrounding houses and villas, 
laid out over 100 years ago.  

This proposal aims to take Crescent House, extend it hugely into a new context of 
modern school buildings, changing the character of this end of Park Crescent 
irretrievably.  If the proposal is accepted, we – the community – will have lost 
something unique and separate, and – crucially –  something  that has been 
identified as worthy of protection as it is an integral part of the Albert Park  
conservation area.  And, given the scale of what is being proposed, who can say that 
this is ‘less than substantial’ damage? 

Let’s value what we have now before it’s too late.

Page 17



Statement to Vale of White Horse District Council Planning 
Committee 31 March 2021 from Ward Councillor Elaine Ware

P20/V1279/FUL - Land at Townsend Road Shrivenham

This is yet another controversial planning application for the village of Shrivenham. 
As the committee knows Shrivenham has seen an overwhelming expansion in recent 
years without the necessary infrastructure to support it. Any local need in this village 
has already been adequately met. When it comes to affordable housing some 300+ 
dwellings will have been provided from approved applications, including the strategic 
site of 515 dwellings. 

With regard to this application one of the major concerns is the access and the 
speed of the traffic. It is noted that OCC HIghways are not objecting and have asked 
for conditions to be applied. However, undertaking traffic surveys during lockdown is 
not providing realistic usage of Townsend Road. In addition there are 116 dwellings 
currently under construction directly opposite this site. This development was a 
speculative application which was granted on appeal due to the Vale at the time not 
having a Local Plan or 5 year land supply. The increase in the number of vehicles 
from this site will in due course obviously add to the traffic movements along 
Townsend Road. 

Although mitigation measures have been included in order to alleviate the 
overlooking to Meadow Edge this is still extremely worrying to the occupants. Having 
a terrace of five two storey dwellings within such close proximity of the boundary will 
obviously create a dominant effect and be intrusive as well as the loss of light to the 
bungalow.

It is recognised that this application has been assessed as a previously
used site but it is disappointing that there is no viable opportunity to provide any 
employment on the site. This is questioned bearing in mind that there is a car 
maintenance business abutting the site to the east. 

Although there is no mention in the report of contamination this is of concern bearing 
in mind that over the years the land was used as a garage and vehicle 
maintenance/spray shop. There is also the possibility of asbestos being present in 
some of the outbuildings which may cause problems when demolishing.

It is vital that if the application is approved the Construction Traffic Management Plan 
includes no access through Shrivenham village especially the High Street. Access to 
the site should be from the A420 at the Bourton junction and then onto Townsend 
Road. A condition should also be included to ensure that construction operatives 
vehicles MUST be parked on site and not on Townsend Road.

There are 17 conditions attached to this application. If approval is granted It is 
imperative that these are closely monitored and enforced where necessary 
throughout the construction process. 

Page 18



Page 19



Land at Townsend Road, Shrivenham (ref. P20/V1279/FUL) – Deputation  

Firstly, thank you to the councillors at this planning committee for taking the time to review the 

application for the development of 10 dwellings on the site.  

I am Sarah Hockin a Planner at Turley acting on behalf of our client Infinity Square Limited who are 

the owners of the bungalow site which is proposed for redevelopment. 

We have worked very closely with your planning officers throughout the evolution of the proposed 

development in order to refine the scheme and to ensure it is suited to the site. Through detailed 

discussions with the case officer and supporting consultees we have carefully conceived the proposal 

to take account of the sites surrounding context, the design, highway impacts and ensured the 

protection of residential amenity. Careful consideration has been given to the impacts to the existing 

property, Meadow Edge, to ensure that there is sufficient distance between the sites and no direct 

harmful overlooking. 

This has resulted in a high quality development which accords with all of the relevant policies in the 

adopted Development Plan, including those relating to design, layout and density. The scheme also 

contributes towards local housing need through the provision of smaller scale housing. As such the 

scheme is supported by the case officer and has been recommended for approval.  

The layout of the proposal has been designed to provide the opportunity for future development of 

the garage site along the road frontage.  

The scheme has retained the existing hedgerow along the western edge which forms a strong 

defensible boundary between the site and the open countryside beyond.  

The development provides an excellent and appropriate use of a redundant brownfield site which is 

no longer viable for commercial uses. The scheme settles well into the surrounding character and 

context, with particular regard to the new Bovis housing development opposite, and responds to 

what has now become the local character of this part of Shrivenham. As a result the scheme will 

contribute towards the wider regeneration of the gateway into Shrivenham.  

Page 20



 

JPPC ref: DB/7947 
 

   

Members of the Planning Commtittee 
Vale of White Horse District Council 
 
SENT VIA E-MAIL 

 

 29th March 2021 
Dear Councillor 
 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING 31ST MARCH 2021 
PLANNING APPLICATION: P20/V2669/FUL 
 
Fourwinds, 26 Bagley Wood Road, Kennington 
 
I write on behalf of the applicant for the above application which is due 
to be considered by Members at the Planning Committee meeting this 
Wednesday (31/03/2021). 
 
As you will have seen, the application is recommended for approval.  The 
Committee report sets out a cogent and compelling basis for the positive 
recommendation, and therefore, I do not intend to comment specifically 
upon the detailed amenity considerations or policy context relevant to 
determination of the application.   
 
It suffices to note your officer confirms the proposed new home to be 
supported in principle by Local Plan policy CP4 as it is located within the 
built limits of Kennington, a sustainable larger village.  All amenity 
impacts have been considered and deemed to be acceptable.  Indeed, 
the development can offer benefits through better use of a sustainably 
located site. 
 
The applicant has worked closely with your officers to ensure the 
proposed development is one that your Council can approve.  This has 
included pre-application correspondence (published online) to establish 
officer support in principle with detailed comments to refine proposals.  
Engagement has continued through the planning application.   
 
The applicant regards the positive recommendation of the application as 
endorsement of the ‘best practice’ approach of pre-application 
discussions.  They would like to take this opportunity to express their 
thanks for your officers’ diligence and assistance. 
 
The applicant is mindful of local comments and wishes to take 
opportunity to respond to them, particularly those of the Parish Council 
regarding the potential impacts of the proposed development. 
 
 
 
 
 Page 21



 

2 
 

The provision of a new home through more efficient use of land within larger villages is 
a sustainable form of development.  Occupants of the new dwelling will benefit from 
access to the village services and facilities without reliance on a private car, while buses 
can be used for longer journeys.  Sensitive development of sites within settlements 
reduces pressure for building on undeveloped land elsewhere. 
 
The applicant has sought to respond positively to the site’s surroundings in order that a 
new home can be provided without harm to the area.  The Council has previously 
permitted the construction of a new dwelling towards the front part of 38a Bagley Wood 
Road, a short distance south of the site (ref. P17/V0869/FUL).   
 
Bagley Wood Road is made up of a variety of dwelling types with some homes set back 
in their plots, and others, including properties neighbouring the site, forward with a road 
frontage.  Although the proposed development would change the appearance of the site 
the character of the area would be maintained.  Your officer’s report confirms the siting 
of the proposed new home would be in character with the area and in keeping “with other 
dwellings along Bagley Wood Road that are located in a similar location or closer to the 
frontage than the proposed” (para. 5.6.).   
 
The proposed house has been carefully designed with reference to the Council’s Design 
Guide to ensure it is sympathetic in its appearance and maintains the amenity of 
neighbours.  Your officer’s report concludes “it is considered that the scale, form and 
massing of the proposed dwelling is acceptable in design terms, and the dwelling will not 
appear out of place within the street scene or harm the visual amenity of the area”. (para. 
6.0).  Similarly, their assessment confirms the new home will not be detrimental to the 
amenity of neighbours. 
 
The proposed scheme can also offer benefits to the area.  The development will allow 
the creation of proper vision splays at the site access which will be secured by a legal 
agreement.  The widened access will also allow for easier movement of vehicles and 
offer an informal space for vehicles to pass on Bagley Wood Road.  Residents of the 
new home can contribute to the village socially. 
 
Your officer’s report has confirmed the proposed development can offer the benefit of a 
sustainably located new home and no specialist consultee, nor the case officer, has 
identified material harm which would justify refusal of planning permission.   
 
The report before you confirms the proposed development to comply with all relevant 
Local Plan and NPPF policies and, as required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF, 
recommends that planning permission be granted.  We wholeheartedly endorse this 
recommendation and hope the Committee can lend their support. 
 
I hope this letter is of assistance to your understanding of the issues raised by this 
proposal and assists in your forthcoming consideration of the development. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
David Burson LLB MSc. MRTPI 
Associate 
Email:  david.burson@jppc.co.uk 
Direct dial:  01865 322358 

Page 22



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

APPLICATION NO. P19/V3211/FUL & P19/V3212/LB
SITE Austin House, 76 Bath Street, Abingdon, 

OX14 1EB
PARISH ABINGDON
PROPOSAL Demolition of a modern flat roof 

extension to Austin House, the 
remodelling of Austin House, a new 
building to provide boarding 
accommodation and a link corridor to link 
the new building to Austin House.
(as amplified and amended by plans and 
documents received 10 September 2020; 
6 November 2020 and 09 February 
2021).

WARD MEMBER(S) Eric de la Harpe
Robert Maddison

APPLICANT Mr Justin Hodges
OFFICER Luke Veillet

RECOMMENDATION
That, planning permission and Listed Building Consent is granted, subject 
to the following conditions;

Planning Permission (P19V3211/FUL)

           Standard conditions

1. Full Planning Permission – three-year commencement
2. Development in accordance with the approved plans 

           Pre-commencement conditions
 

3. Tree Protection (submission of final AMS and details)  
4. Construction Traffic Management Plan 
5. Schedule of Materials (Photographs)  
6. Archaeology (WSI) 

           Pre-occupation conditions

7. Submitted Landscaping implementation  
8. Submitted Drainage implementation  
9. Sustainable Design Features - as approved  

Page 23

Agenda Item 7

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/V3211/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

           Compliance conditions 

10. Submitted Ecology mitigation  
11. Piling Method Statement submission – if necessary  
12. Submitted External Lighting - no further lighting with LPA approval

 

Listed Building Consent (P19/V3212/LB)

           Standard conditions

1. Commencement three-year commencement 
2. Approved plans  

           Prior works/relevant works 

3. Schedule of Materials  
4. Details of glazed bridge  

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 Introduction 

This application, as a ‘major’ scale development, has been referred to the 
planning committee as your officers’ views conflict with those of the Town 
Council. 

1.2 The application site comprises a large residential property and its curtilage 
(Austin House), which incidentally forms part of the surrounding wider 
Abingdon School site. Abingdon School is a well-established independent day 
and boarding school for boys aged 11-18, also with a Prep School for boys 
aged 4-13.

1.3 Austin House (previously known as Waste Court) is a Grade II Listed Building 
(listing entry 1368292), as are the Wall and Gate Piers to Waste Court 
(1284079), located to the south of the main building. Austin House is an 
existing boarding house which accommodates the Housemaster and his family 
and 29 boarding pupils. The site is located within the Albert Park Conservation 
Area (CA) and Albert Park, which is a Grade II Registered Park and Garden 
(RPG), is located some 250m to the west. There are two listed buildings in 
Albert Park itself (Grade II Monument to Prince Albert and Grade II Conduit 
House) and numerous others within the wider area. Several listed buildings 
are located along Bath Street, with the closest being 61 Bath Street, some 
60m to the south-east of the site. The site is also in a wider area of 
archaeological interest, being located within Abingdon Towns core (reference 
DOX16321M). A map of the site and constraints is shown in figure 1 below. 

Figure 1. Location and constraints map 

Page 24



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

Key
1. Austin House (Application site)
2. Grade II Wall and Gate Piers to Waste Court
3. Crescent House (School Boarding accommodation)
4. Cobban House (School Boarding accommodation)
5. Glyndowr House (School Boarding accommodation)
6. Grade II Albert Park (Registered Park and Garden)
7. Grade II Listed Monument to Prince Albert 
8. Grade II Conduit House 
9. Grade II 61 Bath Street 
10. Roysses’ Alley (PRoW)
11. School House (School Boarding accommodation)

1.4 Proposal 

Abingdon senior school currently has just over 1,000 boys from age 11-18, of 
which around 140 are boarders (comprising 110 full boarders and 30 weekly 
boarders). This total number of boarders has remained static in recent years 
and represents the capacity. Boarders are housed in three boarding houses: 
School House (53 boarders), Crescent House (56), and Austin House (29). 
Crescent House consists of three separate buildings - Glyndowr, Cobban 
House, and Crescent House. Each boarding house also provides pastoral care 
for a number of dayboys such that the total number of boys (day + boarding) in 
each boarding house is c.100. There are 6 other purely dayboy houses in the 
school plus a Lower School division for the first and second years. The mixing 
of dayboys and boarders helps aid integration of boarders into school life more 
generally and vice versa.

1.5 Abingdon School has been subject to expansion of their facilities in recent 
years. Most notable are the large three-storey ‘Yang Science Building’ which is 

1
2

34
5

6

7

8

10
9

11

Page 25



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

located directly behind Crescent House to the north and the three-storey 
Beech Court Sixth Form Centre located to the south-west of Austin House.

1.6 The proposed development follows on from several pre-application enquiries 
starting 2017, which have sought to explore the potential to extend the existing 
boarding accommodation. Initially focussed on extending all the buildings at 
Crescent House, the latest enquiry in 2019 (P19/V1099/PEM) sought to 
resolve previous concerns in extending all three Villas around Park Crescent, 
by using Austin House. This application was supported by an updated site 
wide ‘Masterplan’, which detailed future development of the school, as well as 
articulating the rationale for selecting Crescent House and Austin House as 
most appropriate to extend. The 2019 Masterplan is attached at Appendix 1.

1.7 Therefore, this specific application seeks both Planning Permission and Listed 
Building Consent to demolish the existing two-storey flat roof rear extension of 
Austin House and erect a three-storey linked extension in its place. The actual 
works to the listed building comparably, are fairly minor, constituting some 
internal alterations/remodelling of a small number of rooms to provide en-
suites and the walkway connections to the new extension at first/ground floor 
level. Extracts of the key proposed plans are attached at Appendix 2.

1.8 The scheme has been amended since its original submission, in response to 
officer concerns. The main differences are that the extension has been shifted 
further south to mitigate views from Bath Street, avoid the Root Protection 
Area (RPA) of T6 (Lebanon Cedar) and detailing has been added to the 
eastern elevation of the extension to avoid blank gable. 

1.9 Finally, it important to note that this application has been submitted in 
conjunction with applications to extend Crescent House (P19/V3213/FUL) 
which also seeks a three-storey extension to consolidate boarding 
accommodation on the western part of the school site. Whilst this is a separate 
application under consideration (thus considered on its own merits), it is part of 
the wider masterplan to upgrade the schools boarding facilities. Neither 
applications are seeking an increase in the number of pupils attending or 
boarding at the site but seek to consolidate existing accommodation which are 
scattered amongst different buildings. The schemes propose not to materially 
change the number of boarders from the current 140, but to even out the 
number of boarders in each of the three main houses to around an optimum 
level of 50 beds per house. This will enable the future proofing of the school’s 
accommodation, better management and improve pupil cohesion. It will also 
free up existing buildings for other school activities. The applicant’s rationale 
for the accommodation is attached at Appendix 3.

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Full comments are available on the application pages on the council’s website, 

www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk. A summary of comments submitted, and main 
issues highlighted are shown below;

1. P19/V3211/FUL – Planning Application 

Page 26

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

Abingdon Town 
Council

First Consultation
Objection 

 Harm to the Albert Park Conservation Area
 Out of keeping and cause substantial harm 
 Public benefits do not outweigh the harm
 The Council considers that the proposals 

represent an overdevelopment of the site in 
terms of size, scale, bulk and massing.

Amended Scheme 
Objection 

 Concurred with Historic England’s comments 
sent to the District Council, particularly that the 
current scheme would still entail a degree of less 
than substantial harm to the setting of the listed 
building and the character and appearance of 
Albert Park conservation area.

Countryside 
Officer

First Consultation
No objection, subject to condition

 The site has been subject to ecological surveys 
and the proposed works are not considered 
likely to impact any roosting bats. 

 Trees with bat roosting potential are being 
retained in the development. 

 Development will involve the loss of amenity 
grassland and garden planting, but 
compensatory planting will be provided in the 
landscaping of the site. 

 As such, subject to the addition of the following 
condition, I am satisfied that there would be no 
significant ecological impacts if planning 
permission were to be granted

Amended Scheme
No objection, previous comments stand  

Drainage 
Engineer 

First Consultation
No objection

 Satisfied with drainage detail, no conditions 
required. 

Environmental 
Protection Team

First Consultation
Comments 

 Acoustic measures to be implemented
 Construction working hours secured

Amended Scheme
No further comments 

Page 27



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

Oxfordshire 
County Council 
Single Response

First consultation and amended scheme

Highways 
No objection, subject to condition for CMP

 No overall increase in pupils, so no highway 
impact

 The nature of boarding pupils is that they walk 
to school from the boarding accommodation 
and, therefore, a reduction in vehicular trip 
generation potential may result from the 
proposals or no net increase is likely, in any 
case

 CMP required for construction 

Local Lead Flood Authority 
No comments

Archaeologist 
No objections, subject to conditions 

 An archaeological evaluation has revealed the 
presence of medieval features in the
form of ditches and pits containing domestic 
material

 Conditions to secure WSI/staged 
investigation/recording and reporting of any 
finds.  

Thames Water 
Development 
Control

First consultation 
No objection, subject to condition

 There is capacity of the scheme in relation to the 
local water and drainage infrastructure.

 However, being close to a strategic sewer, a 
condition is required to secure a piling method 
statement to avoid damage to important sub 
surface water/drainage infrastructure. Piling has 
the potential to significantly impact / cause 
failure of local underground sewerage utility
Infrastructure.

Urban Design 
Officer

First Consultation 
Holding objection

 The location of the proposed development is not 
a concern from an urban design perspective 
despite the proximity of the Grade II listed 
building ‘Austin House’, and the context of the 
Albert Park Conservation Area

 The overall approach is acceptable from an 
architectural perspective, the links themselves 
work to minimise the impact on the overall 
envelope and fabric of the listed building

 Potential issues of shading to the south

Page 28



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

 Needs to move away from T6

Amended scheme  
Holding objection 

 Beyond the potential issue around light available 
for rooms where the relationship between the 
Austin House and the new boarding school is 
close. Previous key issues discussed regarding 
the impact on T6 tree location, have been 
resolved from an urban design perspective. 

 The building itself maintains robust design 
principles with an applicable but contemporary 
vernacular with materials and detailing 
sympathetic to Austin House and is consistent 
with associated development across the wider 
site.

Waste 
Management 
Officer

First Consultation 
No comments 

Amended scheme 
No comments 

Tree Officer First consultation 
Holding objection;

 The proposed development will require the 
removal of several trees shown as T1, T2, T3, 
T5, T7, T9, T10 and T11 and a hedge shown as 
H1. I have no objections to the removal of these 
trees and hedge as they are of low arboricultural 
quality and should not be considered a 
constraint to the proposed development.

 Conflict with T6 and retaining wall
 Numerous landscaping conflicts 
 Services plans required 

Amended scheme 
No objection, subject to conditions 

 Conflicts and services plans resolved, but AMS 
has not assessed issues around services 
connections to the substation. Tree protection 
and AMS condition required. 

The Garden Trust First consultation 
Comments

 We agree with your pre-application advice that 
the School have taken care to work sensitively in 
relation to the impact of this proposal upon 
designated heritage assets. The new building 
and link corridor are further from the Grade II 

Page 29



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

listed registered Albert Park (RPG) than the 
Crescent House application (P19/V3213/FUL) 
and the trees along the frontage of the 
application site should obscure views from within 
the RPG and the setting of the buildings in Park 
Crescent. 

 We are confident that should your officers 
approve this application, they are sufficiently 
aware of the sensitivities of the RPG and 
conservation area to ensure that if any additional 
arboricultural conditions are required to provide 
necessary long-term screening, these will be 
imposed

Chief Fire Officer First consultation 
***No response received***

Abingdon Civic 
Society 

See comments below on listed building application 

Historic England See comments below on listed building application 

Local resident 
and Neighbour 
comments (1)

First consultation 
Comments 

 Will not enhance or preserve the listed building 
or conservation area, due scale and location 

Amended scheme 
Comments

 I object. I believe the proposals will cause 
heritage harm outweighing any 'public benefits 
arising' and the character and appearance of the 
Albert Park Conservation area will not be 
enhanced

 It is the building which has the Grade II Listing 
and not the School, which has ownership since 
1928

 Erode views to and from Crescent House 
 The size, scale and character of these buildings 

feature significantly in views from the public 
realm within the Albert Park Conservation Area

2. P19/V3212/LB – Listed Building Consent 

Abingdon Town 
Council 

First consultation
Objection  

 Harm to the Albert Park Conservation Area
 Out of keeping and cause substantial harm 

Page 30



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

 Public benefits do not outweigh the harm
 The Council considers that the proposals 

represent an overdevelopment of the site in 
terms of size, scale, bulk and massing

Amended scheme 
Objection 

 Recommend refusal. Notwithstanding the 
amended proposal, the Committee still 
expressed concerns regarding this application 
and concurred with Historic England s 
comments sent to the District Council, 
particularly that the current scheme would still 
entail a degree of less than substantial harm to 
the setting of the listed building and the 
character and appearance of Albert Park 
conservation area.

Conservation 
Officer 

First consultation
Holding objection 

 Holding objection to this application subject to 
further detail and amended plans.

 There is insufficient detail about the direct 
impact to the listed building to make a 
recommendation on the acceptability of the 
proposals to the historic fabric.

 The supporting documentation has failed to 
appropriately assess the direct impact to historic 
fabric. It states that the new building is entirely 
separate from the listed building which is not 
correct as the proposed link requires the 
removal of an original timber sash window and 
the installation of acoustic, thermal and fire proof 
partitions through the ground and first floors to 
separate the housemaster’s accommodation 
from the student bedrooms.

 From the south, the new building will sit 
alongside an area where large new sports 
facilities have been built and in this context the 
advice was that the massing of the new 
boarding house would be fairly discreet

 Valid concerns have been raised by Historic 
England on the impact of the proposal on the 
significance of the listed building and by the 
Civic Society on the impact to the conservation 
area

 Having visited the site it is clear that the 
proposed new boarding house sits in the context 
of a number of new large structures and the 
existing house which is itself one of the larger 

Page 31



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

domestic properties in the Conservation Area. 
As such, I believe there is scope to 
accommodate a large structure here

Amended scheme
Comments

 Amended plans have been submitted which 
have moved the proposed extension to the 
south slightly, reducing the closing effect on the 
gap between Austin House and the former 
Coach House when perceived from Bath Street

 A new window has also been proposed to 
provide some activity to the elevations that are 
visible in the Bath Street street-scene. Overall, 
this improves the impact on the conservation 
area from the previous proposals

 Further assessment of the main listed building 
changes has been submitted and I am satisfied 
that the proposed alterations do not erode the 
special interest of the listed building

 Harm to setting of the Listed building – less than 
substantial 

Historic England First consultation 
Comments 

 The application site is within the Albert Park 
Conservation Area. Austin House, a grade II 
listed building sits on the eastern boundary of 
the site. The proposal is for the demolition of a 
late 20th century extension to Austin House and 
for the erection of a 3- storey linked extension 
on a much larger footprint. 

 This will impact on the setting of the listed 
building and obscure some key views into the 
conservation area. 

 The contribution of the site to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area and its 
setting has not been fully assessed, nor has the 
impact on views into the conservation area been 
taken into account. 

 Whilst Historic England has no objection to the 
demolition proposed, we are concerned that it 
has not been demonstrated how the proposed 
new building will preserve the setting of the 
listed building nor preserve or enhance the 
character or appearance of the conservation 
area

 
Amended scheme 
Comments 

Page 32



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

Setting of the listed building 
 In previous advice we expressed concerns 

about the adverse contextual impact that
the considerable footprint and scale of the 
proposed addition would have on the
listed building, notwithstanding its articulated 
design in three stepped elements. 

 The intended structure, in close proximity to 
Austin House to which it would be linked by a
glazed bridge, would result in erosion of its 
surviving garden setting and associated
domestic character.

 The current scheme has not altered footprint, 
massing and scale of the previous proposals 
and, therefore, our concerns remain

 Where a development proposal will lead to less 
than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal, including securing its optimum viable 
use

Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Albert Park 
Conservation Area

 In recognition of the contribution that the site 
gives to the character and appearance of the 
conservation area, especially as seen from Bath 
Street, current proposals have been amended to 
mitigate the impact on its significance

 Changes from the previously submitted scheme 
see the re-siting of the proposed extension 
southwards by 1,5 metres in order to reduce its 
visibility from the main thoroughfare. In addition, 
an elongated window introduced to the east 
elevation, and a brickwork more closely relating 
to that of Austin House’s return elevation are
proposed to soften the impact and produce 
some visual interest.

 The shift in the location of the new structure has 
limited the potential impacts on the retained 
trees, by increasing separation between the 
cedar and the proposed development, and by 
reducing the amount of new hardstanding within 
the garden through a new landscaping scheme.

 Cumulatively, these amendments have reduced 
the level of adverse impact of the proposals on 
the significance of the conservation area.

Page 33



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

Friends of 
Abingdon Civic 
Society 

First Consultation 
Objection 

 The recommendation from Historic England is 
clear and substantial, and contains several 
reasons why the application should be refused 
as it stands unless and until it is substantially 
amended.

 Pre-application advice is flawed as it does not 
mention correct legislation

 Officer at pre-application should not consider 
this scheme as their approach is wrong. 

Amended scheme 
Objection 

 We do not consider that the points raised in our 
earlier objection with respect to preserving, and 
preferably enhancing, the character and 
appearance of the Albert Park Conservation 
Area and the character and special interest of 
the listed building have been sufficiently 
addressed in this amended application.

 Draft conservation area appraisal should be 
taken into account in the consideration of this 
application.

Local resident 
and Neighbour 
comments (1)

First consultation 
Comments 

 Will not enhance or preserve the listed building 
or conservation area, due scale and location 

Amended scheme 
Comments

 I object. I believe the proposals will cause 
heritage harm outweighing any 'public benefits 
arising' and the character and appearance of the 
Albert Park Conservation area will not be 
enhanced

 It is the building which has the Grade II Listing 
and not the School, which has ownership since 
1928

 Erode views to and from Crescent House 
 The size, scale and character of these buildings 

feature significantly in views from the public 
realm within the Albert Park Conservation Area

Page 34



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P19/V3213/FUL - (not yet determined) Demolition of modern side and rear 

extensions, the remodelling of Crescent House, a new building to provide 
boarding accommodation and a link corridor to link the new building to 
Crescent House.

P18/V2481/FUL – Approved (10/01/2019)
Erection of a three-storey education building to accommodate a lodge, house 
rooms, computer science and economic teaching space

P18/V0902/FUL – Approved (29/05/2018)
Removal of existing gates from the grade II listed piers and wall at Waste 
Court, Abingdon School, erection of black metal railings set further back.

P18/V0903/LB – Approved (29/05/2018) Removal of existing gates from the 
grade II listed piers and wall at Waste Court, Abingdon School, erection 
of black metal railings set further back.

P16/V2529/FUL – Approved (03/01/2017)
Demolition of existing building and erection of a new three storey building to 
accommodate a sixth form centre, centre for independent learning and art 
department and external storage building. Minor changes to cafe and new 
pedestrian access to Roysee's Alley to the north.

P16/V1480/DIS - Approved (05/07/2016)
Replacement of grass tennis courts, laying artificial multi-use sports pitch 
(MUSA), with associated fencing and access. P16/V0741/FUL Conditions(s) 4 - 
Arboricultural Method Statement.

P16/V0741/FUL - Approved (12/05/2016)
Replacement of grass tennis courts, laying of a new artificial multi-use sports 
pitch (MUSA), with associated fencing and access.

P12/V2374/CA - Approved (24/01/2013)
Demolition of existing school building (Medical Centre).

P12/V2373/FUL - Approved (24/01/2013)
Demolition of existing school building (Medical Centre). Erection of a three 
storey Science Centre and the reconfiguration of the existing coach park, 
including alterations to the points of ingress and egress.

P05/V0490/LB - Approved (07/06/2005)
Proposed internal modifications and revisions to existing windows.

P94/V0775/LB - Approved (03/10/1994)
Extension rendering to south elevation and part of east and north elevation.

P93/V0756/LB - Approved (15/07/1993)
Provision of a covered link between Wate Court & Waste Court Annexe.

Page 35

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/V1480/DIS
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/V0741/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P12/V2374/CA
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P12/V2373/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P05/V0490/LB
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P94/V0775/LB
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P93/V0756/LB


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

P93/V0755 - Approved (15/07/1993)
Provision of a covered link between Waste Court and Waste Court Annexe.

P88/V0972 - Approved (18/05/1988)
Formation of a first floor escape door and provision of an external iron 
staircase.

P83/V0661/LB - Approved (26/09/1983)
Change of use and alterations from storage to form additional boarding 
accommodation.

3.2 Pre-application History
P19/V1099/PEM - (18/06/2019)
Erection of boarding house accommodation.

3.3 Screening Opinion requests
None

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 Screening is not required, and the development does not constitute EIA 

development. It does not involve development over the thresholds for urban 
development projects under Schedule 2, 10 (b). The site is not
in a ‘sensitive area’ defined by the Town and Country Planning Environmental 
Impact Assessment Regulations 2017.

5.0 MAIN ISSUES
5.1 The main issues to consider in context of these scheme are discussed in 

section five below;

 The principle of development 
 Layout, Design and Impact on Heritage Assets 
 Residential amenity
 Traffic, parking and highway safety
 Environmental matters
 Impact on the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 

building
 Other matters 

5.2 The principle of development
5.3 Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the

local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development
Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material
considerations. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 requires where regard is to be had to the Development Plan, applications
for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the most relevant parts 
of the Development Plan are the adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1 (LPP1) and 
Part 2 (LPP2).

Page 36

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P93/V0755
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P88/V0972
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P83/V0661/LB


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

5.4 LPP1 policy CP01 broadly reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable
development set out in the NPPF. Policy CP03 then sets out a settlement 
hierarchy, which is one of the policies which underpins the districts overarching 
spatial strategy for development. This policy defines Abingdon-on-Thames as 
one of the Market Towns, which given its size and services, has the ability to 
support the most sustainable patterns of living. It notes the Market Towns have 
the greatest long-term potential for development. Abingdon School is firmly 
located within the built-up area of the Town.

5.5 The development plan does not have any specific policies which guide 
development on its established school sites in the built-up areas of the Towns. 
However, LPP2 policy DP8 does recognise schools to constitute community 
facilities, which play a key role in creating and sustaining healthy and inclusive 
communities. Policy DP8 notes that extending community facilities will be 
supported in the built-up areas of settlements. The fact Abingdon School is an 
independent school, in your officer’s view, does not exclude it from being a 
community facility. It is still a school which serves the local community and 
beyond, both for education and use of its sports and leisure facilities to the 
wider public. Indeed, appeal decisions have confirmed that private facilities can 
be considered as community facilities (such as an Osteopathic Clinic, for 
example - appeal ref: APP/D1780/C/19/3222884). 

5.6 It is also noted that Paragraph 20 (c) of the NPPF recognises education 
facilities to constitute ‘community facilities’. Paragraph 94 then recognises the 
importance of having , ‘a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet 
the needs of existing and new communities’ and at 94 (a), it notes that Local 
Authorities should give, ‘great weight to the need to create, expand or alter 
schools through the preparation of plans and decisions on applications’. 

5.7 Therefore, having regard to the development plan and above policy context, 
your officers consider that the principle of extending the school facilities in the 
manner proposed is acceptable, supported by LPP1 policy CP03, LPP2 policy 
DP8 and national guidance. This would of course be subject to consideration of 
the detailed issues and other material considerations examined below. 

5.8 Layout, Design and Impact on Heritage Assets
5.9 It is evident that the layout, scale and design of the scheme in context of the 

various impacts on the historic environment, is one of the main issues raised. 
As identified, the site is constrained by several designated heritage assets. It is 
located within the Albert Park Conservation Area (CA) and wider setting of 
Grade II Albert Registered Park and Garden (RPG). There are also numerous 
listed buildings amongst the wider setting of the site. The site is also located in 
an area of archaeological interest, considered to be a non-designated heritage 
assets.
  

5.10 In context of these constraints, there are two main sub-issues to consider. 
These are the impact on the character and appearance of the CA, the impact 
on the setting of listed buildings and RPG and impact on the area of 

Page 37



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

archaeological interest. The impact on the special architectural or historic 
interest of the listed building itself, will be considered under sperate section. 

5.11 Impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area 
LPP1 policy CP37 requires that all new development is of a high-quality design 
and responds positively to the character of the area. The design should also 
conserve and enhances historic character and reinforce local identity.
Policy CP39 seeks to ensure new development conserves, and where possible 
enhances, designated heritage assets and non-designated heritage assets and 
their setting in accordance with national guidance and legislation. LPP2 policy 
DP36 then sets out the general approach in assessing the impact on heritage 
assets, broadly reflecting the policy guidance in the NPPF.

5.12 LPP2 Policy DP37 specifically address’s conservation areas. Proposals for 
development within or affecting the setting of a conservation area must 
demonstrate that it will conserve or enhance its special interest, character, 
setting and appearance. It also sets out several criteria for consideration. 
These include ensuring development takes into account important views, 
sympathetic to building curtilages, open spaces and respect local 
distinctiveness through its design. This policy sits alongside the duties set out 
in the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Section 72 
details that the Local Authority has a duty to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character of appearance of that 
area.

5.13 Turning to the National policy guidance set out in the NPPF, Paragraph 190 of 
the details that the LPA should identify and assess the particular significance of 
any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by 
development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the 
available evidence and any necessary expertise.

5.14 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF details that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. ‘Significance’ is 
defined in the NPPF as, ‘The value of a heritage asset to this and future 
generations because of its heritage interest. The interest may be 
archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives not only 
from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting’. 

5.15 Paragraph 194 details that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from 
development within its setting), should require clear and convincing 
justification.

5.16 Paragraph 196 requires where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

Page 38



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

5.17 Paragraph 197 notes that the effect of an application on the significance of a 
non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the 
application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-
designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having 
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 
asset.

5.18 Paragraph 200 details LPA’s should look for opportunities for new development 
within Conservation Areas and within the setting of heritage assets, to enhance 
or better reveal their significance.

5.19 Paragraph 201 details that not all elements of a Conservation Area or World 
Heritage Site will necessarily contribute to its significance. Loss of a building (or 
other element) which makes a positive contribution to the significance of the 
Conservation Area or World Heritage Site should be treated either as 
substantial harm under paragraph 195 or less than substantial harm under 
paragraph 196, as appropriate, taking into account the relative significance of 
the element affected and its contribution to the significance of the Conservation 
Area or World Heritage Site as a whole.

5.20 In this case, there is no formal CA appraisal for Albert Park. It is acknowledged 
that local parties, on behalf of the Town Council, are currently producing one. It 
is the Districts Council’s responsibility to review CA’s and produce appraisals 
where necessary and is subject to a formal process (review, public consultation 
etc). This can involve community collaboration and input, but at this time, it is 
understood this has not commenced. As such, limited weight is attached to this 
appraisal at this time. Notwithstanding, the draft document circulated on the 
internet highlights the importance of Albert Park, its formal layout, the areas 
general symmetrical plan form and Victorian architecture. The appraisal also 
seems to put the application site within the sub school-character area. 

5.21 The pre-application submission contained a supporting Conservation Appraisal, 
which sought to identify the important assets within they area, the area’s history 
and significance, but mainly focussed on the school site. It identified the school 
as a distinct ‘zone’ within the conservation area, with ‘sub-zones’ of varying 
significance. The appraisal identifies the application site has having a ‘high’ 
level of significance’ (area ‘4’ Figure 2 below). 

Figure 2. Conservation Appraisal 2019 - Asset Heritage Consulting

Page 39



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

5.22 The application is then supported by a specific Heritage Impact Assessment 
(HIA), which assesses the significance of the relevant assets. It notes the 
contribution the listed building (Austin House) makes to the significance of the 
CA and the CA’s character and appearance, as a substantial and sizeable 
building prominently located in the conservation area street scene. The 
elevations to Bath Street are mainly of stone, with a prominent two-storey 
roughcast canted bay, while the south (entrance) elevation is constructed of 
Georgian red brick and is visible over the roadside boundary wall. The 
appraisal highlights these as the most important elevations. It notes the impact 
from Bath Street between buildings (which is outside the CA) is not a ‘key’ or 
‘important’ view, but does note there would be obvious views of the building 
from within the school site/CA, from Waste Court Field (number 12 in figure 2.) 
The HIA sees these views as less impactful, as the west elevation has less 
historic interest.

5.23 In terms of the development proposed in the application, there is no doubt that 
it is a very large extension to the building. However, there is certainly merit in 
removing the existing attached two-storey wing. As noted by Historic England, 
the amended scheme has also certainly improved upon the original. Whilst the 
amendments may seem minor overall, your officers are of the view that the 
1.5m shift of the building south is a significant improvement in how the this part 
of the CA would be experience and perceived, particularly from the public 
realm outside the CA in Bath Street. This building shift will ensure that inter-
visibility and views from Bath Street and the trees within the CA are retained, 
ensuring the sense of space between buildings and spatial separation is 
preserved. The improved detailing on this eastern facing elevation will also 
ensure a high-quality design which, in your officers’ view, will be read as part of 
the wider school site (figure 3 below). Views of the building will only be 

Page 40



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

glimpsed from other public areas (such as the PRoW), thus will cause limited 
harm. As noted by Historic England, cumulatively, these amendments have 
reduced the level of adverse impact of the proposals on the significance of the 
CA. However as pointed out in the HIA, the scale of the scheme is undeniable. 
In your officer’s view, given the new building’s scale and presence, this will 
alter to some extent the pattern of development of this domestic character plot, 
within the CA. Therefore, you officers consider there will be ‘less than 
substantial harm’ to the significance of this designated asset. Whilst your 
officers are of the view the harm is “less than substantial” when viewed as a 
whole, and at the lower end of this category, it is clear that harm will be caused. 
As such, the designated asset will not be preserved or enhanced, contrary to 
policy DP37 and the NPPF advises that great weight must be given to this 
harm, even though it is considered ‘less than substantial’. The NPPF makes it 
clear this harm is required to be weighed in the planning balance, against any 
public benefits arising from the scheme. I will turn to this matter later.

Figure 3. Photomontage from bath street (applicant) 

5.24 The impact on the setting of listed buildings and RPG
In addition to the relevant policies already described, LPP2 policy DP38 notes 
specifically in relation to Listed Buildings, that proposals for additions or 
alterations to a Listed Building and for development within their setting, will 
need demonstrate that they will preserve or enhance its special architectural or 
historic interest and significance. Proposals directly affecting a Listed Building 
must demonstrate that they will be sympathetic to the Listed Building and its 
setting in terms of its siting, size, scale, height, alignment, materials and 
finishes design, form and character. This policy sits alongside the duties set out 
in the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Section 66 
details that the Local Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses.

Page 41



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

5.25 In this context, your officers consider the impact is isolated to the setting of 
Austin House and the listed Gate Piers and Wall. The RPG is some distance 
away and development will not be experienced from within or around this 
asset. It will not be readily seen. The same can be said in context of other listed 
buildings in the vicinity. Given the scheme’s location, largely screened from the 
public realm and some distance from other designated heritage assets, officers 
consider it is not going to materially impact on their significance. Their settings 
would be preserved.

5.26 The main issue in this context is the impact on the setting Austin House and 
the listed Wall and Gate Piers itself. In your officers’ view, the new extension 
has gone some way to reduce the impact. It is of a high-quality design, which 
will remove a poor-quality existing extension and is designed to sit separately 
from the building via a small glazed linked corridor. In this sense, it is largely 
separated from the original building. From Bath Street, Austin House, and the 
Wall and Gate Piers will appear dominant. Even though the scheme is a very 
large extension, a sense of separation of ‘old and new’ will be established. This 
will help one understand the asset, it’s history and evolution of the site over 
time. This is achieved by splitting the new building into three sections with 
‘steps’, which are expressed on the elevations as more open, glazed elements. 
By stepping the form and introducing pitched roofs and gables, the massing of 
the new building reflects the massing and form of Austin House, albeit on a 
larger scale. It is also worth noting that the highest ridge point of the new 
building (western wing) is slightly lower in height than the highest point of 
Austin House (northern wing roof lantern) and the remainder sitting lower and 
subservient to this. Notwithstanding this, it is apparent that from other vantage 
points within the school site the extension will fundamentally change how the 
building and its domestic character is experienced. It is appreciated the rear 
elevation has arguably less interest. Nonetheless, there will be a degree of 
harm to the significance of the listed building by developing within its setting at 
this scale. Again, this harm is considered to be ‘less than substantial’, at the 
lower end of this category. As above, a matter to be reviewed later in the 
planning balance. 

5.27 Impact on the area of archaeological interest
LPP2 policy DP39 notes that Development will be permitted where it can be 
shown that it would not be detrimental to the site or setting of Scheduled 
Monuments or nationally important designated or non-designated 
archaeological remains. Where the assessment indicates known 
archaeological remains on site, and development could disturb or adversely 
affect important archaeological remains and / or their setting, applicants will be 
expected to:

i. submit an appropriate archaeological desk-based assessment, or
ii. ii. undertake a field evaluation (conducted by a suitably qualified, 

archaeological organisation) where necessary

For non-designated archaeological remains, the effect of a development 
proposal on the significance of the remains, either directly or indirectly, will be 
taken into account in determining the application. As such assets are also 
irreplaceable, the presumption will be in favour of the avoidance of harm. 

Page 42



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

Where harm to or loss of significance to the asset is considered to be justified, 
the harm should be minimised and mitigated by a programme of archaeological 
investigation, including excavation, recording and analysis. Planning 
permission will not be granted until this programme has been submitted to, and 
approved by, the local planning authority, and development should not 
commence until these works have been satisfactorily undertaken by an 
appropriately qualified organisation. 

5.28 In this case, the application is supported by an archaeological evaluation. As 
noted by the County Council Archaeologist, this revealed a dense 
concentration of medieval features and post medieval quarry pits. These 
features included a mixture of pits and ditches. One of the former contained 
animal bones, and charred cereal remains indicating domestic activity. 
Although no earlier material was found there is still likelihood that there was 
activity here during the Roman period and the presence of burials of that date 
could also be present. Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude that groundworks 
may result in disturbing artefacts. Therefore, in line with policy DP39, the 
applicant should be responsible for implementing a staged programme of 
archaeological work. This can be secured by condition. 

5.29 Residential amenity
5.30 LPP2 policy DP23 seeks to protect neighbouring resident’s amenity from 

adverse impact of new development in context of loss of privacy/daylight, visual 
intrusion, noise, vibration and external lighting (amongst others). LPP2 policy 
DP24 seeks for proposals to be appropriate to their location and should be 
designed to ensure that the occupiers of new development will not be subject 
to adverse effects from existing or neighbouring uses.

5.31 In this case the school, including the application site, is an established 
residential institution and there will be no material increase in the number of 
boarders. The scheme will simply consolidate the boarding accommodation 
across the site. Directly neighbouring buildings are in the school’s use, with 
private neighbouring dwellings on the other side of Bath Street, set back far 
from the frontage behind a stone wall and trees. Therefore, it is not expected 
the development will have any adverse neighbour impact. Elements that may 
cause noise (such as air source heat pumps) are located within the school site, 
behind landscaping, close to the northern elevation. However, given the scale 
of scheme, there will likely be some noise and disturbance during construction, 
but conditions can secure a Construction and Traffic Management Plan to 
mitigate the impact. The scheme would comply with policy DP23.  

5.32 In terms of impact on future students, the Urban Design Officer’s comments 
regarding sunlight being affected are noted. Invariably, there will parts of the 
existing building and central courtyard spaces which will attract less sunlight, 
due to the positioning of the new extension. However, the spaces it will affect 
are not student living areas (such as bedrooms), but the House Master’s Office 
and Master’s Accommodation. These need to be positioned where proposed so 
staff can monitor the children and comply with school accommodation 
regulations. The garden is also south facing, thus by lunchtime, these areas will 
generally be exposed to sunlight. The scheme is not harmful in this context. In 

Page 43



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

terms of the outdoor space for the students, the scheme will retain communal 
outdoor areas, as well as being adjacent to the other outdoor school facilities 
(Waste Court Field). There will be no adverse by on the students by 
neighbouring uses, complying with policy DP24.

5.33 Traffic, parking and highway safety
5.34 LPP1 policies CP33 and CP35 expect the council to work with Oxfordshire 

County Council to ensure new development links well to facilities and services 
and supports sustainable transport methods. This is reinforced in LPP1 policy 
CP37 which in requiring good design, seeks sites to be well connected to 
provide safe and convenient ease of movement by all users. LPP2 policy DP16 
requires development to demonstrate adequate provision will be made for 
loading, unloading, circulation, servicing and vehicle turning on a site.

5.35 In this context, again, given there is not a material increase in students or staff, 
there will be a very limited impact on the highway network, safety or parking. 
The site is also clearly in a sustainable location. The existing access is 
retained, proving vehicular access in an emergency, but overall, no further 
parking or access is required. The Local Highways Authority (OCC) are content 
with the scheme, subject to securing a CTMP by condition. As such, the 
subject to this, the development would accord with policies CP33, CP35, CP37 
and DP16 in this context. 

5.36 Environmental matters
5.37 There are few key environmental matters, which require consideration in the 

sub sections below. These pertain to the impact on biodiversity and potential 
protected species; trees; the drainage system and building sustainability;

5.38 Biodiversity and potential protected species
LPP1 policy CP46 sets out how the council will approach important areas 
which contribute to the districts natural environment, biodiversity, habitats and 
species. Development that will conserve, restore and enhance biodiversity in 
the district will be permitted and opportunities for a net gain in biodiversity will 
be sought. Harm to habitats and species will require mitigation. In this case, the 
application is supported by an Ecological Appraisal and biodiversity 
calculations. The former has concluded in a Phase 1 habitat survey that only 
amenity habitats of low ecological importance are identified on the site. There 
will be some loss of this habitat, but with additional planting, the biodiversity 
calculations show a net biodiversity gain. The buildings are not expected to be 
habitats for bats, although there is potential for bats and birds in the wider 
environment. Mitigation (bat/bird boxes) is proposed in the appraisal, which can 
be secured by condition. The council’s Countryside Officer has not raised an 
objection. The development accords with policy CP46.

5.39 Trees
LPP1 policy CP44 details that key features in the landscape will be protected, 
such as trees, hedgerows, woodland, field boundaries, watercourses and water 
bodies. The site has numerous trees in and around the site. Some are of a low 
quality and proposed to be removed to facilitate the development and some 
which contribute positively to the character of the area are of a high quality 

Page 44



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

(such as T6 to the north and trees around the southern perimeter) which are to 
be retained. In any event, all trees are protected due to their location in the 
Conservation Area. The application has been accompanied by a variety of 
assessments, tree protection plans and services plans, which have been 
submitted to respond to initial concerns from the council’s Forestry Officer. 
Your officers are now satisfied that the development can be brought forward 
without damaging important trees on the site to be retained, but some further 
information is required, particularly on where electrical cabling is proposed to 
connect to and existing substation to the east of the site. Subject to conditions 
to secure the detail in the final Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) and tree 
protection, the development is acceptable.

5.40 Drainage 
LPP1 policy requires that all development provides a drainage strategy, which 
includes sustainable drainage systems. In this case, the scheme is supported 
by a drainage report which demonstrates feasibility of suitable foul and surface 
water drainage facilities. The scheme and connective works around the site’s 
constraints and trees, avoid root protection areas. The council’s Drainage 
Engineer is content with the scheme. Subject to conditions to secure its 
implementation, the scheme is acceptable in this context.

5.41 Building sustainability 
LPP1 policy CP40 encourages developers to incorporate climate change 
adaption measures to combat the effects of changing weather patterns. The 
application in this case is supported by a sustainability statement, which 
highlights numerous measures (air source heat pumps, building fabric, air 
tightness), which will mean the scheme will result in a significant improvement 
above building regulation baselines, to reduce carbon emissions. This is a 
positive benefit of the scheme, raising design standards and development 
accords with the mentioned policy. 

5.42 Impact on the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building

5.43 This matter pertains specifically to consideration of the works which require 
listed building consent and the direct impact on the listed building and its 
historic fabric, in order to facilitate this project. As mentioned, the works to the 
actual building are limited, as the extension for the most part stands alone, 
connected only by a first-floor single walkway and canopy at ground level. Even 
these connections are proposed to be structurally independent for the existing 
Austin House facade. Numerous minor internal alterations are required to 
improve the accommodation in the listed building and functioning of rooms but 
are largely limited to additional wash facilities or removal of more modern 
patriation walls/new doorways/openings. There is some lack of detail regarding 
the linked walkway and its connection to the old building/interaction with 
building fabric, but this can be secured by condition. Neither Historic England 
or the Conservation Officer have raised concerns about the works to the listed 
building itself. 

5.44 Overall, given the scheme removes poor quality existing extensions and leaves 
the listed building largely unaltered, there will be no harm to it or special 

Page 45



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

interest directly. As already highlighted, the harm to its significance is derived 
from the new building within its setting and its connection to it, not from the 
works to the building itself in isolation. The development therefore accords with 
LPP1 policy CP39 and LPP2 policy DP38 in this context. It also complies with 
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990 
which require, when  considering whether to grant listed building consent for 
any works, the LPA shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving 
the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. The actual works to listed building as described in 
the application would achieve these requirements, subject to final details of the 
linked openings. 

5.45 Other Matters 
5.46 Water infrastructure 

Thames Water has confirmed that the water and foul drainage infrastructure 
has capacity to support the scheme. However, they have noted that the 
proposed development will be in proximity to the strategic sewer, where piled 
foundations could cause an impact.  They have therefore required should piling 
be used, a method statement is first agreed. This is reasonable in the 
circumstance, given damage to the strategic sewer network could cause wider 
environmental or pollutive impacts on future occupiers and neighbours, or 
potential flood risk issues. Such a condition would ensure the scheme accords 
with LPP1 policy CP42 and LPP2 policy DP24 and DP23. 

Waste
The scheme will not materially change how the school deals and processes 
with its waste, as there will be no material increase in pupils. 

Pre-commencement conditions 
Where applicable, pre-comment conditions have been agreed with the 
applicant.

6.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION
6.1 Planning Permission (P19V3211/FUL)

It is evident from analysis of the proposed scheme, there are several issues to 
consider in the planning balance. As detailed, planning law requires that 
applications for planning permission are to be determined in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.2 It is evident that there are several benefits to this scheme. The school is a large 
established community facility and well located in the Town. Such facilities are 
encouraged to expand to accommodate future schooling needs and provide 
choice for the local community and beyond. Indeed, the NPPF notes that ‘great 
weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools’ should be applied to 
decisions. The proposed building is of a high quality and sustainable design, 
which has explored the constraints of the site and the most viable locations that 
could feasibility accommodate expansion of this nature. Throughout the 
application, the design has evolved to significantly improve the layout to limit the 
harm to the heritage assets as much as possible, whilst balancing the 
commercial and functionality needs of the school. Your officers are of the view 

Page 46



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

that supporting the enhancement of this community facility in principle and the 
quality and care in the design of the new building attracts some weight; the latter 
raising design and sustainability standards for development in the district.   

6.3 Notwithstanding these benefits, in your officers’ view, the development, by virtue 
of its scale, will cause a degree of harm to the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area and the setting of Austin House (Waste Court)/Waste Court 
Gate piers and Wall. As such, the development will have an adverse impact on 
the significance of these designated assets, which is largely derived from this 
relatively well preserved large Victorian domestic building, in a formal plot, 
amongst a wider spacious but formulaically planned Victorian area of 
architecture. Spatially, given the size of the extension, it will erode the spacious 
setting and domestic character of the listed buildings setting with, in turn, an 
impact on the character and appearance of the CA. Given the contribution the 
site and building make to the area’s significance, this will result in some harm 
overall. Whilst in your officers’ view this harm is ‘less than substantial’ in context 
of the NPPF, the starting point is that, alongside the statutory duty to pay special 
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character of 
appearance of a Conservation Area and the desirability of preserving the 
buildings setting and historic interest, great weight must be given to these 
assets’ conservation. Therefore, the development is contrary to development 
plan policies CP39, DP36, DP37 and DP38. However, the PPG does note that, 
‘within each category of harm (which category applies should be explicitly 
identified), the extent of the harm may vary and should be clearly articulated’ 
(Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 18a-018-20190723). In this context, as 
discussed at paragraphs 5.23 and 5.26 above, the careful design of the scheme 
has gone some way to ensure the impact is not significant and the level of harm 
within this category would be at the lower end of the scale. 

6.4 In identifying the harm as ‘less than substantial’ to the significance of the 
designated heritage assets, it is necessary that this identified harm is weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal. As described in the PPG (Paragraph: 
020 Reference ID: 18a-020-20190723), this could be anything that delivers 
economic, social or environmental objectives. In this case, your officers are of 
the view that the great weight attached to the harm to the designated heritage 
assets on one hand, needs to balance against the great weight also attached to 
the need to the expand and alter this school on the other. 

6.5 The school, a community facility, clearly has wider social benefits and to 
consolidate and modernise its boarding accommodation demonstrates a 
reasonable plan to future proof this facility. This is likely more critical than ever, 
given the pandemic and the impact on how schools have had to operate. Whilst 
the future of this issue is uncertain, it seems reasonable to assume that to 
operate safely and efficiently and attract students to stay in these schools in the 
short and medium terms, schools like this will likely require more space and 
higher standards of accommodation. Therefore, in the round, securing this 
community facilities medium to long term viability by developing in the manner 
proposed, is a clear public benefit. In this context, it is also evident from the 
sites masterplan and constraints there is limited capacity to do this, thus the site 
proposed (in addition the application at Crescent House) seemingly make the 

Page 47



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

most appropriate choice. There is limited scope elsewhere around the school 
site, due to likely loss of open space and playing fields. 

6.6 The applicant has also put forward other beneficial aspects which would flow 
from the development, which they consider public benefits. The school 
estimates, based on a ‘calculator’ by Oxford Economics and the Independent 
Schools Council, that directly and indirectly the school supports over 650 jobs 
locally; contributes over £23m of GDP to the local economy (0.35% of the area’s 
total); and saves the UK taxpayer over £7m a year by reducing the number of 
pupils in state education. 

6.7 The school also has many established local community partnerships, where 
students and staff build relationships with a wide variety of other local schools, 
charities, leisure and arts facilities in and around the town, all contributing to 
social cohesion. This has resulted in contribution to Air Quality Monitoring 
projects, for example. The latter has received the recognition of professional 
scientists, who are considering the potential for engaging schools in further 
research nationally and internationally. The school also shares its leisure 
facilities with the local community, such as the sport centre, theatre, swimming 
pool etc.  In your officer’s view, securing the future viability of the school’s 
income, by attracting students via the higher quality accommodation, contributes 
significantly to sustaining and increasing these wider public benefits.

6.8 Having regard to all these identified public benefits, the development will 
ultimately secure more modern accommodation for students, and the enhanced 
functionality and management of the schools boarding accommodation. It will 
provide a high quality and environmentally aware building, of a high-quality 
design, which some weight is attached. From these benefits, this will aid in 
future proofing the school and attract students securing its long term economic 
commercial viability. In turn, this will ensure that significant public benefits from 
the school are enhanced and continue to flow from the site. Whilst your officers 
give great weight to the conservation of the identified heritage assets, it is 
considered that the combination of the public benefits of the proposal and the 
great weight attached to expanding and altering the school as a valued 
community and educational facility outweigh the identified ‘less than substantial 
harm’ to the designated heritage assets. 

6.9 It is also acknowledged there is some conflict with the development plan’s 
heritage policies. Overall, however, your officers are of the view that the 
principle of development of the school would accord with the development plan 
when taken as a whole and the public benefits and other material considerations 
identified outweigh the heritage harm identified. Therefore, it is recommended 
that the application is approved, subject to the conditions noted at the start of 
this report.

6.10 Listed Building Consent (P19V3212/LB)
As described in paragraphs 5.43 and 5.44 above, the works to the listed building 
in isolation are not significant. The removal of the existing extension would be 
beneficial, and the internal/external works required to facilitate the rest of the 
project will not harm the historic significance of the building, it’s setting and 

Page 48



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

preserve features of special architectural or historic interest. Therefore, the 
works accord with the development plan and relevant legislation and it is 
recommended Listed Building Consent is approved. The identified harm in 
heritage terms is attributed to those elements for the scheme which require 
planning permission, not necessarily Listed Building Consent i.e. the new 
external development of the extension. 

7.0 The following development plan planning policies have been 
taken into account:

7.1 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 policies (LPP1);
CP01  -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CP03  -  Settlement Hierarchy
CP08  -  Spatial Strategy for Abingdon-on-Thames and Oxford Fringe Sub-Area
CP33  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility
CP35  -  Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness
CP39  -  The Historic Environment
CP40  -  Sustainable Design and Construction
CP42  -  Flood Risk
CP43  -  Natural Resources
CP44  -  Landscape
CP45  -  Green Infrastructure
CP46  -  Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity
CP47  -  Delivery and Contingency

7.2 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 policies (LPP2);
CP08A  -  Additional Site Allocations for Abingdon-on-Thames and Oxford 
Fringe Sub-Area
CP47A  -  Delivery and Contingency
DP08  -  Community Services and Facilities
DP21  -  External Lighting
DP23  -  Impact of Development on Amenity
DP24  -  Effect of Neighbouring or Previous Uses on New Developments
DP25  -  Noise Pollution
DP26  -  Air Quality
DP28  -  Waste Collection and Recycling
DP31  -  Protection of Public Rights of Way, National Trails and Open Access 
Areas
DP36  -  Heritage Assets
DP37  -  Conservation Areas
DP38  -  Listed Buildings
DP39  -  Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments

7.3 Neighbourhood Plan (NP)
It is understood that the Town Council has started the process of creating NP, 
but it is at a very early stage. The formal process as not yet started (i.e. Stage 1 
– designation of the plan area), as such, carries no eight at this time. 

Page 49



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

7.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/documents
Vale of White Horse Design Guide 2015 (VoWHDG)

7.5 Other relevant guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF)

Historic England guidance notes 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)
- Historic Environment 

7.6 The following legislation and case law has been taken into account;
 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (amended)
 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
 Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)
 (England) Order 2015 (amended)
 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990
 Community & Infrastructure Levy Legislation
 Human Rights Act 1998
 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010
 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998
 Barnwell Manor Wind Farm Limited v East Northamptonshire District 

Council and Others [2014] EWCA Civ 137
 R (on the application of Forge Field Society) v Sevenoaks District Council 

[2014] EWHC 1895 (Admin)

Case Officer: Luke Veillet – Senior Planning Officer 
Email: planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
Tel: 01235 422600

Page 50



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

MASTER PLAN 2019
ABINGDON SCHOOL

30-April-2019

Appendix 1

P
age 51



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Contents
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 02 - 30-April-2019

CONTENTS

Introduction.................................................................................................3
Master Plan 2011.......................................................................................4
Conservation  Plan........................................................................................5
Planning Statement....................................................................................6
Existing Site Plan / Analysis........................................................................8
Strategic  Diagram............... ........................................................................9
Projects.......................................................................................................10
Master Plan 2019  /  Conclusion.................................................................17

P
age 52



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Introduction
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 03 - 30-April-2019

4

1

3

2

6

5

7

8

10

11
12

13

14

15 16

17

18

19

20
Park Lodge / School Reception
Administration
Design Technology
Admissions
Mercers’ Court
Beech Court
Amey Theatre
Jekyll Garden
Cafe
Greening Court
Chapel / Charles Maude Room (CMR)
Big School
Lower School
School House
Avernus
Dining Hall
Austin House
Activities Centre
Sports Centre
Crescent House
Learning Support / EFL
Health Centre / Whitefield
Yang Science Centre
Faringdon Lodge

4

1

3
2

6
5

7
8

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

9

9

22
23
24

21
22

23 24

War Memorial
Field

Waste Court
Field

Upper Field

Sports
Centre

Park Lodge
Reception

OX14 1DE

Faringdon Lodge
Reception OX14 1BQ

Lower Field

Exit 
Only

Visitor
Parking

Tilsley Park
Sports Facilities
5 minutes by car -

OX14 1PU

15 minutes by car

Abingdon Prep School OX13 5NX
and Cox’s Field OX13 6QL

Tennis
Courts

Coach
Park

Roysse’s
Alley

BA
TH

 S
TR

EE
T

WOOTT
ON RD

FARINGDON ROAD

CONDUIT ROAD

PARK ROAD

PARK CRESCENT

PARK

CRESCENT

Introduction

In 2011 MEB Design, Chartered Architects, completed a Master 
Plan for Abingdon School, in conjunction with Kemp & Kemp 
(now Carter Jonas), Planning Consultants. Kemp & Kemp also 
produced a Planning Statement and Asset Heritage Consulting 
were commissioned to produce a Conservation Appraisal of the 
school site, within the context of the Albert Park Conservation 
Area. These documents became the basis for the building 
developments that took place on the site between 2011 and 
2019.

In January 2019 MEB Design was again appointed to update 
the school’s Master Plan, and this report has been produced 
in conjunction with Carter Jonas, Planning Consultants. Asset 
Heritage Consulting have provided an updated Conservation 
Appraisal, the conclusion of which is included on the following 
pages.

Scope
The scope and range of this study has been kept deliberately 
narrow, short and focused on the main School site. Abingdon 
Prep School, Tilsley Park and the Boathouse are excluded 
from this study. The projects outlined are all needed and are 
all under real consideration by the school. Potentially they 
could be completed in a relatively short timescale. To simplify 
the scope of the report, the new Faringdon Lodge building, 
which already has Planning Approval, has been included as 
a “completed” project. Although on the Site Plan Analysis, 
sixteen possible sites and buildings have been identified for 
development, only seven projects are considered in detail 
within this study. Indicative timing for these projects is 
considered briefly at the end of this report.

School Site Plan

P
age 53



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Existing Master Plan 2011
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 04 - 30-April-2019

Master Plan 2011

List of Completed Projects:

2015: Yang Science Centre (Planning Ref: P12/V2373/FUL)

2017: MUSA (Planning Ref: P16/V0741/FUL )

2017: MUSA Pavilion (Planning Ref: P17/V0945/FUL)

2017: Cricket Training Facility (Planning Ref: P17/V0071/FUL)

2018: Beech Court & Bath Street Access (Planning Ref:P16/
V2529/FUL & P16/V1801/FUL)

2019: Faringdon Lodge (Planning Ref: P18/V2481/FUL)*

*To be built

Illustration of Faringdon Lodge.

View of Yang Science Centre.

View of Beech Court.

2011 Master PlanAerial View of School

P
age 54



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Conservation Plan
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 05 - 30-April-2019

Conservation Plan
Following various developments at the school since the 2011 Master Plan, Asset 
Heritage carried out an update to their Conservation Appraisal (see extract of the 
summary below). Further to this MEB Design has updated the Conservation Area 
Zones drawing to reflect the revised boundaries (see opposite).

Conservation Appraisal Summary and Conclusion
(extract from Asset Heritage Conservation Appraisal) 

The grounds of Abingdon School form a valuable part of the character and 
appearance of the Albert Park Conservation Area, to which where they are visible 
(or at least perceptible) from the public realm, they make a generally positive 
contribution.

Following the descriptive overview and assessment of the school site and 
surrounding area in Section 2.0 of this report, Section 3.0 makes the case that 
any published Character Appraisal of the conservation area would be correct in 
identifying the school site as a distinct ‘character zone’, which notwithstanding its 
relationship with the surrounding area, nevertheless has a special and distinctive 
quality of its own.

This accords with current Historic England policy and guidance on describing and 
analyzing the character and appearance of conservation areas and assessing their 
significance in heritage terms, resulting in an approach where each character zone 
can be broken down into a series of sub-zones, each of which has its own distinct 
quality and appearance and is also likely to vary in terms of individual and relative 
heritage significance.

In this regard it is certainly worth noting that, while it does not apply to all parts of 
the school site, some of the individual sub-zones are discrete from others, either 
blocks of building or planting (or a combination of the two) effectively screening 
one sub-zone from another.

This means that in some areas what happens on one part of the school site 
(including built development) would have little or no impact on another and should 
therefore be seen and understood in that context.

Thus, while the importance of the school site as a whole is beyond dispute, it is 
equally clear that some parts of the site have more ‘heritage significance’ than 
others and will consequently have less ‘capacity for change’ than those areas 
identified as being of lower heritage value.

Finally, and as noted in the Introduction, it is worth emphasizing that the approach 
taken in this report is consistent with the advice at paragraph 200 of the NPPF that 
‘Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development 
within Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of 
heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that 
preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive contribution to the 
asset (or which better reveal its significance) should be treated favourably’, as well 
as the advice in the following 201 that ‘Not all elements of a Conservation Areas or 
World Heritage Site will necessarily contribute to its significance’.

It is in this context that the new masterplan proposals are being developed.

SMP

58.30
FH

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58.30
FH

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

LP

VPVP

AMEY 
THEATRE

LACIES 
COURT

GREENING COURT

BIG SCHOOL

ADMIN HUB

RECEPTION

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SPORTS CENTRE

SCIENCE CENTRE

BEECH COURT

KITCHEN /
DINING

FARINGDON 
LODGE

CAR
PARK

MERCERS' COURT

WAR 
MEMORIAL 
PAVILION

MAINTENANCE 
AREA

CAFE

WHITEFIELD 
HEALTH 
CENTRE

AUSTIN 
HOUSE

(GII)

BATH STREET

PARK ROAD

PARK CRESEN
T

PARK CRESEN
T

FARINGDON LANE 

ROYSSE'S LANE

DESIGN TECHNOLOGY

CRESCENT
HOUSE

LEARNING 
SUPPORT

SCHOOL HOUSE

8

2

9

3

15

11

No. 1
Bostock 

Road

GLYNDOWR

COBBAN 
HOUSE

4
5

6

7

1

12

13

14

16RUDDS'S 
COTTAGE

HEYLINS

COACH 
HOUSE17

10

HIGH CONSERVATION IMPORTANCE

NEUTRAL CONSERVATION IMPORTANCE

1. Big School
2. Park Lodge & Park Road Properties
3. Lacies Court
4. Austin Court (Originally called Waste Court)
5. Albert Park Villa's
12. Waste Court Field
13. Upper Field
14. Lower Field

6. Amey Theatre & Mercers' Court
7. Sports Centre
15. MUSA
17. Outbuildings

LOW CONSERVATION IMPORTANCE
8. Greening Court & Beech Court
9. Science Centre & Coach Park
10. Faringdon Lodge 
16. Rudd's Cottage

SCHOOL LAND OUTSIDE CONSERVATION AREA
11. War Memorial Playing Field

2019 Conservation Area Zones

P
age 55



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Planning Statement
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 06 - 30-April-2019

Planning Statement
By Carter Jonas

Planning Policy Context

Since the publication of the Abingdon School Masterplan in October 2011, there have been various 
changes to the planning policy framework relevant to consideration of development proposals 
on the various sites under the ownership and control of the School. Key among these changes is 
the adoption, in December 2016, of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1; and thereafter 
in July 2012 with updates in July 2018 and more recently in February 2019 the publication of the 
Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF”). 

In addition, the Vale of White District Council (“the Council”) has produced a new draft Local Plan 
Part 2031 Part 2 (“the emerging Local Plan”) which, once it has been adopted, will replace the 
current Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011. 

The National Planning Policy Framework

The revised National Planning Practice Framework was published in February 2019 and sets out 
the Government’s planning policies for England. The NPPF at paragraph 7 states that the purpose 
of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. Paragraph 
8 states that there are three overarching aims to sustainable development: economic, social 
and environmental, which give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of 
objectives: 

• An economic objective – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy;
• A social objective – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of the present and future generations; and 
• An environmental objective – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built 
and historic environment.

Paragraph 8 makes it clear that those roles should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are 
mutually dependant.

The NPPF also highlights the importance of good design with paragraph 124 stating that: “Good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work 
and helps make development acceptable to communities.”

Section 16 in the NPPF is concerned with conserving and enhancing the historic environment and 
under that heading, paragraph 185 sets out that plans should set out a positive strategy for the 
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment. Paragraph 189 requires that applications 
should describe the significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal, including 
any contribution made by their setting. Paragraph 190 stipulates that the particular significance 
of any heritage asset may be affected by a proposal should be identified and should be taken into 
account when considering the impact of a proposal. Paragraph 193 goes on to state: 

“When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important 
the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.”

National Planning Practice Guidance

The NPPG is a web based resource providing information on various topic areas. Over 150 
documents have been cancelled by the publication of the NPPG including Technical Guidance 
and Circulars as it provides extensive guidance on a wide range of technical issues such as water 
quality, air quality, noise and technology.

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011
The Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 (“the adopted Local Plan”) was adopted in 2006. Some of 
its policies are now out of date; others have been ‘saved’ and remain part of the development plan . 

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031: Part 1
The Local Plan 2031 Part 1: Strategic Sites and Policies was adopted in full in December 2016.  The 
Local Plan sets out a vision for how the Vale should develop and grow including where new houses 
should be built, where new jobs should be placed, and what infrastructure will be needed to 
support them. 

The Local Plan has identified housing requirement across the district for at least 20,560, 12,495 
of which, have been allocated within the Local Plan Part 1. The allocated distribution of dwellings 
across the district is demonstrated below: 

• Abingdon-on-Thames and Oxford Fringe Sub-Area: 1,790 dwellings

• South East Vale Sub-Area: 9,055 dwellings

• Western Vale Sub-Area: 1,650 dwellings

Vale of White Horse Local Plan Part 2: Detailed Policies and Additional Sites

The Local Plan Part 2 complements the Local Plan Part 1 and sets out policies and locations for 
housing in the district. The Vale of White Horse District Council submitted the Local Plan 2031 Part 
2: Detailed Policies and Additional Sites to the Secretary of State on Friday 23 February 2018 for 
independent examination.

Whilst its policies at the current time have limited weight, this weight will increase as the Plan 
progresses towards adoption.

Vale of White Horse Design Guide SPD

The Vale of White Horse adopted a new Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document in 2015. 
The new Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out principles and guidance 
applying to all sizes and types of development to ensure that schemes will be designed to a high 
quality. It is a material consideration in the determination of planning applications and appeals. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (“CIL”)

The Vale of White Horse District Council is a Charging Authority for the purposes of Part 11 of the 
Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and may therefore charge the CIL in respect of development in its 
administrative area. 

P
age 56



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Abingdon School

In the period since 2011 when the School adopted its current masterplan, a number of planning 
permissions have been secured; most notably, the Yang Science Centre, the Sixth Form Centre of a 
three-storey education building (Beech Court) and Faringdon Lodge. 

The School site falls within a Conservation Area and is adjacent to Albert Park, which is a Registered 
Park and Garden. Accordingly, the most relevant Local Plan Policies include Core Policies 39 and 40 
as well as ‘saved’ Local Plan Policies are historic environment Policies HE1 and HE8.

Core Policy 39 seeks to ensure that new development conserves and where possible, enhances, 
heritage assets and their setting and to encourage a better understanding of the significance of 
scheduled monuments and Conservation Areas.

Core Policy 40 states that all new development, including building conversions, refurbishments and 
extensions, should seek to incorporate climate change adaptation and design measures.

‘Saved’ Policy HE1 states that development affecting a Conservation Area must be shown to 
preserve or enhance the established character or appearance of the area.

‘Saved’ Policy HE8 states that proposals for development within or in the setting of an historic park 
or garden will only be permitted where they conserve and cause no significant harm to the historic 
character of the site, and the features of special interest it possesses.

Waste Court is a Grade II Listed Building (called Austin House by the School) and therefore, 
development proposals must have regard to its setting. Listed Building consent will also be 
required for developments directly affecting Waste Court.

Currently, there are no planning restrictions (by way for example of a s106 Planning Obligation) on 
pupil numbers at the School. 

Permitted Development

There are certain works that can be carried out without an express grant of planning permission. 
These are detailed in the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015, which came into force on 15th April 2015. Class M, Schedule 2, Part 7 of the Order 
relates inter alia to education premises and permits:

“The erection, extension or alteration of a school, college, university or hospital building”.
Development is not permitted by Class M - 
(a) if the cumulative gross floor space of any buildings erected, extended or altered would 
exceed—

(i) 25% of the gross floor space of the original school, college, university or hospital buildings; 
or
(ii) 100 square metres, whichever is the lesser;

(b) if any part of the development would be within 5 metres of a boundary of the curtilage of the 
premises;
(c) if, as a result of the development, any land used as a playing field at any time in the 5 years 
before the development commenced and remaining in this use could no longer be so used;
(d) if the height of any new building erected would exceed 5 metres;
(e) if the height of the building as extended or altered would exceed - 

(i) if within 10 metres of a boundary of the curtilage of the premises, 5 metres; or
(ii) in all other cases, the height of the building being extended or altered;

(f) if the development would be within the curtilage of a listed building; or
(g) unless -

(i) in the case of school, college or university buildings, the predominant use of the existing 
buildings on the premises is for the provision of education;
(ii) in the case of hospital buildings, the predominant use of the existing buildings on the 
premises is for the provision of any medical or health services.

It is also relevant to point out that internal works to unlisted buildings do not require planning 
permission.

Conclusion

Section 38(6) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and section 70(2) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require that applications and appeals are determined in accordance 
with the Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this instance, 
the Development Plan comprises the Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Sites and Properties and ‘saved’ 
policies in the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011. The emerging Local Plan 2031 Part 2 will 
become part of the Development Plan at the point at which it is adopted. For the time being 
therefore, Development Plan proposals on any of the sites under the ownership or control of the 
School will be determined in accordance with policies in the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 and Local Plan 
2011 ‘saved’ policies unless it is clear that those policies are out of date and have been superseded 
by, for example, the NPPF, which is a material consideration for the purposes of the afore-
mentioned Acts.  

Planning Statement
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 07 - 30-April-2019

P
age 57



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

SMP

58.30
FH

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58.30
FH

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

LP

VPVP

AMEY 
THEATRE

LACIES 
COURT

GREENING COURT

BIG SCHOOL

ADMIN HUB

RECEPTION

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SPORTS CENTRE

SCIENCE CENTRE

BEECH COURT

KITCHEN /
DINING

FARINGDON 
LODGE

CAR
PARK

MERCERS' COURT

WAR 
MEMORIAL 
PAVILION

MAINTENANCE 
AREA

CAFE

WHITEFIELD 
HEALTH 
CENTRE

AUSTIN 
HOUSE

(GII)

BATH STREET

PARK ROAD

North

VISUAL SCALE 1:2500  @ A3

250m50m 200m150m100m0m

PARK CRESEN
T

PARK CRESEN
T

FARINGDON LANE 

ROYSSE'S LANE

DESIGN TECHNOLOGY

CRESCENT
HOUSE

LEARNING 
SUPPORT

SCHOOL HOUSE

10
8

2

9

3

15

11

No. 1
Bostock 

Road

GLYNDOWR

COBBAN 
HOUSE

4
5

6
7

1

12

13

14

16

RUDDS'S 
COTTAGE

HEYLINS

COACH 
HOUSE

17 18 19

POSSIBLE DEVELOPMENT SITES

POSSIBLE REFURBISHMENT SITES

1. War Memorial Playing Field

2. War Memorial Pavilion

3. Rear of Whitefields

4. Rear of Glyndowr

5. Tennis Courts

6. Rear of Cobban House

7. Rear of Cresent House

8. Sports Centre

9. Corner of Waste Court Field

10. Austin House (Originally called Waste Court)

11. Lacies Court Garden

12. Mercers' Court

13. Lower Field

14. Existing Dining Hall

15. Existing Design and Technology 

16. Existing Shooting Range

17. Whitefields

18. Glyndowr

19. Cobban House

Possible / internal modifications 
to existing buildings (e.g. 
reconfiguration of Health Centre 
currently located in Whitefields).

Existing Site Plan / Analysis
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 08 - 30-April-2019

Existing Site Plan / Analysis

P
age 58



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Strategic Diagram
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 09 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

LP

VPVP

Sports

Science

Boarding Boarding

Teaching Core

Arts

Boarding

Dining

Strategy

In establishing the Master Plan concept for the school site 
in 2011 a “linked node” or “spider” diagram was developed, 
whereby different school uses were zoned and positioned 
/ linked appropriately. As the school and the strategy have 
developed some of the zones and uses have been adjusted 
and the “shape” of the school has changed. Therefore, for this 
version of the Master Plan the school is considered as arranged 
around two broad sweeping “arcs” whereby a site entrance is 
established at either end and school uses are positioned off 
each arc. Each arc represents a route through the school and 
important academic and pastoral uses are still zoned along 
each arc, with a central “teaching core” in the middle.

P
age 59



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Boarding House, Crescent House
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 10 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

LP

VPVP

LP

VPVP

SCIENCE CENTRE
FARINGDON 

LODGE

CRESCENT
HOUSE

GLYNDOWR

COBBAN 
HOUSE

Planning & Conservation Statement

The development of boarding accommodation to the rear of Crescent House will 
need to be cognisant of the Conservation Area in which it sits. The gaps between 
the houses are viewed as part of the character of the Conservation Area and 
thus need to be maintained. The views from Park Crescent are crucial in the 
consideration of development to the rear. The Yang Science Centre is located to 
the rear which is a building of greater scale than Crescent House and as such the 
scale of new buildings in this space need to reflect the scale of the surroundings.

View of rear garden of Crescent House looking towards Science Centre.

View of Crescent House from Park Crescent.

View to the rear garden of Crescent House.

Description

• Upgrade and modernise the boarding accommodation for pupils.

• Improve facilities for dayboys in these combined day/boarding houses

• Ensure boarding provision is ‘fit for future’.

• Approximately 1200sqm of new build required.

Projects: Boarding House, Crescent House

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 60



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Boarding House, Austin House
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 11 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

GREENING COURT

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SPORTS CENTRE

BEECH COURT

AUSTIN 
HOUSE

(GII)

ROYSSE'S LANE

Planning & Conservation Statement

Austin House is a Grade II listed building and as such any neighbouring 
development would need to ensure that the setting of the building is not adversely 
affected. There are a number of unsympathetic extensions to the building which 
could be considered for removal / redevelopment. The site is also within the 
Conservation Area and such the character of the Conservation Area needs to be 
given due consideration when designing any development. It is expected that any 
development would be similar in scale and height to the existing Austin House. 

View of existing gap between Austin House and the Coach House.

View of Austin House extension and the Coach House.

View of existing Austin House extension.

Description

• Upgrade and modernise the boarding accommodation for pupils.

• Improve facilities for dayboys in these combined day/boarding houses

• Ensure boarding provision is ‘fit for future’.

• Approximately 1000sqm of new build required.

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

Projects: Boarding House, Austin House (formerly called Waste Court)

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 61



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Sports Centre
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 12 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

GREENING COURT

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SPORTS CENTRE

BEECH COURT

AUSTIN 
HOUSE

(GII)

ROYSSE'S LANE

Description

• Extend the existing Sports Centre to provide additional internal space for core 
sports and ‘Other Half’ activities.

• Reflects changing dynamics away from collision sports.

• Creation of 4 badminton courts. 

• Additional changing room capacity needed.

• Approximately  1400sqm extension.

Planning & Conservation Statement

The Sport Centre is a modern building that has been successfully integrated 
into the Conservation Area. The proposed extension is expected to be located 
on the south west corner of the building filling in a gap in the L shaped building. 
The extension will take up a small area of the sports fields, although none of the 
pitches will be affected. The building should be in keeping with the character of 
the sports centre to ensure that it does not adversely affect the character of the 
conservation area.

View of existing Sports Centre from South West.

View of existing Sports Centre from North West.

View of existing Sports Centre from West.

Projects: Sports Centre

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 62



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Dining Hall
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 13 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

GREENING COURT

BIG SCHOOL

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SPORTS CENTRE

BEECH COURT

CAFE

AUSTIN 
HOUSE

(GII)

ROYSSE'S LANE

Description

• Creation of new dining hall to allow for better management of lunchtimes.

• New track for service access along the southern boundary of Waste Court Field.

• Approximately 1000sqm building.

Planning & Conservation Statement

The dining hall introduces development into the southern part of the sports 
field but as with the sports centre extension does not affect the sports pitches. 
The development along the southern boundary will not affect the overall 
open character of the open space in this part of the Conservation Area. Any 
development would need to consider the impact it has on the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area. 

View of Waste Court Field.

View of seating area in existing Dining Hall.

View of existing Dining Hall.

Projects: Dining Hall

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 63



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Rowing Tank & Cricket Pavilion
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 14 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

0006
60.97

LP

0006
60.97

LP

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SCIENCE CENTRE
FARINGDON 

LODGE

WAR 
MEMORIAL 
PAVILION

FARINGDON LANE 

View of precedent rowing tank at Radley College.

View to War Memorial Pavilion entrance road/ track

View to War Memorial Pavilion entrance from edge of playing field.

Description

• Creation of a combined rowing tank and cricket pavilion.

• Would enable rowers to improve technique and train more efficiently. It will also 
allow the beginners’ experience to be accelerated.

• Improvement of existing 1st XI cricket pavilion.

• Approximately 350sqm building.

Planning & Conservation Statement

The proposed rowing tank and cricket pavilion north of Faringdon Road are 
located outside of the Conservation Area with Faringdon Road being the northern 
boundary. The mature hedge along the southern boundary of the sports pitches 
visually and physically separates them from Faringdon Road and the Conservation 
Area to the south and as such the design of the rowing tank and cricket pavilion do 
not need to be considerate of the Conservation Area. The mature trees in the area 
might steer development in to a particular location. 

Projects: Rowing Tank & Cricket Pavilion

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 64



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Mercers’ Court Extension
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 15 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

AMEY 
THEATRE

LACIES 
COURT

GREENING COURT

ADMIN HUB

RECEPTION

BEECH COURT

MERCERS' COURT

CAFE

PARK ROAD

DESIGN TECHNOLOGY

RUDDS'S 
COTTAGE

HEYLINS

Description

• Creation of a new Reading Room and Entrance for the Languages Building.

• Develops the eastern circulation route.

• Provides a literary identity to the Languages Building.

• Single storey extension with internal configurations.

Planning & Conservation Statement

The extension to Mercers’ Court is small scale compared to the other 
developments at the Campus. The development is within the Conservation Area 
and as such the character of the development needs to consider the impact on the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. The extension should take 
account of the design of the existing building. 

View of existing garden to rear of Mercers’ Court.

View of existing entrance to Mercers’ Court garden.

View of existing garden to rear of Mercers’ Court.

Projects: Mercers’ Court Extension

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 65



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Design and Technology Refurbishment
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 16 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

AMEY 
THEATRE

ADMIN HUB

RECEPTION

MERCERS' COURT

CAFE

DESIGN TECHNOLOGY

RUDDS'S 
COTTAGE

HEYLINS

Description

• Reconfigure internal space, including removal of roof’s internal truss structure, 
to more efficiently use existing space.

• Add lobby/conservatory to front of building.

• Create three teaching zones, each suitable for GCSE and A level teaching.

• Possibly add fourth teaching zone in roof (6th form).

• Maintain satellite room for Design and Technology in Amey Theatre.

Planning & Conservation Statement

Due to the changes being primarily internal there are no conservation or planning 
issues for consideration here. 

View of existing Design and Technology department internally.

View of existing Design and Technology department entrance.

View of Design and Technology building from Bath Street.

Projects: Design and Technology Refurbishment

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 66



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Master Plan 2019, Conclusion
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 17 - 30-April-2019

Conclusion

In conclusion, a great deal has been achieved since 2011 and 
that Master Plan remains the basis for much of the proposed 
work in this Master Plan. This updated 2019 Master Plan 
now sets out a way ahead for the next few years. A new site 
Conservation Appraisal has been carried out to refresh and 
update the heritage analysis based on the site as it is now, and 
the Planning Statement has been updated with corresponding 
commentary for each proposed project. That is the context in 
which all of the projects in this report are considered, as well as 
the school’s brief and identified and actual needs.

Indicative Timing

The projects described on the preceding pages are set out, 
broadly, in their order of priority, but exact timescales are 
still to be confirmed and may be subject to change. The first 
projects, for which some design work and Planning Pre-
Application Advice has already been sought, are the new 
Boarding Houses. These are intended to be developed and 
built over the next 2 – 3 years. After these, the Sports Centre 
extension and relocated Dining Hall could be built within 
5 years, with the Cricket Pavilion / Rowing Tank and other 
projects following on after this.

P
age 67



T +44 (0)20 7430 2444   davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

18 Hatton Place   London   EC1N 8RU

© David Morley Architects. Do not scale off drawing. 

P:

N:

D:

S:

Abingdon School Boarding Houses

0 50m

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
ri
v
a
te

d
ri
v
e
w
a
y

L
a
w
n

EC

EMERGANCYACCESSNOPARKING

OHL

OHL

O
H

L

OHL

O
H

L

SCHOOLKEEPCLEAR

EC

60.82

60.85

60.82

EC

58.00

58.05

60.52

60.53

60.58

F A R I N G D O N  R O A D

B

A

T

H

 
S

T

R

E

E

T

P A
R

K
 

C

R

E

S

C

E

N

T

Yang S
cience C

entre

S
p
o
rts
 C

e
n
tre

Cobban House

Tennis Courts

Tennis Courts

Playing Fields

Crescent House
Austin House

Beech
 Court

R O Y S S E S  A L L E Y

Indicative Outline of New Building

Faringd
on 

Lodge

Outline of Austin House Site

1:1000 @ A3

27/07/2020

690-15-010-P5

N

Austin House Location Plan

Appendix 2

P
age 68



T +44 (0)20 7430 2444   davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

18 Hatton Place   London   EC1N 8RU

© David Morley Architects. Do not scale off drawing. 

P:

N:

D:

S:

Abingdon School Boarding Houses

0 25m

B

A

T

H

 
S

T

R

E

E

T

Austin House

Outline of Austin House Site

1:500 @ A3

27/07/2020

690-15-011-P4

N

Austin House Site Boundary Plan

P
age 69



All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

A0-13

DDA Single Bdrm

A0-12

DDA Double Bdrm

A0-11

Double Bedroom

A0-20

AHM Living

A0-19

AHM Kit/ Din

A0-22

AHM Store

A0-03

Stair 2
A0-14

DDA Sh Rm

A0-15

DDA WC

A0-25

Store

A0-05

Circulation

A0-07

Day Social / Locker

A0-16

WC

A0-17

WC

A0-06

Clnr

A0-04

Lift

A0-02

Stair 1

A0-01

Entrance
A0-09

Matrons Office

A0-10

Lounge Room

A0-21

AHM WC

A0-18

AHM Stair

EA0-03

House Masters Office

EA0-08

HM Kitchen/ Dining

EA0-09

HM Living

EA0-13

Music PracticeEA0-02

Laundry/ Drying

EA0-01

Study/ Library

EA0-05

En-Suite
EA0-04

Double Bedroom

EA0-07

En-Suite

EA0-06

Triple Bedroom

Duty Master

A0-24

Tank Room

EA0-12

Boot Room

EA0-10

HM Hall/ Stair

EA0-11

HM Utility

EA0-14

HM WC

A0-23

Plant Room

N

27/07/2020

690-15-101

1:100 @ A1

P6

15/11/19P1 First Issue

Austin House - Level 0 Plan

P2 22/11/19 Amended Layout

Staff Areas

Circulation

Stores/ Plant

Showers, Baths and WCs

(Private)

Staff Acommodation

Social and Study Areas

Bedrooms

P3 02/12/19 General Update

10/12/19 General UpdateP4

Demolishion

New Construction

16/07/20P5 Design Amendement

27/07/20P6 Graphic Amendement

P
age 70



All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

A1-29

AHM Master Bed

A1-31

AHM Bed 3

A1-32

AHM Bath

A1-30

AHM Bed 2

A1-28

AHM Stair

A1-33

AHM Store A1-04

Stair 2
A1-26

Shwr

A1-27

Shwr

A1-10

Single Bdrm

A1-02

Corridor 2

A1-11

Single Bdrm
A1-22

WC

A1-23

WC A1-24

Shwr

A1-25

Shwr

A1-08

Lounge Room

A1-12

Single Bdrm

A1-13

Single Bdrm

A1-14

Single Bdrm

A1-15

Single Bdrm

A1-07

Lounge Room

A1-18

Single Bdrm

A1-34

Store

A1-01

Corridor 1

A1-19

Single Bdrm

A1-20

Single Bdrm

A1-21

Single Bdrm

A1-03

Stair 1

A1-05

Lift

A1-06

Clnr

A1-17

Single Bdrm

A1-16

Single Bdrm

EA1-06

Double Bedroom

EA1-05

Single Bedroom

EA1-12

Shower/WC

EA1-07

Single Bedroom

EA1-22

En-Suite

EA1-23

Double Bedroom

EA1-01

6th Form Social

EA1-10

Store

EA1-11

Bathroom

EA1-20

Cupboard

EA1-04

Double Bedroom

EA1-02

Single Bedroom

EA1-19

HM Bathroom

EA1-09

Store

EA1-16

HM Master En-suite

EA1-13

HM Master Bedroom

EA1-14

HM Bedroom 2

EA1-15

HM Bedroom 3

EA1-18

HM Bedroom 4

EA1-17

Bathroom

EA1-08

Triple Bedroom

EA1-24

En-Suite

House Kitchen/

N

27/07/2020

690-15-102

1:100 @ A1

P6

15/11/19P1 First Issue

Austin House - Level 1 Plan

P2 22/11/19 Layout Amended

Staff Areas

Circulation

Stores/ Plant

Showers, Baths and WCs

(Private)

Staff Acommodation

Social and Study Areas

Bedrooms

P3 02/12/19 General Update

P4 10/12/19 General Update

16/07/20P5 Design Amendement

New Construction

Demolition

27/07/20P6 Graphic Amendement

P
age 71



All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

A2-04

Stair 2

A2-01

Corridor 1

A2-05

Lift

A2-06

Clnr
A2-26

WC

A2-25

WC

A2-31

Store

EA2-05

En-Suite

EA2-04

Double Bedroom

EA2-03

Double Bedroom

EA2-02

Double Bedroom

EA2-06

En-Suite

EA2-07

En-Suite

A2-10

Single Bdrm

A2-11

Single Bdrm

WAL001

A2-09

Single Bdrm

A2-12

Single Bdrm
A2-08

Lounge Room
A2-13

Single Bdrm

A2-14

Single Bdrm

A2-15

Single Bdrm

A2-16

Single Bdrm
A2-07

Lounge Room A2-24

Single Bdrm

A2-23

Single Bdrm

A2-22

Single Bdrm

A2-21

Single Bdrm

A2-20

Single Bdrm

A2-19

Single Bdrm

A2-28

Shwr

A2-27

Shwr

A2-18

Single Bdrm

A2-17

Single Bdrm

A2-29

Shwr

A2-30

Shwr

A2-02

Corridor 2

EA2-01

Single Bedroom

EA2-09

Stair 3

EA2-08

En-Suite

P3 02/12/19 General Update

P4 10/12/19 General Update

N

27/07/2020

690-15-103

1:100 @ A1

P6

15/11/19P1 First Issue

Austin House - Level 2 Plan

P2 22/11/19 Layout Amended

Staff Areas

Circulation

Stores/ Plant

Showers, Baths and WCs

(Private)

Staff Acommodation

Social and Study Areas

Bedrooms

New Construction

Demolition

16/07/20P5 Design Amendement

27/07/20P6 Graphic Amendement

P
age 72



New Construction

Demolition

All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

Proposed Works Key:

Trunk Store

EAB-01
Store

Store
Store

Outline of building over.

N

27/07/2020

690-15-105

1:100 @ A1

P3

15/11/19P1 First Issue

Austin House - Basement Plan

P2 02/12/19 Notes Updated

P3 27/07/20 Design Amendement

P
age 73



Red Facing Brick

Textured Red Facing Brick

Grey Facing Brick

Reveal

Shading with S1 Cast Stone 

with Ventilation Panels and Solar 

Aluminium Composite Windows

Aluminium Composite Windows

Timber-Framed Glazing

Glazed Entrance/Exit Doors

Glazed Terrace / Balcony Doors

Solid Timber Doors

Solid Metal Doors

Glazed Doors

Cast Stone

Zinc Roof

All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

B1

B2

B3

D1

D2

D5

D3

G1

G2

D4

G3

Materials Key

S1

Z1

B1 B1 B1

Z1 Z1

G1

B3

G2

G1

S1

D3

S1

D1

G2

G2

G2

B3 B3

FFL +58.700m

FFL +61.850m

FFL +64.825m

+71.084m

+70.076m
+70.076m +70.300m

+69.890m

+68.900m

+69.821m

+66.485m

+67.440

+70.076m

D3

S1

B1B1

G2

B1

B2

B3

B1 B1

G1 G1 G1 G1

B3 S1 S1

G2

G3

G2

D1

G3

Z1 Z1

FFL +64.825m

FFL +61.850m

FFL +58.700m

+69.821m

+68.900m

+67.440m

+64.625m

+70.071m

+66.485m

+70.324m

690-15-110

1:100 @ A1

P5

P1 15/11/19

Austin House - North & South Elevations

Elevation
NORTH

1

Elevation
SOUTH

2

First Issue

03/12/19P2 General Update

29/17/2020

16/12/19P3 Graphic Amendement

16/07/20P4 Design Amendement

29/07/20P5 Graphic Amendement

P
age 74



Red Facing Brick

Textured Red Facing Brick

Grey Facing Brick

Reveal

Shading with S1 Cast Stone 

with Ventilation Panels and Solar 

Aluminium Composite Windows

Aluminium Composite Windows

Timber-Framed Glazing

Glazed Entrance/Exit Doors

Glazed Terrace / Balcony Doors

Solid Timber Doors

Solid Metal Doors

Glazed Doors

Cast Stone

Zinc Roof

All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

B1

B2

B3

D1

D2

D5

D3

G1

G2

D4

G3

Materials Key

S1

Z1

B1

S1

G2

D1

D2

Z1

B1

B3

G3

G2

+69.820m

+68.150m

68.850m

+69.890m

+69.210m

+70.300m

+66.300m

+66.910m

+69.044m

B1

S1

G2

D1

D2

Z1

B1

B3

G3

G2

+69.820m

+68.150m

68.850m

+69.890m

+69.210m

+70.300m

+66.300m

+66.910m

+69.044m

B1

S1

G1

D2

B3

D1

B2

G2

+66.485m

+67.440m

69.820m

FFL +64.825m

FFL +61.850m

FFL +58.700m

66.767m

68.596m

71.059m

70.300m

68.651m

69.890m

66.026m

70.323m

Z1

29/07/2020

690-15-111

1:100 @ A1

P5

P1 15/11/19

Austin House - East & West Elevations

Elevation
EAST

1

Elevation
WEST

2

First Issue

P2 03/12/19 General Update

16/12/19P3 Graphic Amendement

16/07/20P4 Design Amendement

29/07/20P5 Graphic Amendement

P
age 75



C

AB D

Single Bedroom

Corridor

Single Bedroom

Single Bedroom
Corridor

Single Bedroom

Day Social Canopy

Shower

Corridor

Lounge

Shower
Corridor

Lounge

Day Social

All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

FFL +58.70
Level 0 (Ground Floor)

FFL +61.85
Level 1 (First Floor)

FFL +64.83
Level 2 (Second Floor)

FFL +58.70
Level 0 (Ground Floor)

FFL +61.85
Level 1 (First Floor)

FFL +64.83
Level 2 (Second Floor)

690-15-120

1:100 @ A1

P3

P1 15/11/19

29/07/2020

First Issue

Austin House - Assemby Section A & B

P2 02/12/19 General Update

Section A
1:100

A

Section B
1:100

B

P3 29/07/20 Design Amendement

P
age 76



C

AB D

House Masters Office

House Kitchen/Dining

HM Bedroom 4 HM Bedroom 3 HM Bedroom 2 HM Master Bedroom

Stair

Stair

Corridor

Corridor

Stair Matrons Office

Single Bedroom

Single Bedroom

Single Bedroom

AHM Bathroom

AHM Kitchen/ Dining Corridor

Corridor

Corridor Corridor

Corridor

Day Social Stair

Bidge Link

6th Form Social

Study/ Library

All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

FFL +58.70
Level 0 (Ground Floor)

FFL +61.85
Level 1 (First Floor)

FFL +64.83
Level 2 (Second Floor)

FFL +58.70
Level 0 (Ground Floor)

FFL +61.85
Level 1 (First Floor)

FFL +64.83
Level 2 (Second Floor)

690-15-121

1:100 @ A1

P3

P1 15/11/19

29/07/2020

First Issue

Section C
1:100

C

Section D
1:100

D

P2 02/12/19 General Update

Austin House - Section C & D

P3 29/07/20 Design Amendement

P
age 77



New Construction

Demolition

All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 2.5m

Proposed Works Key:

Existing 

Austin 

House

New 

Austin 

House

Image 1

Image 2

Existing Austin House
INTERNAL DEMOLITION SKETCH (NTS)

1

Existing Austin House
EXTERNAL DEMOLITION SKETCH (NTS)

2

Bridge Link
PLAN

3

Bridge Link
Section

4

level.

the existing floor 

continued down to 

retained and 

opening to be 

Existing window 

via bridge link.

New Austin House 

Austin House to 

linking existing 

New glazed door 

link location

Indicative bridge 

House facade. 

the existing Austin 

independant from 

structurally 

Link bridge to be 

window opening.

filling the existing 

recessed panel 

structure to have a 

the bridge link 

Area covered by 

window opening.

filling the existing 

recessed panel 

structure to have a 

the bridge link 

Area covered by 

Glass Overpanel

Glass overpanel

29/07/2020

690-15-135 P2

P1 17/07/20

1:50 @ A1

First Issue

Austin House - Level 1 - Link Bridge Detail

P2 29/07/20 Graphic Amendement

P
age 78



Appendix 3

Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

APPLICATION NO. P19/V3213/FUL
SITE Crescent House, 21 Park Crescent, 

Abingdon, OX14 1DD
PARISH ABINGDON
PROPOSAL Demolition of modern side and rear 

extensions, the remodelling of Crescent 
House, a new building to provide 
boarding accommodation and a link 
corridor to link the new building to 
Crescent House.
(as amplified by amended plans and 
further information received 28 August 
2020; 22 September 2020; 1 October 
2020; 6 December 2020 and 9 February 
2021)

WARD MEMBER(S) Eric de la Harpe
Robert Maddison

APPLICANT Mr Justin Hodges
OFFICER Luke Veillet

RECOMMENDATION
Planning Permission is granted, subject to the following conditions;

           Standard conditions 

1. Full Planning Permission – three-year commencement 
2. Development in accordance with the approved plans 

           Pre-commencement conditions 

3. Tree Protection (submission of final AMS and details)  
4. Construction Traffic Management Plan 
5. Schedule of Materials (Photographs) 

           Pre-occupation conditions 

6. Submitted Landscaping scheme implementation 
7. Submitted Drainage scheme implementation  
8. Submitted Sustainable Design Features - as approved 

           Compliance conditions 

9. Submitted Ecology Mitigation  

Page 82

Agenda Item 8

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/V3213/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

10. Submitted External Lighting – no further lighting with LPA approval
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 Introduction 

This application, as a ‘major’ scale development, has been referred to the 
planning committee as your officers’ views conflict with those of the Town 
Council. 

1.2 The application site comprises a large residential property and its curtilage 
(Crescent House), which incidentally forms part of the surrounding wider 
Abingdon School site. Abingdon School is a well-established independent day 
and boarding school for boys aged 11-18, also with a Prep School for boys 
aged 4-13.

1.3 Crescent House is currently used as boarding accommodation, along with the 
adjacent Cobban House and Glyndowr House to the west of the site. 
Together, these buildings accommodate 56 bed spaces for pupils. It fronts 
onto Park Crescent and Albert Park, which is a Grade II Registered Park and 
Garden (RPG) and the application site and school are in the Albert Park 
Conservation Area (CA). There are two listed buildings within Albert Park; the 
Grade II Monument to Prince Albert circa 120m to the south west of the 
application site and the Grade II Conduit House circa 170m to the south, which 
once fed water to fountain on Ock Street. Within the wider school site, some 
220m to the east, is the Grade II Listed Waste Court (known as Austin House 
and also used for boarding accommodation) and the Grade II Listed Wall and 
Gate Piers to Waste Court. Outside Albert Park, some 235m to the south-west 
is the Grade II Church of St Michael. The site is also in a wider area of 
archaeological interest, being located within Abingdon Towns core (reference 
DOX16321M). A map of the site and constraints is shown below in Figure 1. 

Figure 1. Location and constraints map

Page 83



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

Key
1. Crescent House (Application site)
2. Cobban House (School Boarding accommodation)
3. Glyndowr House (School Boarding accommodation)
4. Grade II Waste Court (Austin House) (School Boarding accommodation) 
5. Grade II Wall and Gate Piers to Waste Court
6. Grade II Albert Park (Registered Park and Garden)
7. Grade II Listed Monument to Prince Albert 
8. Grade II Conduit House 
9. Grade II Church of St Michael
10. School House (School Boarding accommodation)

1.4 Proposal

Abingdon senior school currently has just over 1,000 boys from age 11-18, of 
which around 140 are boarders (comprising 110 full boarders and 30 weekly 
boarders). This total number of boarders has remained static in recent years 
and represents the capacity. Boarders are housed in three boarding houses: 
School House (53 boarders), Crescent House (56), and Austin House (29). 
As mentioned, Crescent House consists three separate buildings - Glyndowr, 
Cobban House, and Crescent House. Each boarding house also provides 
pastoral care for several dayboys, such that the total number of boys
(day + boarding) in each boarding house is c.100. There are 6 other purely 
dayboy houses in the school plus a Lower School division for the first and 
second years. The mixing of dayboys and boarders helps aid integration of 
boarders into school life more generally and vice versa.

1.5 Abingdon School has been subject to expansion of their facilities in recent 
years. Most notable are the large three-storey ‘Yang Science Building’ 
(P12/V2373/FUL), which is located directly behind Crescent House to the 

123

6

7

8

9

4 5
5

10

Page 84



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

north and the three-storey Beech Court Sixth Form Centre located to the 
south-west of Austin House.

1.6 The proposed development follows on from several pre-application enquiries 
starting in 2017, which have sought to explore the potential to extend the 
existing boarding accommodation of both Crescent House and Austin House. 
The latest enquiry in 2019 (P19/V1099/PEM) was supported by an updated 
site wide ‘Masterplan’, which detailed future development of the school, as 
well as articulating the rationale for selecting Crescent House and Austin 
House as being the most appropriate to extend. The 2019 Masterplan is 
attached at Appendix 1.
 

1.7 Therefore, this specific application seeks to demolish modern side and rear 
extensions and build a new large three-storey linked extension to the rear of 
the building. The extension will include three separate, but linked sections, 
leaving Crescent House mostly in its original state. Extracts of the key 
proposed plans are attached at Appendix 2. 

1.8 The scheme has been amended since its original submission in response to 
officer concerns. The scheme has removed a further fourth two-storey building 
section, which proposed to link to the ‘Coach House’, located to the north-west 
of the site. The ‘Coach House’ is located outside the curtilage of Crescent 
House and within the curtilage of Cobban House.
 

1.9 Finally, it important to note that this application has been submitted in 
conjunction with applications to extend Austin House (P19/V3211/FUL and 
P19/V3212/LB), which also seek a three-storey extension to consolidate 
boarding accommodation on the eastern part of the school site. Whilst this is a 
separate application under consideration (thus considered on its own merits), 
it is part of the wider masterplan to upgrade the schools boarding facilities. 
Neither applications are seeking an increase in the number of pupils attending 
or boarding at the site but seek to consolidate existing accommodation which 
are scattered amongst different buildings. The schemes propose to not 
materially change the number of boarders from the current 140 but even out 
the number of boarders in each of the three main houses to around an 
optimum level of 50 beds per house. This will enable the future proofing the 
sites accommodation, better management and improve pupil cohesion. It will 
also free up existing buildings for other school activities. The applicant’s 
rationale for the accommodation is attached at Appendix 3. 

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Full comments are available on the application pages on the council’s website, 

www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk . A summary of comments submitted, and main 
issues highlighted are shown below;

Abingdon
Town Council

Original submitted scheme 
No objections 

Amended scheme 

Page 85

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

Objection  
 After reconsidering, the council has several 

concerns and concurs with comments by the 
Friends of Abingdon Civic Society 

 Overdevelopment in terms size, scale, bulk and 
massing

 Harm to the Conservation Area and Historic 
Park/Victorian Villas 

 The harm to the Heritage assets is deemed to 
substantial
 

Conservation 
Officer

Original Submitted Scheme
Holding objections

 The proposed development would result in a very 
large extension to the existing house on Park
Crescent and would link it to the coach house 
block to the rear of the neighbouring plot of 
Cobban House

 This will fundamentally alter the character of the 
Crescent House site by significantly increasing the 
massing of the buildings on the site and altering 
the relationship of the two historically separate 
plots

 The development will result in less-than-substantial 
harm to the designated conservation area and I
consider that further steps to mitigate the harm 
should be explored before considerations of how 
this harm could be outweighed are made

Amended scheme
Comments 

 Amended plans have been submitted which have 
altered the proposed layout of the extensions at
Crescent House and no longer connects the 
extension to the coach house to the rear of Cobban
House, helping to retain the sense that these two 
plots remain separate within the wider park 
character

 The proposed development will result in a very 
large extension to the existing house on Park 
Crescent. This will fundamentally alter the character 
of the Crescent House site by significantly 
increasing the massing of the buildings on the site. 
Steps to mitigate this harm by reducing the 
connection between neighbouring plots has 
reduced some of the harm.

 The revisions reduce the visual impact of the 
proposal on the experience of the park from certain 
angles. From within the park itself the glimpsed 
views towards Crescent House are improved as the 

Page 86



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

separation between Crescent House and Cobban 
House is much better retained.

 The proposed design of the extensions reflects the 
more institutional appearance of new development 
across the school site, rather than the Victorian 
domestic character of the houses on Park 
Crescent. I have no objection to this architectural 
approach.

 However, the development does not enhance or 
better reveal the Victorian layout of the park that 
forms the Conservation Area and will result in less-
than-substantial harm to the designated 
conservation area

Drainage 
Engineer

Original submitted scheme
No objections, no conditions required

Amended scheme
No objections, no conditions required

Oxfordshire 
County Council 
Single 
Response

Original submitted and amended scheme

Highways 
No objection, subject to conditions

 No increase in staff or boarders, so no highway 
impact

 CTMP required for construction 

Local Lead Flood Authority 
No comments

Archaeologist 
No objections 

 An archaeological evaluation has not indicated the 
presence of archaeological features within the 
application area. As such there are no 
archaeological constraints to this application

Forestry 
Officer

Original submitted scheme
Holding objection 

 The proposed development will require the removal 
of several trees shown as T10, T11, T12, T13, T14 
and T17 as shown within the submitted 
Arboricultural
Report. These trees are of low arboricultural value 
and should not be considered a constraint to the 
proposed development, their loss can be mitigated 
with replacement planting

 Landscaping scheme is suitable
 Some conflict with drainage and T15

Page 87



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

 AMS has not considered demolition works with root 
protection areas (RPA) of T8 and T9, 2 high quality 
Wellingtonia

 Adjustments required due to conflict with some tree 
RPA’s and services plan required to check whether 
there are conflicts with infrastructure. 

Amended scheme
No objection, subject to conditions 

The Gardens 
Trust

Original submitted scheme
Comments 

 The Gardens Trust (GT) is a Statutory Consultee 
with regard to proposed development affecting a 
site included by Historic England (HE) on their 
Register of Parks & Gardens.

 Surprised that the online documentation regarding 
the new buildings for Abingdon School did not 
mention the Grade II registered Albert Park (RPG) 
which lies directly across the road from Crescent 
House

 Since Albert Park and the houses around it are part 
of a conscious piece of urban design/town planning 
of the late 19th century it is important that any 
proposals for modification or new build maintain the 
overall design aesthetic. These need to preserve or 
enhance the setting of the RPG or better reveal its 
significance. We would therefore have expected 
photomontages of the views from within the RPG 
both towards Crescent & Cobban Houses and back 
towards the Park

 We would suggest that if your officers are minded 
to approve this application, careful attention is paid 
to the size, detailing and materials appropriate to 
preserve and enhance the setting, character and 
appearance of the RPG and Park Town 
conservation area

Amended scheme
***No response received***

Countryside 
Officer

Original submitted scheme
No objections, subject to conditions 

 Ecological surveys have concluded that the existing 
structures are unlikely to support roosting bats and 
that the proposed works are unlikely to impact any 
other protected species. 

 Habitats on site are not considered to be a 
constraint. 

 Mitigation measures are proposed.

Page 88



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

Amended scheme
No objections, subject to conditions 

Urban Design 
Officer

Original submitted scheme
Holding objection 

 Based on the current application, its design, built 
form vernacular along with architectural detail work 
well relating to the scheme’s architectural context.

 The link between the main development and the 
Coach House within Crescent House’s curtilage 
removes the discernible plot pattern, one which has 
historically framed Albert park and defined the area. 
This link also removes a key distinction between 
the curtilages of Crescent House and Yang Science 
Centre

Amended scheme
Supports 

 Whilst the extension to the existing boarding school 
is considerable larger than the existing building, 
including scale and massing, its visual impact on 
Park Crescent and any glimpsed views from the 
Park its self are kept to a minimum, as 
demonstrated by the superimposed imagery 
provided as part of the application.

 This increased scale and massing of the new build 
in comparison to the exiting House must also be 
read in the context of the new Sciences building of 
Faringdon Rd, which sits as the backdrop to the 
development as viewed from Albert Park, which 
itself has a unobtrusive presence.

 As per previous comments the proposed design for 
the extension to Crescent house has a good and 
applicable, built form vernacular material pallet, 
detailing and overall composition

Historic 
England

Original submitted and amended scheme
Comments

 On the basis of the information available to date, 
we do not wish to offer any comments. We suggest 
that you seek the views of your specialist 
conservation and archaeological advisers, as 
relevant.

 This does not mean that we consider the proposals 
to be acceptable or unacceptable, simply that we 
are content for the application to be determined by 
the LPA following their own specialist conservation 
advice.

Page 89



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

Environmental 
Protection 

Original submitted and amended scheme
No objection, subject to conditions to limit construction 
times, noise and dust

Thames Water Original submitted
No objections, the water and waste network has capacity 
in the area for the development.

Chief Fire 
Officer 

Original submitted
***No response received***

Friends of 
Abingdon Civic 
Society 

Original submitted scheme
Objection 

 Scale of building is far too large, 3 times size of 
Crescent House

 Cut off all long-distance views from the well-used 
public footpath of Roysse’s Alley towards the north-
west

 Damage historic layout and curtilage 
 Harm would be caused to the character and 

appearance of the Albert Park Conservation
Area by this proposal would be substantial

 Site area has been downgraded from an area of 
‘high-conservation’ in the applicants 2011 appraisal 
to ‘neutral’ due to development of the MUSA. This 
has resulted in ‘creep’ development. 

 Impact of views from the Park Crescent and the 
Park. 

 Accept that there are benefits to the town arising 
from the presence of the School, although we do 
not believe, for the reasons stated above, that they 
outweigh the strong presumption against 
permission in this case

Amended scheme
Objection 

 The changes proposed in the amended application 
are cosmetic and in no way address the points 
made in our comments on the original application

 Abingdon TC are producing a draft Conservation 
Area appraisal and the application should consider 
this. 

Local residents 
and 
neighbours 
(12)

Original submitted scheme
Objections

 The site is not a higher education facility, thus 
policy CP30 does not apply. 

 A private school is not a community facility. 

Page 90



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

 Harm to conservation area, registered park and 
historic environment due to scale and design

 Application contradicts arguments made for science 
centre – which was justified based on distance to 
the park 

 No public benefit 
 Erode Victorian setting of park and villas
 Does not ‘preserve’ or ‘enhance’ the Conservation 

Area

Amended scheme
Objections 

 The site is not a higher education facility, thus 
policy CP30 does not apply. 

 A private school is not a community facility. 
 Harm to conservation area, registered park and 

historic environment due to scale and design
 Application contradicts arguments made for science 

centre – which was justified based on distance to 
the park 

 No public benefit 
 Revised plan for 21 Park Crescent seeks to respect 

the historic curtilage of the adjacent villa, (Cobban 
House, 20 Park Crescent) while totally failing to do 
so for Crescent House, 21 Park Crescent

 Erode Victorian setting of park and villas

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P19/V3211/FUL – (not yet determined) Demolition of a modern flat roof 

extension to Austin House, the remodelling of Austin House, a new building to 
provide boarding accommodation and a link corridor to link the new building to 
Austin House.

P19/V3212/LB – (not yet determined) Demolition of a modern flat roof 
extension to Austin House, the remodelling of Austin House, a new building to 
provide boarding accommodation and a link corridor to link the new building to 
Austin House.

P18/V2481/FUL – Approved (10/01/2019)
Erection of a three-storey education building to accommodate a lodge, house 
rooms, computer science and economic teaching space

P16/V2529/FUL – Approved (03/01/2017)
Demolition of existing building and erection of a new three storey building to 
accommodate a sixth form centre, centre for independent learning and art 

Page 91



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

department and external storage building. Minor changes to cafe and new 
pedestrian access to Roysee's Alley to the north.

P16/V1480/DIS - Approved (05/07/2016)
Replacement of grass tennis courts, laying artificial multi-use sports pitch 
(MUSA), with associated fencing and access. P16/V0741/FUL Conditions(s) 4 - 
Arboricultural Method Statement.

P16/V0741/FUL - Approved (12/05/2016)
Replacement of grass tennis courts, laying of a new artificial multi-use sports 
pitch (MUSA), with associated fencing and access.

P12/V2374/CA - Approved (24/01/2013)
Demolition of existing school building (Medical Centre).

P12/V2373/FUL - Approved (24/01/2013)
Demolition of existing school building (Medical Centre). Erection of a three 
storey Science Centre and the reconfiguration of the existing coach park, 
including alterations to the points of ingress and egress.

3.2 Pre-application History
P19/V1099/PEM (18/06/2019)
Erection of boarding house accommodation.

P18/V2568/PEM (16/11/2018)
Erection of two storey extension to boarding houses and ground floor link 
between Crescent House and Cobban House.

P17/V2872/PEM - (14/12/2017)
Erection of two storey extension to boarding houses and ground floor link 
between Crescent and Cobban House. Science building extension. Rowing 
tank and pavilion

3.3 Screening Opinion requests
None

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 Screening is not required and the development does not constitute EIA 

development. It does not involve development over the thresholds for urban 
development projects under Schedule 2, 10 (b). The site is not
in a ‘sensitive area’ defined by the Town and Country Planning Environmental 
Impact Assessment Regulations 2017.

5.0 MAIN ISSUES

The main issues to consider in context of this scheme is discussed in section 
five below;

Page 92

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/V1480/DIS
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/V0741/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P12/V2374/CA
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P12/V2373/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

 The principle of development 
 Layout, Design and Impact on Heritage Assets 
 Residential amenity
 Traffic, parking and highway safety
 Environmental matters
 Other matters 

5.1 The principle of development 
5.2 Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the

local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development
Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material
considerations. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 requires where regard is to be had to the Development Plan, applications
for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the most relevant parts 
of the Development Plan are the adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1 (LPP1) and 
Part 2 (LPP2).

5.3 LPP1 policy CP01 broadly reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable
development set out in the NPPF. Policy CP03 then sets out a settlement 
hierarchy, which is one of the policies which underpins the districts overarching 
spatial strategy for development. This policy defines Abingdon-on-Thames as 
one of the Market Towns, which given its size and services, has the ability to 
support the most sustainable patterns of living. It notes the Market Towns have 
the greatest long-term potential for development. Abingdon School is firmly 
located within the built-up area of the Town. 

5.4 The development plan does not have any specific policies which guide 
development on its established school sites in the built-up areas of the Towns. 
However, LPP2 policy DP8 does recognise schools to constitute community 
facilities, which play a key role in creating and sustaining healthy and inclusive 
communities. Policy DP8 notes that extending community facilities will be 
supported in the built-up areas of settlements. The fact Abingdon School is an 
independent school, in your officers’ view, does not exclude it from being a 
community facility. It is still a school which serves the local community and 
beyond, both for education and use of its sports and leisure facilities to the 
wider public. Indeed, appeal decisions have confirmed that private facilities can 
be considered as community facilities (such as an Osteopathic Clinic, for 
example - appeal ref: APP/D1780/C/19/3222884). 

5.5 It is also noted that Paragraph 20 (c) of the NPPF recognises education 
facilities to constitute ‘community facilities. Paragraph 94 then recognises the 
importance of having , ‘a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet 
the needs of existing and new communities’ and at 94 (a), it notes that Local 
Authorities should give, ‘great weight to the need to create, expand or alter 
schools through the preparation of plans and decisions on applications’. 

5.6 Therefore, having regard to the development plan and above policy context, 
your officers consider that the principle of extending the school facilities in the 
manner proposed is acceptable, supported by LPP1 policy CP03, LPP2 policy 

Page 93



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

DP8 and national guidance. This would of course be subject to consideration of 
the detailed issues and other material considerations examined below. 

5.7 Layout, Design and the Impact on Heritage Assets
5.8 It is evident that the layout, scale and design of the scheme in context of the 

various impacts on the historic environment, is one of the main issues raised. 
As identified, the site is constrained by several designated heritage assets. It is 
located within the Albert Park Conservation Area (CA) and opposite the Grade 
II Albert Registered Park and Garden (RPG). Within the RPG are two Grade II 
listed buildings, the Prince Albert Memorial and Conduit House. The Grade II 
Church of St. Michael is south of the park.

5.9 In context of these constraints, there are two main sub-issues to consider. 
These are the impact on the character and appearance of the CA and non-
designated assets, and the impact on the setting of the RPG and relevent listed 
buildings. These matters are considered below;

5.10 Impact on the Character and appearance of the Conservation Area and non-
designated heritage assets
LPP1 policy CP37 requires that all new development is of a high-quality design 
and responds positively to the character of the area. The design should also 
conserve and enhances historic character and reinforce local identity.
Policy CP39 seeks to ensure new development conserves, and where possible 
enhances, designated heritage assets and non-designated heritage assets and 
their setting in accordance with national guidance and legislation. LPP2 policy 
DP36 then sets out the general approach in assessing the impact on heritage 
assets, broadly reflecting the policy guidance in the NPPF.

5.11 LPP2 Policy DP37 specifically address’s conservation areas. Proposals for 
development within or affecting the setting of a conservation area must 
demonstrate that it will conserve or enhance its special interest, character, 
setting and appearance. It also sets out several criteria for consideration. 
These include ensuring development takes into account important views, 
sympathetic to building curtilages, open spaces and respect local 
distinctiveness through its design. This policy sits alongside the duties set out 
in the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Section 72 
details that the Local Authority has a duty to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character of appearance of that 
area.

5.12 Turning to the National policy guidance set out in the NPPF, Paragraph 190 of 
the details that the LPA should identify and assess the particular significance of 
any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by 
development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the 
available evidence and any necessary expertise.

5.13 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF details that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. ‘Significance’ is 
defined in the NPPF as, ‘The value of a heritage asset to this and future 

Page 94



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

generations because of its heritage interest. The interest may be 
archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives not only 
from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting’. 

5.14 Paragraph 194 details that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from 
development within its setting), should require clear and convincing 
justification.

5.15 Paragraph 196 requires where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

5.16 Paragraph 197 notes that the effect of an application on the significance of a 
non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the 
application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-
designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having 
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 
asset.

5.17 Paragraph 200 details LPA’s should look for opportunities for new development 
within Conservation Areas and within the setting of heritage assets, to enhance 
or better reveal their significance.

5.18 Paragraph 201 details that not all elements of a Conservation Area or World 
Heritage Site will necessarily contribute to its significance. Loss of a building (or 
other element) which makes a positive contribution to the significance of the 
Conservation Area or World Heritage Site should be treated either as 
substantial harm under paragraph 195 or less than substantial harm under 
paragraph 196, as appropriate, taking into account the relative significance of 
the element affected and its contribution to the significance of the Conservation 
Area or World Heritage Site as a whole.

5.19 In this case, there is no formal CA appraisal for Albert Park. It is acknowledged 
that local parties, on behalf of the Town Council, are currently producing one. It 
is the Districts Council’s responsibility to review CA’s and produce appraisals 
where necessary and is subject to a formal process (including review, and 
public consultation). This can involve community collaboration and input, but at 
this time, it is understood has not commenced. As such, limited weight is 
attached to this appraisal at this time. Notwithstanding, the draft document 
circulated on the internet highlights the importance of Albert Park and its formal 
layout, the Victorian Villas adjacent to the park, and the pressures arising from 
development of the school.

5.20 The pre-application submission contained a supporting Conservation Appraisal, 
which sought to identify the important assets within they area, the area’s history 
and significance, but mainly focussed on the school site. It identified the school 
as a distinct ‘zone’ within the conservation area, with ‘sub-zones’ of varying 
significance. The appraisal identifies the application site has having a ‘high’ 

Page 95



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

level of significance, with a small portion of the garden being ‘neutral’ (area ‘17’ 
Figure 2 below). 

Figure 2. Conservation Appraisal 2019 - Asset Heritage Consulting

5.21 The application is then supported by a specific Heritage Impact Assessment 
(HIA), which assesses the significance of the relevent assets. It identifies 
Crescent House as a late Victorian Villa, part of the Albert Park Villas, an area 
of ‘high conservation importance’. Both documents broadly highlight the 
important contribution the formal historic park and the Victorian architecture of 
older parts of the historic school site make to the significance of the CA as well 
as Crescent House, as non-designated heritage assets facing onto the park. 
The HIA ultimately concludes and acknowledges that there will be a small 
degree of heritage harm as a result of the scheme but would be considered to 
be ‘less than substantial’, a matter I turn to later. 
 

5.22 In terms of development proposed in the application, there is no doubt that it is 
a very large extension to Crescent House. As pointed out by the Conservation 
Officer, this will fundamentally alter the character of the Crescent House site by 
significantly increasing the massing of the building. However, the applicant has 
worked positively with the council over the last few years to respond to 
concerns by concentrating the development to just Crescent House, leaving the 
other Villas intact. During considering the application, improvements have also 
been made to ensure that the development does not stray into the 
neighbouring Villa’s curtilage, broadly preserving its historic layout. The design 
of the linked extension is also of a very high quality and works hard to break up 
the massing with separate linked blocks. The blocks closest to Crescent House 
will be two-storey, with a larger three-storey block at the north. The fact the 
extension first extends from the rear via flat roofed glazed walkway goes some 
way to ensure there is separation between ‘old and new’ defining the non-
designated asset as the primary building along the Park Crescent frontage. 

Page 96



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

This is further assisted by the layout, which curves the built form around and 
away from the main building (in a curvature which is opposite of that around 
Park Crescent), with the largest element settling amongst the large and 
established science centre. This helps retain some sense of space between the 
villas and perception of the development being part of the more developed 
Science Centre backdrop. With the linked buildings to the ‘Coach House’ 
removed, plot separation and sightlines from views along Park Crescent and 
within the park itself are better preserved. This is demonstrated in the 
photomontage of the proposed scheme from in front of Crescent House (Figure 
3. Below)

Figure 3. Photomontage from Park Crescent (applicant)

5.23 Notwithstanding, there is no question that to some extent, from different angles 
and long-range views from the park, between gaps in the trees and hedges, 
one will see other parts of the extension (Figure 4), albeit they will appear 
smaller in context, the further one is away from the site, inside the park. 

Page 97



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

Figure 4. View between Cobban House (left) and Crescent House (right) from within the park 
(Officer)

5.24 Having regard to the policy context and legislation identified above, your 
officers are of the view that the development, whilst being of a high-quality 
design, given the layout and scale, will have an impact on the significance of 
the CA and on Crescent House itself (as a non-designated asset). Given the 
applicant’s assessment of the site, it is evident the Victorian and spacious 
character of the buildings make a positive contribution to the historic character 
and appearance of the area. The villa’s well-preserved domestic curtilage, its 
layout, and the gaps between the buildings, will be eroded to some extent, 
causing some harm to the assets and how their significance is experienced. 
However, given the changes made to the scheme and the backdrop of the 
already established large modern buildings, your officers consider that the 
harm to the designated asset, the CA, is “less than substantial’ in context of the 
NPPF. The site makes a positive contribution to the CA, but when viewed as 
whole, officer consider the assets, and their significance overall, will not be lost. 
Key elements of the proposed development, its careful, high quality design, the 
improved layout, and the removal of existing poor-quality extensions, go some 
way to mitigate the impact, avoiding substantial harm. It can also be said that, 
given the long-standing school use of the building, and that it is the one closest 
to the school spatially, Crescent House is seen as being more closely 
associated with the school, unlike other private villas around Park Crescent. 
Whilst your officers are of the view the harm to the CA is “less than substantial” 
when viewed as whole, and towards the lower end of this category of harm; it is 
clear harm will be caused. As such, the character and appearance of the CA 
will not be preserved or enhanced, contrary to policy DP37. The NPPF advises 
that great weight should be given to the conservation of a designated asset, 
even where harm is considered to be ‘less than substantial’. Therefore, the 
NPPF makes it clear this harm is required to be weighed in the planning 
balance, against any public benefits arising from the scheme. Any harm arising 
to the significance of a non-designated asset also has to be weighed in the 

Page 98



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

balance in the context of the scale of harm and the significance of the asset, I 
will turn to these matters later. 

5.25 The setting of the RPG and Listed Buildings
RPG’s are not subject to protection under the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, but The Historic Buildings and Ancient 
Monuments Act 1953 (1) authorises Historic England to compile a register of 
“gardens and other land” situated in England that appear to be of special 
historic interest. Nevertheless, in a planning context, they are considered as 
‘designated heritage assets’, thus afforded the same considerations as CA’s 
and listed buildings under the NPPF.

5.26 In this case, whilst not in the designated park, the application site forms part of 
the RPG’s and mentioned Listed Buildings wider setting. The NPPF defines 
setting as, ‘The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its 
extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. 
Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative contribution to the 
significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that significance or 
may be neutral’. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation 
Areas) Act details that the local planning authority has a duty to have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the listed building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.

5.27 In terms of the setting of the RPG, your officers are of the view that the 
application site does make a positive contribution to the setting of the RPG. As 
mentioned above, the historic villas set around the formal park, being well 
spaced and of a similar architectural period, all contribute to the historic 
significance of the park and form part of its setting. Eroding this space within 
the assets setting, similar to the harm identify to the CA as a whole, would not 
preserve or enhance the asset. The harm is considered to be ‘less than 
substantial’ and given the distance and some intervening features, likely at the 
lower end of the scale in this category. Great weight is attached to this harm 
and again, a matter to be considered against the public benefits later. In terms 
of the three listed buildings within/around the park and Waste Court, on the 
east of the school site, your officers are of view there will not be any harm to 
their significance. This is based on their distance from the application site and 
intervening features diluting their connection to the school and application site. 
There will not be any harm to these assets by developing as proposed, within 
their wider setting. The scheme will not alter how these listed buildings are 
experienced. 

5.28 Residential Amenity
5.29 LPP2 policy DP23 seeks to protect neighbouring resident’s amenity from 

adverse impact of new development in context of loss of privacy/daylight, visual 
intrusion, noise, vibration and external lighting (amongst others). LPP2 policy 
DP24 seeks for proposals to be appropriate to their location and should be 
designed to ensure that the occupiers of new development will not be subject 
to adverse effects from existing or neighbouring uses.

Page 99

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/has/pgb/#(1)
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/h/534861/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/s/536536/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/s/536536/


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

5.30 In this case, the school and application site are an established residential 
institution and there will be no material increase in the number of boarders. The 
scheme will simply consolidate the boarding accommodation across the villas 
into Crescent House, which is the closest of the villas to the main school 
grounds. Neighbouring buildings are in the school’s use, with private 
neighbouring dwellings some distance away, further west, around Park 
Crescent. Therefore, it is not expected the development will have any adverse 
neighbour impact. Elements that may cause noise (such as air source heat 
pumps) are located on the eastern elevation, thus facing only into the school. 
However, given the scale of scheme, there will likely be some noise and 
disturbance during construction, but conditions can secure a Construction and 
Traffic Management Plan to mitigate the impact. The scheme would comply 
with policy DP23.  

5.31 In terms of outdoor space for the students, the scheme will retain communal 
outdoor areas, as well as being adjacent to the other outdoor school facilities 
(the Multi Use Sports Area). There will be no adverse by on the students by 
neighbouring uses, complying with policy DP24.

5.32 Traffic, parking and highway safety
LPP1 policies CP33 and CP35 expect the council to work with Oxfordshire 
County Council to ensure new development links well to facilities and services 
and supports sustainable transport methods. This is reinforced in LPP1 policy 
CP37 which in requiring good design, seeks sites to be well connected to 
provide safe and convenient ease of movement by all users. LPP2 policy DP16 
requires development to demonstrate adequate provision will be made for 
loading, unloading, circulation, servicing and vehicle turning on a site.

5.33 In this context, again, given there will not be a material increase in students or 
staff, there will be a very limited impact on the highway network, safety or 
parking. The site is also clearly in a sustainable location. The existing access is 
retained, providing vehicular access in an emergency, but on the whole, no 
further parking or access is required. The Local Highways Authority (OCC) are 
content with the scheme, subject to securing a CTMP by condition. As such, 
the subject to this, the development would accord with policies CP33, CP35, 
CP37 and DP16 in this context. 

5.34 Environmental matters 
5.35 There are few key environmental matters, which require consideration in the 

sub sections below. These pertain to the impact on biodiversity and potential 
protected species; trees; the drainage system and building sustainability;

5.36 Biodiversity and potential protected species
LPP1 policy CP46 sets out how the council will approach important areas 
which contribute to the districts natural environment, biodiversity, habitats and 
species. Development that will conserve, restore and enhance biodiversity in 
the district will be permitted and opportunities for a net gain in biodiversity will 
be sought. Harm to habitats and species will require mitigation. In this case, the 
application is supported by an Ecological Appraisal and biodiversity 
calculations. The former has concluded in a Phase 1 habitat survey that only 

Page 100



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

amenity habitats of low ecological importance are identified on the site. The 
calculations show a small net loss of this habitat but given their low value and 
overall increase in biodiversity (across both proposed schemes), there is a net 
gain. The buildings are not expected to be habitats for bats, although there is 
potential for bats and birds in the wider environment. Mitigation (bat/bird boxes) 
is proposed in the appraisal, which can be secured by condition. The council’s 
Countryside Officer has not raised an objection. The development accords with 
policy CP46. 

5.37 Trees
LPP1 policy CP44 details that key features in the landscape will be protected, 
such as trees, hedgerows, woodland, field boundaries, watercourses and water 
bodies. The site has numerous trees in and around the site. Some are of a low 
quality and proposed to be removed and some which contribute positively to 
the character of the area are of a high quality (the Wellingtonias along the 
frontage) are to be retained. In any event, all trees are protected due to their 
location in the Conservation Area. The application has been accompanied by a 
variety of assessments, tree protection plans and services plans, which have 
been submitted to respond to initial concerns from the council’s Forestry 
Officer. Your officers are now satisfied that the development can be brought 
forward without damaging important trees on the site to be retained, but some 
further information is required, particularly on how the area around T8 and T9 
will be addressed during demolition of western outbuilding. Subject to 
conditions to secure the detail in the final Arboricultural Method Statement 
(AMS) and tree protection, the development is considered to be acceptable. 

5.38 Drainage 
LPP1 policy requires that all development provides a drainage strategy, which 
includes sustainable drainage systems. In this case, the scheme is supported 
by a drainage report which demonstrates feasibility of suitable foul and surface 
water drainage facilities. The scheme and connective works around the site’s 
constraints and trees, avoid root protection areas. The council’s Drainage 
Engineer is content with the scheme. Subject to conditions to secure its 
implementation, the scheme is acceptable in this context. 

5.39 Building sustainability 
LPP1 policy CP40 encourages developers to incorporate climate change 
adaption measures to combat the effects of changing weather patterns. The 
application in this case is supported by a sustainability statement, which 
highlights numerous measures (air source heat pumps, building fabric, air 
tightness), which will mean the scheme will result in a significant improvement 
above building regulation baselines, to reduce carbon emissions. This is a 
positive benefit of the scheme, raising design standards and development 
accords with the mentioned policy. 

5.40 Other matters 

Archaeological Impact 
The application is supported by an Archaeological Evaluation. Whilst the site is 
in an area of archaeological interest, the County Councils archaeologist is 

Page 101



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

content the scheme is unlikely to result in any material impact. The 
archaeological evaluation has not indicated the presence of archaeological 
features within the application area. As such there are no archaeological 
constraints to this application

Water infrastructure 
Thames water has confirmed that the water and foul drainage infrastructure 
has capacity to support the scheme

Waste
The scheme will not materially change how the school deals and processes 
with its waste, as there will be no material increase in pupils. 

Pre-commencement conditions 
Where applicable, pre-commencement conditions have been agreed with the 
applicant. 

6.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION
6.1 It is evident from analysis of the proposed scheme, there are several issues to 

consider in the planning balance. As detailed, planning law requires that 
applications for planning permission are to be determined in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.2 It is evident that there are several benefits to this scheme. The school is a large 
established community facility and well located in the Town. Such facilities are 
encouraged to expand to accommodate future schooling needs and provide 
choice for the local community and beyond. Indeed, the NPPF notes that ‘great 
weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools’ should be applied to 
decisions. The proposed building is of a high quality and sustainable design, 
which has explored the constraints of the site and the most viable locations that 
could feasibility accommodate expansion of this nature. Throughout the 
application, the design has evolved to significantly improve the layout to limit the 
harm to the heritage assets as much as possible, whilst balancing the 
commercial and functionality needs of the school. Your officers are of the view 
that supporting the enhancement of this community facility in principle and the 
quality and care in the design of the new building attracts some weight; the latter 
raising design and sustainability standards for development in the district.   

6.3 Notwithstanding these benefits, in your officers’ view, the development, by virtue 
of its scale, will cause a degree of harm to the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area and the setting of the Registered Park and Garden, both of 
which are designated heritage assets. As such, the development will have an 
adverse impact on these assets’ significance, which is largely derived from the 
relatively well preserved Victorian formal park, the spacious villas facing onto it 
and surrounding Victorian architecture. Spatially, the development will erode the 
spacing between the villas to some extent (although not significantly) and 
consequently, views and the experience from inside the Conservation Area and 
park. Whilst in your officers’ view, this harm to designated assets is ‘less than 
substantial’ in context of the NPPF, the starting point is that, alongside the 
statutory duty to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 

Page 102



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

enhancing the character of appearance of a Conservation Area, great weight 
must be given to these designated assets’ conservation. There will also be 
some harm to the significance of non-designated assets. Therefore, the 
development is contrary to development plan policies CP39, DP36 and DP37. 
However, the PPG does note that, ‘within each category of harm (which 
category applies should be explicitly identified), the extent of the harm may vary 
and should be clearly articulated’(Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 18a-018-
20190723). In this context, as discussed at paragraphs 5.22 and 5.24 above, 
the careful design of the scheme has gone some way to ensure the impact is 
not significant and the level of harm within this category would be at the lower 
end of the scale. Similarly, the harm to non-designated assets would be 
moderated.

6.4 In identifying the harm as ‘less than substantial’ to the significance of the 
designated heritage assets, it is necessary that this identified harm, and the 
harm to the significance of non-designated assets, is weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal. As described in the PPG (Paragraph: 020 Reference 
ID: 18a-020-20190723), this could be anything that delivers economic, social or 
environmental objectives. In this case, your officers are of the view that the 
great weight attached to the harm to the designated heritage assets on one 
hand, needs to be balanced against the great weight also attached to the need 
to the expand and alter this school on the other. 

6.5 The school, a community facility, clearly has wider social benefits and to 
consolidate and modernise its boarding accommodation demonstrates a 
reasonable plan to future proof this facility. This is likely more critical than ever, 
given the pandemic and the impact on how schools have had to operate. Whilst 
the future of this issue is uncertain, it seems reasonable to assume that to 
operate safely and efficiently and attract students to stay in these schools in the 
short and medium terms, schools like this will likely require more space and 
higher standards of accommodation. Therefore, in the round, securing this 
community facilities medium to long term viability by developing in the manner 
proposed, is a clear public benefit. In this context, it is also evident from the 
site’s masterplan and constraints there is limited capacity to do this, thus the site 
proposed (in addition the application at Austin House) seemingly make the most 
appropriate choice. There is limited scope elsewhere around the school site, 
due to likely loss of open space and playing fields. 

6.6 The applicant has also put forward other beneficial aspects which would flow 
from the development, which they consider public benefits. The school 
estimates, based on a ‘calculator’ by Oxford Economics and the Independent 
Schools Council, that directly and indirectly the school supports over 650 jobs 
locally; contributes over £23m of GDP to the local economy (0.35% of the area’s 
total); and saves the UK taxpayer over £7m a year by reducing the number of 
pupils in state education. 

6.7 The school also has many established local community partnerships, where 
students and staff build relationships with a wide variety of other local schools, 
charities, leisure and arts facilities in and around the town, all contributing to 
social cohesion. This has resulted in contribution to Air Quality Monitoring 

Page 103



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

projects, for example. The latter has received the recognition of professional 
scientists, who are considering the potential for engaging schools in further 
research nationally and internationally. The school also shares its leisure 
facilities with the local community, such as the sport centre; theatre; swimming 
pool etc.  In your officer’s view, securing the future viability of the school’s 
income by attracting students via the higher quality accommodation, contributes 
significantly to sustaining and increasing these wider public benefits.

6.8 Having regard to all these identified public benefits, the development will 
ultimately secure more modern accommodation for students, and the enhanced 
functionality and management of the schools boarding accommodation. It will 
provide a high quality and environmentally aware building; of a high-quality 
design, which some weight is attached. From these benefits, this will aid in 
future proofing the school and attract students securing its long term economic 
commercial viability. In turn, this will ensure that significant public benefits from 
the school are enhanced and continue to flow from the site. Whilst your officers 
give great weight to the conservation of the identified heritage assets, the 
combination of the public benefits of the proposal and the great weight attached 
to expanding and altering the school as a valued community and educational 
facility, would outweigh the identified ‘less than substantial harm’ to the 
designated heritage assets and the harm to the non-designated assets.

6.9 It is also acknowledged there is some conflict with the development plans 
heritage policies. Overall, however, your officers are of the view that the 
principle of development of the school would accord with the development plan 
when taken as a whole and the public benefits and other material considerations 
identified outweigh the heritage harm identified. Therefore, it is recommended 
that the application is approved, subject to the conditions noted at the start of 
this report.

7.0 The following development plan planning policies have been 
taken into account:

7.1 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 policies (LPP1);
CP01  -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CP03  -  Settlement Hierarchy
CP08  -  Spatial Strategy for Abingdon-on-Thames and Oxford Fringe Sub-Area
CP33  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility
CP35  -  Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness
CP39  -  The Historic Environment
CP40  -  Sustainable Design and Construction
CP42  -  Flood Risk
CP43  -  Natural Resources
CP44  -  Landscape
CP45  -  Green Infrastructure
CP46  -  Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity
CP47  -  Delivery and Contingency

7.2 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 policies (LPP2);

Page 104



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

CP08A  -  Additional Site Allocations for Abingdon-on-Thames and Oxford 
Fringe Sub-Area
CP47A  -  Delivery and Contingency
DP08  -  Community Services and Facilities
DP21  -  External Lighting
DP23  -  Impact of Development on Amenity
DP24  -  Effect of Neighbouring or Previous Uses on New Developments
DP25  -  Noise Pollution
DP26  -  Air Quality
DP28  -  Waste Collection and Recycling
DP31  -  Protection of Public Rights of Way, National Trails and Open Access 
Areas
DP36  -  Heritage Assets
DP37  -  Conservation Areas
DP38  -  Listed Buildings
DP39  -  Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments

7.3

7.4

Neighbourhood Plan (NP)
It is understood that the Town Council has started the process of creating NP, 
but it is at a very early stage. The formal process as not yet started (i.e. Stage 1 
– designation of the plan area), as such, carries no eight at this time. 

Supplementary Planning Guidance/documents 
Vale of White Horse Design Guide 2015 (VoWHDG)

7.5 Other relevent guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF)

Historic England guidance notes 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)
- Historic Environment 

7.6 The following legislation and case law has been taken into account;
 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (amended)
 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
 Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)
 (England) Order 2015 (amended)
 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990
 Community & Infrastructure Levy Legislation
 Human Rights Act 1998
 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010
 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998
 Barnwell Manor Wind Farm Limited v East Northamptonshire District 

Council and Others [2014] EWCA Civ 137
 R (on the application of Forge Field Society) v Sevenoaks District Council 

[2014] EWHC 1895 (Admin)

Page 105



Vale of White Horse District Council – «REPORT_NAME» - «REPORT_DATE»

2

Case Officer: Luke Veillet – Senior Planning Officer 
Email: planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
Tel: 01235 422600

Page 106



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

MASTER PLAN 2019
ABINGDON SCHOOL

30-April-2019

Appendix 1

P
age 107



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Contents
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 02 - 30-April-2019

CONTENTS

Introduction.................................................................................................3
Master Plan 2011.......................................................................................4
Conservation  Plan........................................................................................5
Planning Statement....................................................................................6
Existing Site Plan / Analysis........................................................................8
Strategic  Diagram............... ........................................................................9
Projects.......................................................................................................10
Master Plan 2019  /  Conclusion.................................................................17

P
age 108



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Introduction
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 03 - 30-April-2019

4

1

3

2

6

5

7

8

10

11
12

13

14

15 16

17

18

19

20
Park Lodge / School Reception
Administration
Design Technology
Admissions
Mercers’ Court
Beech Court
Amey Theatre
Jekyll Garden
Cafe
Greening Court
Chapel / Charles Maude Room (CMR)
Big School
Lower School
School House
Avernus
Dining Hall
Austin House
Activities Centre
Sports Centre
Crescent House
Learning Support / EFL
Health Centre / Whitefield
Yang Science Centre
Faringdon Lodge

4

1

3
2

6
5

7
8

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

9

9

22
23
24

21
22

23 24

War Memorial
Field

Waste Court
Field

Upper Field

Sports
Centre

Park Lodge
Reception

OX14 1DE

Faringdon Lodge
Reception OX14 1BQ

Lower Field

Exit 
Only

Visitor
Parking

Tilsley Park
Sports Facilities
5 minutes by car -

OX14 1PU

15 minutes by car

Abingdon Prep School OX13 5NX
and Cox’s Field OX13 6QL

Tennis
Courts

Coach
Park

Roysse’s
Alley

BA
TH

 S
TR

EE
T

WOOTT
ON RD

FARINGDON ROAD

CONDUIT ROAD

PARK ROAD

PARK CRESCENT

PARK

CRESCENT

Introduction

In 2011 MEB Design, Chartered Architects, completed a Master 
Plan for Abingdon School, in conjunction with Kemp & Kemp 
(now Carter Jonas), Planning Consultants. Kemp & Kemp also 
produced a Planning Statement and Asset Heritage Consulting 
were commissioned to produce a Conservation Appraisal of the 
school site, within the context of the Albert Park Conservation 
Area. These documents became the basis for the building 
developments that took place on the site between 2011 and 
2019.

In January 2019 MEB Design was again appointed to update 
the school’s Master Plan, and this report has been produced 
in conjunction with Carter Jonas, Planning Consultants. Asset 
Heritage Consulting have provided an updated Conservation 
Appraisal, the conclusion of which is included on the following 
pages.

Scope
The scope and range of this study has been kept deliberately 
narrow, short and focused on the main School site. Abingdon 
Prep School, Tilsley Park and the Boathouse are excluded 
from this study. The projects outlined are all needed and are 
all under real consideration by the school. Potentially they 
could be completed in a relatively short timescale. To simplify 
the scope of the report, the new Faringdon Lodge building, 
which already has Planning Approval, has been included as 
a “completed” project. Although on the Site Plan Analysis, 
sixteen possible sites and buildings have been identified for 
development, only seven projects are considered in detail 
within this study. Indicative timing for these projects is 
considered briefly at the end of this report.

School Site Plan

P
age 109



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Existing Master Plan 2011
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 04 - 30-April-2019

Master Plan 2011

List of Completed Projects:

2015: Yang Science Centre (Planning Ref: P12/V2373/FUL)

2017: MUSA (Planning Ref: P16/V0741/FUL )

2017: MUSA Pavilion (Planning Ref: P17/V0945/FUL)

2017: Cricket Training Facility (Planning Ref: P17/V0071/FUL)

2018: Beech Court & Bath Street Access (Planning Ref:P16/
V2529/FUL & P16/V1801/FUL)

2019: Faringdon Lodge (Planning Ref: P18/V2481/FUL)*

*To be built

Illustration of Faringdon Lodge.

View of Yang Science Centre.

View of Beech Court.

2011 Master PlanAerial View of School

P
age 110



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Conservation Plan
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 05 - 30-April-2019

Conservation Plan
Following various developments at the school since the 2011 Master Plan, Asset 
Heritage carried out an update to their Conservation Appraisal (see extract of the 
summary below). Further to this MEB Design has updated the Conservation Area 
Zones drawing to reflect the revised boundaries (see opposite).

Conservation Appraisal Summary and Conclusion
(extract from Asset Heritage Conservation Appraisal) 

The grounds of Abingdon School form a valuable part of the character and 
appearance of the Albert Park Conservation Area, to which where they are visible 
(or at least perceptible) from the public realm, they make a generally positive 
contribution.

Following the descriptive overview and assessment of the school site and 
surrounding area in Section 2.0 of this report, Section 3.0 makes the case that 
any published Character Appraisal of the conservation area would be correct in 
identifying the school site as a distinct ‘character zone’, which notwithstanding its 
relationship with the surrounding area, nevertheless has a special and distinctive 
quality of its own.

This accords with current Historic England policy and guidance on describing and 
analyzing the character and appearance of conservation areas and assessing their 
significance in heritage terms, resulting in an approach where each character zone 
can be broken down into a series of sub-zones, each of which has its own distinct 
quality and appearance and is also likely to vary in terms of individual and relative 
heritage significance.

In this regard it is certainly worth noting that, while it does not apply to all parts of 
the school site, some of the individual sub-zones are discrete from others, either 
blocks of building or planting (or a combination of the two) effectively screening 
one sub-zone from another.

This means that in some areas what happens on one part of the school site 
(including built development) would have little or no impact on another and should 
therefore be seen and understood in that context.

Thus, while the importance of the school site as a whole is beyond dispute, it is 
equally clear that some parts of the site have more ‘heritage significance’ than 
others and will consequently have less ‘capacity for change’ than those areas 
identified as being of lower heritage value.

Finally, and as noted in the Introduction, it is worth emphasizing that the approach 
taken in this report is consistent with the advice at paragraph 200 of the NPPF that 
‘Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development 
within Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of 
heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that 
preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive contribution to the 
asset (or which better reveal its significance) should be treated favourably’, as well 
as the advice in the following 201 that ‘Not all elements of a Conservation Areas or 
World Heritage Site will necessarily contribute to its significance’.

It is in this context that the new masterplan proposals are being developed.

SMP

58.30
FH

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58.30
FH

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

LP

VPVP

AMEY 
THEATRE

LACIES 
COURT

GREENING COURT

BIG SCHOOL

ADMIN HUB

RECEPTION

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SPORTS CENTRE

SCIENCE CENTRE

BEECH COURT

KITCHEN /
DINING

FARINGDON 
LODGE

CAR
PARK

MERCERS' COURT

WAR 
MEMORIAL 
PAVILION

MAINTENANCE 
AREA

CAFE

WHITEFIELD 
HEALTH 
CENTRE

AUSTIN 
HOUSE

(GII)

BATH STREET

PARK ROAD

PARK CRESEN
T

PARK CRESEN
T

FARINGDON LANE 

ROYSSE'S LANE

DESIGN TECHNOLOGY

CRESCENT
HOUSE

LEARNING 
SUPPORT

SCHOOL HOUSE

8

2

9

3

15

11

No. 1
Bostock 

Road

GLYNDOWR

COBBAN 
HOUSE

4
5

6

7

1

12

13

14

16RUDDS'S 
COTTAGE

HEYLINS

COACH 
HOUSE17

10

HIGH CONSERVATION IMPORTANCE

NEUTRAL CONSERVATION IMPORTANCE

1. Big School
2. Park Lodge & Park Road Properties
3. Lacies Court
4. Austin Court (Originally called Waste Court)
5. Albert Park Villa's
12. Waste Court Field
13. Upper Field
14. Lower Field

6. Amey Theatre & Mercers' Court
7. Sports Centre
15. MUSA
17. Outbuildings

LOW CONSERVATION IMPORTANCE
8. Greening Court & Beech Court
9. Science Centre & Coach Park
10. Faringdon Lodge 
16. Rudd's Cottage

SCHOOL LAND OUTSIDE CONSERVATION AREA
11. War Memorial Playing Field

2019 Conservation Area Zones

P
age 111



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Planning Statement
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 06 - 30-April-2019

Planning Statement
By Carter Jonas

Planning Policy Context

Since the publication of the Abingdon School Masterplan in October 2011, there have been various 
changes to the planning policy framework relevant to consideration of development proposals 
on the various sites under the ownership and control of the School. Key among these changes is 
the adoption, in December 2016, of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1; and thereafter 
in July 2012 with updates in July 2018 and more recently in February 2019 the publication of the 
Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF”). 

In addition, the Vale of White District Council (“the Council”) has produced a new draft Local Plan 
Part 2031 Part 2 (“the emerging Local Plan”) which, once it has been adopted, will replace the 
current Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011. 

The National Planning Policy Framework

The revised National Planning Practice Framework was published in February 2019 and sets out 
the Government’s planning policies for England. The NPPF at paragraph 7 states that the purpose 
of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. Paragraph 
8 states that there are three overarching aims to sustainable development: economic, social 
and environmental, which give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of 
objectives: 

• An economic objective – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy;
• A social objective – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of the present and future generations; and 
• An environmental objective – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built 
and historic environment.

Paragraph 8 makes it clear that those roles should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are 
mutually dependant.

The NPPF also highlights the importance of good design with paragraph 124 stating that: “Good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work 
and helps make development acceptable to communities.”

Section 16 in the NPPF is concerned with conserving and enhancing the historic environment and 
under that heading, paragraph 185 sets out that plans should set out a positive strategy for the 
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment. Paragraph 189 requires that applications 
should describe the significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal, including 
any contribution made by their setting. Paragraph 190 stipulates that the particular significance 
of any heritage asset may be affected by a proposal should be identified and should be taken into 
account when considering the impact of a proposal. Paragraph 193 goes on to state: 

“When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important 
the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.”

National Planning Practice Guidance

The NPPG is a web based resource providing information on various topic areas. Over 150 
documents have been cancelled by the publication of the NPPG including Technical Guidance 
and Circulars as it provides extensive guidance on a wide range of technical issues such as water 
quality, air quality, noise and technology.

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011
The Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 (“the adopted Local Plan”) was adopted in 2006. Some of 
its policies are now out of date; others have been ‘saved’ and remain part of the development plan . 

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031: Part 1
The Local Plan 2031 Part 1: Strategic Sites and Policies was adopted in full in December 2016.  The 
Local Plan sets out a vision for how the Vale should develop and grow including where new houses 
should be built, where new jobs should be placed, and what infrastructure will be needed to 
support them. 

The Local Plan has identified housing requirement across the district for at least 20,560, 12,495 
of which, have been allocated within the Local Plan Part 1. The allocated distribution of dwellings 
across the district is demonstrated below: 

• Abingdon-on-Thames and Oxford Fringe Sub-Area: 1,790 dwellings

• South East Vale Sub-Area: 9,055 dwellings

• Western Vale Sub-Area: 1,650 dwellings

Vale of White Horse Local Plan Part 2: Detailed Policies and Additional Sites

The Local Plan Part 2 complements the Local Plan Part 1 and sets out policies and locations for 
housing in the district. The Vale of White Horse District Council submitted the Local Plan 2031 Part 
2: Detailed Policies and Additional Sites to the Secretary of State on Friday 23 February 2018 for 
independent examination.

Whilst its policies at the current time have limited weight, this weight will increase as the Plan 
progresses towards adoption.

Vale of White Horse Design Guide SPD

The Vale of White Horse adopted a new Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document in 2015. 
The new Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out principles and guidance 
applying to all sizes and types of development to ensure that schemes will be designed to a high 
quality. It is a material consideration in the determination of planning applications and appeals. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (“CIL”)

The Vale of White Horse District Council is a Charging Authority for the purposes of Part 11 of the 
Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and may therefore charge the CIL in respect of development in its 
administrative area. 

P
age 112



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Abingdon School

In the period since 2011 when the School adopted its current masterplan, a number of planning 
permissions have been secured; most notably, the Yang Science Centre, the Sixth Form Centre of a 
three-storey education building (Beech Court) and Faringdon Lodge. 

The School site falls within a Conservation Area and is adjacent to Albert Park, which is a Registered 
Park and Garden. Accordingly, the most relevant Local Plan Policies include Core Policies 39 and 40 
as well as ‘saved’ Local Plan Policies are historic environment Policies HE1 and HE8.

Core Policy 39 seeks to ensure that new development conserves and where possible, enhances, 
heritage assets and their setting and to encourage a better understanding of the significance of 
scheduled monuments and Conservation Areas.

Core Policy 40 states that all new development, including building conversions, refurbishments and 
extensions, should seek to incorporate climate change adaptation and design measures.

‘Saved’ Policy HE1 states that development affecting a Conservation Area must be shown to 
preserve or enhance the established character or appearance of the area.

‘Saved’ Policy HE8 states that proposals for development within or in the setting of an historic park 
or garden will only be permitted where they conserve and cause no significant harm to the historic 
character of the site, and the features of special interest it possesses.

Waste Court is a Grade II Listed Building (called Austin House by the School) and therefore, 
development proposals must have regard to its setting. Listed Building consent will also be 
required for developments directly affecting Waste Court.

Currently, there are no planning restrictions (by way for example of a s106 Planning Obligation) on 
pupil numbers at the School. 

Permitted Development

There are certain works that can be carried out without an express grant of planning permission. 
These are detailed in the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015, which came into force on 15th April 2015. Class M, Schedule 2, Part 7 of the Order 
relates inter alia to education premises and permits:

“The erection, extension or alteration of a school, college, university or hospital building”.
Development is not permitted by Class M - 
(a) if the cumulative gross floor space of any buildings erected, extended or altered would 
exceed—

(i) 25% of the gross floor space of the original school, college, university or hospital buildings; 
or
(ii) 100 square metres, whichever is the lesser;

(b) if any part of the development would be within 5 metres of a boundary of the curtilage of the 
premises;
(c) if, as a result of the development, any land used as a playing field at any time in the 5 years 
before the development commenced and remaining in this use could no longer be so used;
(d) if the height of any new building erected would exceed 5 metres;
(e) if the height of the building as extended or altered would exceed - 

(i) if within 10 metres of a boundary of the curtilage of the premises, 5 metres; or
(ii) in all other cases, the height of the building being extended or altered;

(f) if the development would be within the curtilage of a listed building; or
(g) unless -

(i) in the case of school, college or university buildings, the predominant use of the existing 
buildings on the premises is for the provision of education;
(ii) in the case of hospital buildings, the predominant use of the existing buildings on the 
premises is for the provision of any medical or health services.

It is also relevant to point out that internal works to unlisted buildings do not require planning 
permission.

Conclusion

Section 38(6) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and section 70(2) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require that applications and appeals are determined in accordance 
with the Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this instance, 
the Development Plan comprises the Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Sites and Properties and ‘saved’ 
policies in the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011. The emerging Local Plan 2031 Part 2 will 
become part of the Development Plan at the point at which it is adopted. For the time being 
therefore, Development Plan proposals on any of the sites under the ownership or control of the 
School will be determined in accordance with policies in the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 and Local Plan 
2011 ‘saved’ policies unless it is clear that those policies are out of date and have been superseded 
by, for example, the NPPF, which is a material consideration for the purposes of the afore-
mentioned Acts.  

Planning Statement
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 07 - 30-April-2019

P
age 113



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

SMP

58.30
FH

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58.30
FH

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

LP

VPVP

AMEY 
THEATRE

LACIES 
COURT

GREENING COURT

BIG SCHOOL

ADMIN HUB

RECEPTION

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SPORTS CENTRE

SCIENCE CENTRE

BEECH COURT

KITCHEN /
DINING

FARINGDON 
LODGE

CAR
PARK

MERCERS' COURT

WAR 
MEMORIAL 
PAVILION

MAINTENANCE 
AREA

CAFE

WHITEFIELD 
HEALTH 
CENTRE

AUSTIN 
HOUSE

(GII)

BATH STREET

PARK ROAD

North

VISUAL SCALE 1:2500  @ A3

250m50m 200m150m100m0m

PARK CRESEN
T

PARK CRESEN
T

FARINGDON LANE 

ROYSSE'S LANE

DESIGN TECHNOLOGY

CRESCENT
HOUSE

LEARNING 
SUPPORT

SCHOOL HOUSE

10
8

2

9

3

15

11

No. 1
Bostock 

Road

GLYNDOWR

COBBAN 
HOUSE

4
5

6
7

1

12

13

14

16

RUDDS'S 
COTTAGE

HEYLINS

COACH 
HOUSE

17 18 19

POSSIBLE DEVELOPMENT SITES

POSSIBLE REFURBISHMENT SITES

1. War Memorial Playing Field

2. War Memorial Pavilion

3. Rear of Whitefields

4. Rear of Glyndowr

5. Tennis Courts

6. Rear of Cobban House

7. Rear of Cresent House

8. Sports Centre

9. Corner of Waste Court Field

10. Austin House (Originally called Waste Court)

11. Lacies Court Garden

12. Mercers' Court

13. Lower Field

14. Existing Dining Hall

15. Existing Design and Technology 

16. Existing Shooting Range

17. Whitefields

18. Glyndowr

19. Cobban House

Possible / internal modifications 
to existing buildings (e.g. 
reconfiguration of Health Centre 
currently located in Whitefields).

Existing Site Plan / Analysis
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 08 - 30-April-2019

Existing Site Plan / Analysis

P
age 114



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Strategic Diagram
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 09 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

LP

VPVP

Sports

Science

Boarding Boarding

Teaching Core

Arts

Boarding

Dining

Strategy

In establishing the Master Plan concept for the school site 
in 2011 a “linked node” or “spider” diagram was developed, 
whereby different school uses were zoned and positioned 
/ linked appropriately. As the school and the strategy have 
developed some of the zones and uses have been adjusted 
and the “shape” of the school has changed. Therefore, for this 
version of the Master Plan the school is considered as arranged 
around two broad sweeping “arcs” whereby a site entrance is 
established at either end and school uses are positioned off 
each arc. Each arc represents a route through the school and 
important academic and pastoral uses are still zoned along 
each arc, with a central “teaching core” in the middle.

P
age 115



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Boarding House, Crescent House
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 10 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

LP

VPVP

LP

VPVP

SCIENCE CENTRE
FARINGDON 

LODGE

CRESCENT
HOUSE

GLYNDOWR

COBBAN 
HOUSE

Planning & Conservation Statement

The development of boarding accommodation to the rear of Crescent House will 
need to be cognisant of the Conservation Area in which it sits. The gaps between 
the houses are viewed as part of the character of the Conservation Area and 
thus need to be maintained. The views from Park Crescent are crucial in the 
consideration of development to the rear. The Yang Science Centre is located to 
the rear which is a building of greater scale than Crescent House and as such the 
scale of new buildings in this space need to reflect the scale of the surroundings.

View of rear garden of Crescent House looking towards Science Centre.

View of Crescent House from Park Crescent.

View to the rear garden of Crescent House.

Description

• Upgrade and modernise the boarding accommodation for pupils.

• Improve facilities for dayboys in these combined day/boarding houses

• Ensure boarding provision is ‘fit for future’.

• Approximately 1200sqm of new build required.

Projects: Boarding House, Crescent House

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 116



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Boarding House, Austin House
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 11 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

GREENING COURT

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SPORTS CENTRE

BEECH COURT

AUSTIN 
HOUSE

(GII)

ROYSSE'S LANE

Planning & Conservation Statement

Austin House is a Grade II listed building and as such any neighbouring 
development would need to ensure that the setting of the building is not adversely 
affected. There are a number of unsympathetic extensions to the building which 
could be considered for removal / redevelopment. The site is also within the 
Conservation Area and such the character of the Conservation Area needs to be 
given due consideration when designing any development. It is expected that any 
development would be similar in scale and height to the existing Austin House. 

View of existing gap between Austin House and the Coach House.

View of Austin House extension and the Coach House.

View of existing Austin House extension.

Description

• Upgrade and modernise the boarding accommodation for pupils.

• Improve facilities for dayboys in these combined day/boarding houses

• Ensure boarding provision is ‘fit for future’.

• Approximately 1000sqm of new build required.

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

Projects: Boarding House, Austin House (formerly called Waste Court)

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 117



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Sports Centre
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 12 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

0006
60.97

GREENING COURT

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SPORTS CENTRE

BEECH COURT

AUSTIN 
HOUSE

(GII)

ROYSSE'S LANE

Description

• Extend the existing Sports Centre to provide additional internal space for core 
sports and ‘Other Half’ activities.

• Reflects changing dynamics away from collision sports.

• Creation of 4 badminton courts. 

• Additional changing room capacity needed.

• Approximately  1400sqm extension.

Planning & Conservation Statement

The Sport Centre is a modern building that has been successfully integrated 
into the Conservation Area. The proposed extension is expected to be located 
on the south west corner of the building filling in a gap in the L shaped building. 
The extension will take up a small area of the sports fields, although none of the 
pitches will be affected. The building should be in keeping with the character of 
the sports centre to ensure that it does not adversely affect the character of the 
conservation area.

View of existing Sports Centre from South West.

View of existing Sports Centre from North West.

View of existing Sports Centre from West.

Projects: Sports Centre

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 118



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Dining Hall
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 13 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

SMP

58.33
WM

SV
Gas

GREENING COURT

BIG SCHOOL

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SPORTS CENTRE

BEECH COURT

CAFE

AUSTIN 
HOUSE

(GII)

ROYSSE'S LANE

Description

• Creation of new dining hall to allow for better management of lunchtimes.

• New track for service access along the southern boundary of Waste Court Field.

• Approximately 1000sqm building.

Planning & Conservation Statement

The dining hall introduces development into the southern part of the sports 
field but as with the sports centre extension does not affect the sports pitches. 
The development along the southern boundary will not affect the overall 
open character of the open space in this part of the Conservation Area. Any 
development would need to consider the impact it has on the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area. 

View of Waste Court Field.

View of seating area in existing Dining Hall.

View of existing Dining Hall.

Projects: Dining Hall

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 119



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Rowing Tank & Cricket Pavilion
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 14 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

0006
60.97

LP

0006
60.97

LP

FIRST XV RUGBY PITCH

SCIENCE CENTRE
FARINGDON 

LODGE

WAR 
MEMORIAL 
PAVILION

FARINGDON LANE 

View of precedent rowing tank at Radley College.

View to War Memorial Pavilion entrance road/ track

View to War Memorial Pavilion entrance from edge of playing field.

Description

• Creation of a combined rowing tank and cricket pavilion.

• Would enable rowers to improve technique and train more efficiently. It will also 
allow the beginners’ experience to be accelerated.

• Improvement of existing 1st XI cricket pavilion.

• Approximately 350sqm building.

Planning & Conservation Statement

The proposed rowing tank and cricket pavilion north of Faringdon Road are 
located outside of the Conservation Area with Faringdon Road being the northern 
boundary. The mature hedge along the southern boundary of the sports pitches 
visually and physically separates them from Faringdon Road and the Conservation 
Area to the south and as such the design of the rowing tank and cricket pavilion do 
not need to be considerate of the Conservation Area. The mature trees in the area 
might steer development in to a particular location. 

Projects: Rowing Tank & Cricket Pavilion

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 120



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Mercers’ Court Extension
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 15 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

AMEY 
THEATRE

LACIES 
COURT

GREENING COURT

ADMIN HUB

RECEPTION

BEECH COURT

MERCERS' COURT

CAFE

PARK ROAD

DESIGN TECHNOLOGY

RUDDS'S 
COTTAGE

HEYLINS

Description

• Creation of a new Reading Room and Entrance for the Languages Building.

• Develops the eastern circulation route.

• Provides a literary identity to the Languages Building.

• Single storey extension with internal configurations.

Planning & Conservation Statement

The extension to Mercers’ Court is small scale compared to the other 
developments at the Campus. The development is within the Conservation Area 
and as such the character of the development needs to consider the impact on the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. The extension should take 
account of the design of the existing building. 

View of existing garden to rear of Mercers’ Court.

View of existing entrance to Mercers’ Court garden.

View of existing garden to rear of Mercers’ Court.

Projects: Mercers’ Court Extension

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 121



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Projects: Design and Technology Refurbishment
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 16 - 30-April-2019

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

SMP

58. 30
FH

58. 33WM

SVG as

0006
60. 97

LP

VPVP

AMEY 
THEATRE

ADMIN HUB

RECEPTION

MERCERS' COURT

CAFE

DESIGN TECHNOLOGY

RUDDS'S 
COTTAGE

HEYLINS

Description

• Reconfigure internal space, including removal of roof’s internal truss structure, 
to more efficiently use existing space.

• Add lobby/conservatory to front of building.

• Create three teaching zones, each suitable for GCSE and A level teaching.

• Possibly add fourth teaching zone in roof (6th form).

• Maintain satellite room for Design and Technology in Amey Theatre.

Planning & Conservation Statement

Due to the changes being primarily internal there are no conservation or planning 
issues for consideration here. 

View of existing Design and Technology department internally.

View of existing Design and Technology department entrance.

View of Design and Technology building from Bath Street.

Projects: Design and Technology Refurbishment

Position on Overall Site

Site Detail

3D Massing View

P
age 122



MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects

Master Plan 2019, Conclusion
Abingdon School, Master Plan 2019

Page 17 - 30-April-2019

Conclusion

In conclusion, a great deal has been achieved since 2011 and 
that Master Plan remains the basis for much of the proposed 
work in this Master Plan. This updated 2019 Master Plan 
now sets out a way ahead for the next few years. A new site 
Conservation Appraisal has been carried out to refresh and 
update the heritage analysis based on the site as it is now, and 
the Planning Statement has been updated with corresponding 
commentary for each proposed project. That is the context in 
which all of the projects in this report are considered, as well as 
the school’s brief and identified and actual needs.

Indicative Timing

The projects described on the preceding pages are set out, 
broadly, in their order of priority, but exact timescales are 
still to be confirmed and may be subject to change. The first 
projects, for which some design work and Planning Pre-
Application Advice has already been sought, are the new 
Boarding Houses. These are intended to be developed and 
built over the next 2 – 3 years. After these, the Sports Centre 
extension and relocated Dining Hall could be built within 
5 years, with the Cricket Pavilion / Rowing Tank and other 
projects following on after this.

P
age 123



All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

C0-10

Locker Room

House Kitchen/

Duty Master/

C0-06

Cleaners

C0-02

Stair 1

C0-11

Music Practice

EC0-08

Lobby

C0-18

Double Bedroom

C0-19

Double Bedroom

C0-22

Double Bedroom

C0-20

Double Bedroom

C0-25

Shwr 

C0-26

Shwr 

C0-14

Lounge Room

C0-07

Laundry/Boot Room

C0-24

Single Bedroom

C0-23

Single Bedroom

C0-17

Study Room

C0-08

Tank Room

C0-05

Plant Room

C0-27

DDA WCC0-28

WC

C0-01

Entrance

C0-15

Matrons Office

C0-09

Day Social Room

C0-31

Lobby

C0-12

6th Form Social

C0-04

Lift

C0-03

Stair 2

C0-32

Cleaners

C0-16

AHM's Office

EC0-07

HM Kitchen/Dining

EC0-03

HM Pantry

EC0-02

HM WC

EC0-04

HM Utility Room

EC0-06

HM Snug

EC0-05

HM Living

CH-05

AHM Kitchen

CH-04

AHM Dining

CH-02

AHM WC

EC0-01

HM Study

CH-11

AHM Stair

C0-29

Corridor 1

C0-30

Corridor 2

CH-12

AHM Entrance

CH-03

AHM Living

H
o
u
s
e

m
a
s
te
r
 S
id

e

P
r
iv

a
te
 A

s
s
is
ta

n
t 

H
ou
se

m
as
te
r 
S
id
e

Pr
iv
at
e 

A
ss
is
ta
n
t 

B
o
a
r
d
in

g
 S
id

e

B
oa
rd
in
g
 S
id
e

N

24/07/2020

690-15-201

1:100 @ A1

P5

15/11/19P1 First Issue

Crescent House - Level 0 Plan

P2 22/11/19 Layout Amended

02/12/19P3 General Update

Staff Areas

Circulation

Stores/ Plant

Showers, Baths and WCs

(Private)

Staff Acommodation

Social and Study Areas

Bedrooms

06/12/19P4 General Update

24/07/20P5 Design Amendement

Demolishion

New Construction

Appendix 2

P
age 124



All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

C1-39

AHM Master Bedroom

C1-41

AHM Bedroom 2

C1-40

AHM Bedroom 1

C1-43

AHM Bathroom

C1-24

Single Bdrm

C1-42

AHM Stair

C1-26

Single Bdrm

C1-47

Stair 1

C1-02

Lift

C1-34

Shwr

C1-31

Shwr

C1-38

Corridor 2

C1-36

Clnr

C1-25

Single Bdrm

C1-22

Single Bdrm

C1-21

Single BdrmC1-37

Corridor 1
C1-23

Single Bdrm

C1-20

Single Bdrm

C1-19

Single Bdrm

C1-32

WC

C1-33

WC

C1-04

Lounge Room

C1-30

Shwr

C1-29

Shwr

C1-14

Single Bdrm

C1-13

Single Bdrm

C1-12

Single Bdrm

C1-11

Single Bdrm

C1-44

Corridor 3

C1-18

Single Bdrm

C1-17

Single Bdrm

C1-16

Single Bdrm

C1-15

Single Bdrm

C1-03

Lounge Room

C1-45

Corridor 4

C1-28

Shwr

C1-27

Shwr
C1-10

Single Bdrm

C1-09

Single Bdrm

C1-06

Double Bedroom

C1-05

Double Bedroom

C1-07

Single Bdrm

C1-08

Single Bdrm

C1-35

Clnr

EC1-09

HM Lobby

EC1-08

HM Store

EC1-07

HM Bathroom

EC1-06

HM Shower

EC1-02

HM Bedroom 1

EC1-01

Store

EC1-05

HM Master Bedroom

EC1-03

HM Bedroom 2

EC1-04

HM Bedroom 3

C1-46

Storage

C1-01

Stair 2

B
o
a
r
d
in

g
 S
id

e

H
o
u
s
e

m
a
s
te
r
 S
id

e

P
r
iv

a
te
 A

s
s
is
ta

n
t 

N

690-15-202

1:100 @ A1

P5

15/11/19P1 First Issue

Crescent House - Level 1 Plan

24/07/2020

22/11/19P2 Layout Amended

P3 02/12/19 General Update

Staff Areas

Circulation

Stores/ Plant

Showers, Baths and WCs

(Private)

Staff Acommodation

Social and Study Areas

Bedrooms

P4 06/12/19 General Update

Demolishion

New Construction

P5 24/07/20 General Update

P
age 125



All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

EC2-01

Triple Bedroom

EC2-05

WC

EC2-06

WC

EC2-04

Bath + Shower

EC2-07

Store

EC2-03

Double Bedroom

EC2-08

Store

EC2-02

Triple Bedroom

C2-04

Stair 1

C2-11

Single Bdrm

C2-08

Single Bdrm C2-03

Corridor 3

C2-12

Single Bdrm

C2-09

Single Bdrm

C2-13

Single Bdrm

C2-10

Single Bdrm

C2-02

Corridor 2

C2-24

Shwr

C2-23

Shwr

C2-22

Shwr

C2-07

Lounge Room

C2-20

Cleaners

C2-06

Lift

C2-05

Stair 2

C2-21

Storage

C2-15

Single Bdrm

C2-14

Single Bdrm

C2-01

Corridor 1

C2-17

Single Bdrm

C2-18

Single Bdrm

C2-19

Single Bdrm

C2-16

Single Bdrm

N

24/07/2020

690-15-203

1:100 @ A1

P4

15/11/19P1 First Issue

Crescent House - Level 2 Plan

Staff Areas

Circulation

Stores/ Plant

Showers, Baths and WCs

(Private)

Staff Acommodation

Social and Study Areas

Bedrooms

02/12/19P2 General Update

06/12/19P3 General Update

Demolishion

New Construction

24/07/20P4 Design Amendement

P
age 126



Red Facing Brick

Textured Red Facing Brick

Grey Facing Brick

Reveal

Shading with S1 Cast Stone 

with Ventilation Panels and Solar 

Aluminium Composite Windows

Aluminium Composite Windows

Timber-Framed Glazing

Glazed Entrance/Exit Doors

Solid Metal Doors

Cast Stone

Zinc Roof

Glazed Roof Access Doors

All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

B1

B2

B3

D1

D2

G1

G2

D3

G3

Materials Key

S1

Z1

G1 G1 G1

B1

G2

S1 B3 B3

D1

Z1

B3

FFL +60.700m

FFL +63.850m

FFL +66.825m

FFL +69.45m

FFL +68.150m

+72.292m +72.355m+72.370m
+72.120m

+70.480m

+67.219m

+64.216m

G2

D1

G1

S1

G2

B1

FFL +70.85m

D2

S1

Z1

B1

G2

Z1 Z1

G1

B1

G2

B3

FFL +60.700m

FFL +63.850m

FFL +66.825m

+68.150m

+65.935m

+66.465m

G1

+70.075m

+72.355m
+72.122m

+66.800m

+72.292m

+70.850m

Z1

G1G1

B3 B3 B3 B3

B1

B1

G1G1

D1

FFL +70.85m

FFL +69.45m

FFL +68.150m

24/07/2020

690-15-210

1:100 @ A1

P4

P1 13/08/19

Elevation
WEST

2

First Issue

Crescent House - North & West Elevations

Elevation
NORTH

1

P2 03/12/19 General Update

P3 16/12/19 Graphic Amendement

P4 24/07/20 Design Amendement

P
age 127



B

A

D

C

Double Bedroom

Double Bedroom Double Bedroom

Single Bedroom Single Bedroom Shower Shower

ShowerShower

Single Bedroom Single Bedroom

Single BedroomSingle Bedroom

Single BedroomSingle Bedroom

Study Room

ShowerShower

DDA WCWC

Stair

Stair

StairLocker Room

Shower

Shower

Corridor

Corridor

Triple BedroomTriple Bedroom

HM Bedroom 3HM Bedroom 2

HM Snug HM WC
Kitchen 
Corridor HM Pantry

Trunk Store Plant

Clnr

Clnr

Basement 
Entrance

Stair

Stair

Stair

Stair

HM Stair

HM Stair

Store Corridor

HM Store HM Lobby

HM Lobby
Corridor

Trunk Store

Corridor

Corridor

Stair

Stair

Stair

All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

Roof Ridge Lvl +68.180m

Mansard Roof Ridge Lvl +70.85m

FFL +66.825m
Level 2 

FFL +63.850m
Level 1 

FFL +60.700m
Level 0 

FCL +67.04m

FCL +69.57m

FFL +60.91m
Level 0 (Ground Floor)

FCL +64m

FFL +64.27m
Level 1 (First Floor)

FFL +67.37m
Level 2 (Second Floor)

690-02-220

1:100 @ A1

P2

P1 02/12/19

24/07/2020

First Issue

Crescent House - Sections A & B

Section B
1:100

B

Section A
1:100

A

P2 24/07/20 Design Amendement

P
age 128



B

A

D

C

All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

Plant

Stair

Stair

HM Bathroom

Music PracticeCorridor

Single Bedroom Single Bedroom Single Bedroom Single Bedroom Single Bedroom Single Bedroom

Single BedroomSingle BedroomSingle BedroomSingle Bedroom

Stair

Stair

Stair

AHM Office WC
Under 
AHM 
Stair

AHM

Entrance AHM LivingDay Social Room

AHM 
Landing AHM Bedroom 2

Store

Store
+64.216m

FFL +60.70
Level 0 (Ground Floor)

FFL +63.85
Level 1 (First Floor)

FFL +66.83
Level 2 (Second Floor)

FFL +60.700m

FFL +63.850m

FFL +66.825m

690-02-221

1:100 @ A1

P2

P1 02/12/19

24/07/2020

First Issue

Section C
1:100

C

Section D
1:100

D

Crescent House - Sections C & D

P2 24/07/20 First Issue

P
age 129



T +44 (0)20 7430 2444   davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

18 Hatton Place   London   EC1N 8RU

© David Morley Architects. Do not scale off drawing. 

P:

N:

D:

S:

Abingdon School Boarding Houses

0 50m

WB

T

N

E

C

S

E
R

C
 

KRAP

Cobban House

Tennis Courts

Playing Fields

Crescent House

Outline of Crescent House Site

24/07/2020

690-15-021-P3

N

1:500@ A3

Crescent House Site Boundary Plan

P
age 130



Red Facing Brick

Textured Red Facing Brick

Grey Facing Brick

Reveal

Shading with S1 Cast Stone 

with Ventilation Panels and Solar 

Aluminium Composite Windows

Aluminium Composite Windows

Timber-Framed Glazing

Glazed Entrance/Exit Doors

Solid Metal Doors

Cast Stone

Zinc Roof

Glazed Roof Access Doors

All dimensions in millimetres unless otherwise noted. 

before commencing work.  

Check all dimensions on site and advise any discrepancies 

Do not scale off drawing. 

© David Morley Architects

Project

Client

Title

Project and Drawing Number Revision

Date Scale

Rev. Date Description

Key

Key Plan

davidmorleyarchitects.co.uk

T +44 (0)20 7430 2444 

18 Hatton Place, London, EC1N 8RU

Boarding Houses

Abingdon School

0 5m

B1

B2

B3

D1

D2

G1

G2

D3

G3

Materials Key

S1

Z1

G2

D1

G1

B1

B3

G1

G3

Z1

G1

Z1

B1

B3

G1

D1

G2

G3

G1

G2 G2 D1 G2

G2

B1

FFL +60.700m

FFL +63.850m

FFL +66.825m

+72.122m
+72.370m

+70.480m

+72.292m

+68.210m

+66.465m

+65.935m

+70.075m

+70.850m

+69.450m

+68.485m

B1

G2

G1

D3

S1 S1 S1 S1

B1

B1

S1

B1

Z1

Z1

B1

G1

S1

G1

+70.850m

+68.450m

+69.450m

+70.095m

+68.120m

B1

+67.218m

Z1

G2

G2

G1

24/07/2020

690-15-211

1:100 @ A1

P4

P1 15/11/19 First Issue

Elevation
SOUTH EAST

1

Elevation
SOUTH WEST

2

Crescent House - South-East & South-West Elevations

03/12/19P2 General Update

16/12/19P3 General Update

24/07/20P4 Design Amendement

P
age 131



Appendix 3

Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

APPLICATION NO. P20/V1279/FUL
SITE Land at Townsend Road, Shrivenham
PARISH SHRIVENHAM
PROPOSAL Redevelopment of the site to provide 10 

new dwellings (a net gain of 9 units) and 
associated parking, gardens, access 
improvements and landscaping, following 
the demolition of the existing workshops 
and bungalow. (as amended by details 
received 28 October 2020 and 4 
November 2020).

WARD MEMBER(S) Simon Howell
Elaine Ware

APPLICANT Infinity Square Developments Limited
OFFICER Hannah Wiseman

RECOMMENDATION
Planning Permission subject to the following conditions; 

Standard: 
1.   Commencement three years Full Planning Permission
2.   Approved plans 

Pre Commencement: 
3.   Details of Bicycle Parking
4.   Drainage Details (Surface Water)
5.   Drainage Details (Foul Water) 
6.   Boundary Details (fence of minimum height on north east boundary)
7.   CTMP
8.   AMS and TPP 

Prior to Occupation: 
9.   Specified Visibility Splays in accordance with plan
10. Parking & Turning in accordance with Plan
11. Thames Water upgrades 

Compliance:
12. Landscaping Scheme as approved
13. Materials in Accordance with Application details
14. Mitigations as per the submitted PEA  
15. Obscure and top hung glazing (east elevation plot 7) 
16. Informative: Works within the Highway
17. Informative: CIL: General Consent (Vale)

Page 135

Agenda Item 9

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/V1279/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application comes to committee at the request of the local ward 

councillor, Cllr Elaine Ware.

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5
            

The application site is situated to the south west of Shrivenham on the south 
side of Townsend Road, outside the main built settlement of the village. It 
adjoins an enclosed paddock area to the south and open countryside to the 
west. Immediately to the east and adjoining the site are Swan Hill garage and 
the detached dwelling, Meadow Edge. To the north side of Townsend Road a 
housing development by Bovis Homes of 116 homes is well under 
construction, almost near completion, further to planning permissions 
P15/V0663/O, P17/V0800/RM and associated applications.

The proposed site currently comprises a bungalow with swimming pool plus a 
number of outbuildings which are understood to have been used as car 
servicing/valeting workshops. These buildings are located in the north-eastern 
corner of the site. To the front of the site there is an existing access from 
Townsend Road and a large hardstanding/car park area, again believed to be 
used for the display of cars for sale. To the rear of the bungalow is an 
enclosed garden which includes mature trees. The site is also understood to 
include areas where outdoor storage has occurred. The site is also within 
Flood Zone 1 and within the Western Vale area of the Vale of White Horse 
Local Plan Part 1 2031 and the Lowland Vale landscape area of the Vale of 
White Horse Local Plan. 

The application is seeking planning permission for the redevelopment of the 
site for the erection of 10 x two storey dwellings (net gain of 9) by way of 2x  2 
pairs of 3 bed semi-detached properties, 2 x 3 bed detached and a terrace row 
of 3 x 2 beds and a further 1x 3 bed detached dwelling with associated 
parking, cycle and bin stores and landscaping. Access would be taken directly 
from the Townsend Road. 

A site location plan is below. The application plans are attached in Appendix 
1. 

Page 136



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 The full versions of the representations received can be viewed on the planning 

application pages of the council’s website, www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk

Bourton Parish Council Object- No need for the housing, density and 
character wrong and there is a need for 
commercial space. 

Shrivenham Parish 
Council 

Object- confused details, contrary to the 
development plan, no need for the housing and 
this is not an allocated site. Design not 
appropriate and does not respect the character 
of the area. Question the viability of the site and 
assumptions made in the reports. 

Neighbours 3 nearby households have raised objections to 
the proposal. The grounds for objection can be 
summarised as follows:

 Detrimental development
 Not in accordance with local plan 
 Shrivenham has enough housing 
 Fully support the objections of the Parish 

Page 137

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

council 
 The proposal represents 

overdevelopment of the site 
 Plots 3-7 will overlook side façade 
 First floor windows will overlook our 

garden 
 Will impeded on sunlight and daylight 
 Transformer pole will need to be moved 
 Highway safety 
 Inconsistencies in the application 
 A loss of provision for local employment

Countryside Officer No objection subject to conditions 

Oxfordshire County 
Council Single response

Highways – No objections- subject to conditions 

Drainage – No objections 
Forestry Team No objections- subject to conditions 

106 Infrastructure and 
Development

No objections 

Community Infrastructure 
officer & 106 Officer 

No objections

Waste Management 
Officer 

No objection 

Wales and West Utilities Gas pipe in vicinity – recommend standing 
advice and informative regarding construction 

Thames Water 
Development Control 

Initial concern regarding the capacity of the foul 
water network- contact made between the 
applicant and therefore no objections subject to 
condition. 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P19/V2164/PEM - Other Outcome (25/10/2019)

The proposal is for the redevelopment of the site to provide 6 new dwellings 
(net gain of 5 units) following the demolition of the existing unoccupied 
workshops and bungalow. 

P13/V0559/EX - Approved (02/05/2013)
Extending planning permission P10/V0090/EX for the erection of three 
dwellings and demolition of the existing garage.

P11/V1515/DIS - Approved (11/10/2011)
Request for compliance with condition for Application No: 10/02387/FUL 
condition 2

P10/V2387 - Approved (28/02/2011)
New single storey detached dwelling & associated new detached garage 
building to replace existing two storey dwelling (to be demolished).

Page 138

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/V2164/PEM
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P13/V0559/EX
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P11/V1515/DIS
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/V2387


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

P10/V0090/EX - Approved (18/03/2010)
Extending planning permission reference no SHR/115/15 for the erection of 3 
dwellings and demolition of existing garage

P07/V0114/EX - Approved (08/03/2007)
Renewal of Outline Planning Approval SHR/115/4 for the erection of three 
dwellings and demolition of existing garage.

P04/V0657/O - Approved (10/06/2004)
Outline application for residential use (3 houses). Demolition of garage.

P01/V1445 - Approved (08/11/2001)
New and relocated spray booths.

P98/V1584 - Approved (15/03/1999)
Extension of height of 2 extract/exhaust ducts from spray booths.

P95/V0502 - Approved (07/09/1995)
Erection of a single storey office extension.

P91/V0049 - Other Outcome (20/11/1991)
Application to determine whether permission to develop land is required under 
Section 51 for: 1) Servicing and repair of motor vehicles 2) repairs/paint 
spraying of motor vehicles 3) Sale of cars with appropriate equipment installed.

P91/V0048/O - Refused (20/05/1991)
Erection of 8 x 2 bedroom houses (site area 1650m2 approx).

P89/V0056/O - Approved (13/12/1989)
Demolition of derelict garage buildings and construction of a two storey office 
buildings (B1 use). Alterations of an access.

P87/V0054 - Approved (06/08/1987)
Extension to provide new spray booth and office.

P85/V0054 - Approved (07/06/1985)
Extension to two bedrooms.

P80/V0076 - Approved (09/05/1980)
Erection of spray booth building.

P78/V0065 - Approved (28/06/1978)
Erection of new sales building.

P77/V0058/O - Approved (09/01/1978)
Alterations to existing garage forecourt. Provision of new pump islands, canopy 
and sales building. Demolition of existing store. Planning Application History

Page 139

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/V0090/EX
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P07/V0114/EX
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P04/V0657/O
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P01/V1445
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P98/V1584
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P95/V0502
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P91/V0049
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P91/V0048/O
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P89/V0056/O
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P87/V0054
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P85/V0054
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P80/V0076
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P78/V0065
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P77/V0058/O


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 The proposal is under the threshold to be considered EIA development. 

5.0 MAIN ISSUES

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

Principle
Shrivenham is classed a larger village for the purposes of the settlement 
hierarchy as set out in policies CP3 and CP4 of the Local Plan part 1. Larger 
Villages are defined as settlements with a more limited range of employment, 
services and facilities. Unallocated development will be limited to providing for 
local needs and to support employment, services and facilities within local 
communities. 

There is a presumption in favour of sustainable development within the existing 
built area of these settlements. This is site is considered to be situated outside 
of the main ‘built area’ of the village, although it remains closely related. 

In these instances, policy CP4 states; ‘Development outside of the existing built 
area of these settlements will be permitted where it is allocated by the Local 
Plan 2031 Part 1 or has been allocated within an adopted Neighbourhood 
Development Plan or future parts of the Local Plan 2031. This development 
must be adjacent, or well related, to the existing built area of the settlement or 
meet exceptional circumstances set out in the other policies of the 
Development Plan and deliver necessary supporting infrastructure.’

The site has not been allocated within either the Local Plan or the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

As such, although the site is considered outside of the settlement of 
Shrivenham, paragraph 84 of the NPPF does allows for development of 
Previously Developed Land where sites are well-related to existing settlements.

Also, at paragraph 4.2.6 of the Shrivenham Neighbourhood Plan, it notes; 
“Paragraph 118a for NPPF 2019 states that significant weight should be given 
to the use of Brownfield sites within settlements and that support should be 
given to proposals to ‘remediate despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated or 
unstable land’.”

The application site includes hard-surfaced areas, the bungalow and a number 
of additional buildings and is considered to meet the definition of Previously 
Developed Land and therefore is considered a ‘brownfield’ site. The proposed 
site is well-related to the settlement, with direct access via Townsend Road and 
is close to a number of other dwellings, including the Bovis Homes site 
opposite, which is nearing completion, and remains within a clear ‘defensible’ 
edge of the village settlement. 

Taking into account the above circumstances the application for the 
redevelopment of the site for housing, is considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to the more details aspects of the proposal which will be set out further, 
below.  

Page 140



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

5.9

5.10

5.11

5.12 

Viability
The site currently has a mixed residential and commercial use. Policy CP29 of 
the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 states, ‘where there is no 
reasonable prospect of land or premises being used for continued employment 
use, a mixed use enabling development which incorporates employment space 
should first be considered. If a mixed use scheme is not viable, the extent to 
which the proposed use generates new employment will be considered in 
determining the relevant planning application. Proposals for alternative uses 
will need to demonstrate compliance with other relevant policies.’

Although the is not currently actively used for employment (or has been for 
several years), the site’s potential contribution to the local and wider economy 
must be considered, both currently and in the long term. As such the 
application has been supported with a viability assessment of the site for its 
use as a commercial site. The Council has also appointed an independent 
assessment of this appraisal. 

Both appraisals conclude that the investment required in order to develop and 
improve the site for a commercial use would not be viable in either the sale or 
rent yields of the site. The independent assessment carried out disagrees with 
some of the assumptions and methodologies used in the submitted 
assessment, however the outcome of both reports is the same, that the site 
would not be economically viable as a light industrial/commercial use.

Given this evidence, and the continued uncertainty in market conditions due 
the Covid pandemic, it is considered that the applicant has satisfactorily 
demonstrated that the site is not viable for redevelopment to a light 
industrial/commercial use and therefore it is considered the proposal is 
compliant with policy CP29 of the Local Plan part 1. 

5.13

5.14

5.15 

5.16 

Design and Layout
Policy CP37 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 states that proposals for new 
development will be required to be of a high-quality design that responds 
positively to the site and its surroundings. 

The existing bungalow currently on site with car-park/forecourt to the front is 
not particularly visually attractive and as such this application proposes an 
opportunity to enhance the character and appearance of this site. The site is 
not within one of the identified character areas within the draft Shrivenham 
Neighbourhood plan, although it is noted that it is on the edge of the settlement 
and countryside beyond. 

The proposal has undergone some amendments through the duration of the 
application, in respect of the layout of the dwellings and the interspersing of the 
parking spaces and access through the site in response to officer feedback and 
highways comments. 

The proposed dwellings are two storeys in three main house ‘types’, A, B and 
C. These are arranged in a loose ‘courtyard’ arrangement looking inward to a 

Page 141



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

5.17

5.18

5.19

5.20

5.21 

shared space and central landscaped area. A pair of semi-detached properties 
will front the Townsend Road and feature small enclosed porches, windows set 
just under the eaves line and under a pitched slate roof, with a landscaped 
front garden. 

House type B found on plot 3, 7 and 8 form as ‘bookends’ to the terrace of the 
type C and on the east elevation of the semi pair to the south west of the site. 
These feature a hipped gable end, again under grey slate roof with a red colour 
facing brick with black quoins. 

Core Policy 23 which encourages the optimum use of land where there is good 
access to services and public transport routes. Comments have been received 
in relation to the proposed density of the site; there are 10 dwellings on a site of 
0.34 hectares. The density therefore is compliant with policy CP23 as this site 
would be just under 30 dwellings per hectare.

In terms of the density in terms of character, although it is noted that the 
development to the immediate north and east of the site is typified by detached 
properties in larger plots, the character at this part of the village is now more 
varied due to the recent developments. The character to the west north/west of 
the site at Cleycourt Road and Colton Road and the newer Bovis homes site, is 
much different and higher in density, more akin to that proposed on this site. 

The applicant has provided a drawing which shows the development in context 
with the surrounding area which shows that the character of this part of the 
village has changed in recent years. 

Officers consider that the design of the site has responded to what has now 
become the local character of this part of Shrivenham and would not appear 

Page 142



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

out of character in this context. The density, design, depths of plots and the 
layout is considered acceptable in terms of Policy CP37; the landscape impacts 
will be assessed further below. 

5.22

5.23

5.24

5.25

Residential Amenity
Policy DP2 relates to space standards to ensure that sufficient space (including 
internal storage) is provided for future occupants. The properties as shown 
comply with these standards. Each property benefits from private external 
amenity space and secure cycle parking. 

Policy DP23 relates to impact of development on amenity and states that 
proposals for new development should; 

‘…demonstrate that they will not result in significant adverse impacts on the 
amenity of neighbouring uses when considering both individual and cumulative 
impacts in relation to the following factors:
i. loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight
ii. dominance or visual intrusion
iii. noise or vibration
iv. dust, heat, odour, gases or other emissions
v. pollution, contamination or the use of / or storage of hazardous substances; 
and
vi. external lighting.’ 

The nearest residential property to the application site is Meadow Edge, 
immediately east of the site. Detailed representations have been submitted by 
the occupiers of Meadow Edge who are concerned regarding the impact, 
mainly, of plots 3-7 due to overlooking and loss of privacy. 

Meadow Edge is a bungalow, whose west facing side wall is set 2.2m from the 
boundary.  There is a bedroom and a library/study window on the side 
elevation, which will be set 13m from the rear elevation of plot 3. The council’s 
minimum distance for a rear-wall-to-side-wall relationship is 12m. Currently the 
existing workshop building is set on the boundary with Meadow Edge, with a 
closed board fence in between (see photo below). The height of the fence 
precludes any direct harmful overlooking to these rooms as existing. A similar 
boundary treatment can be conditioned in this case to achieve the same level 
of privacy. 

Page 143



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

5.26

5.27

5.28

5.29

5.30 

There will be a pathway between the rear gardens of plots 3 and 4 and the 
boundary fence with Meadow Edge, to allow for the bins and bikes to be 
manoeuvred. This will leave a gap between the gardens of those plots and help 
again in limiting any overlooking at ground floor as there will be two solid 
boundary treatments between the boundaries. Also, with the workshop building 
being removed, the existing bulk of that built form will be removed from the 
boundary. 

The proposed dwellings will be two storeys, which is noted to give the 
opportunity for overlooking from the first floor windows of the new dwellings 
towards the side elevation and the rear garden of Meadow Edge which does 
not currently exist. However, in any residential setting there exists a certain 
level of mutual overlooking between properties and surveillance over both 
public and private areas, the determination needs to be whether this level of 
overlooking would be harmful to amenities to the extent which warrant refusal 
of the application. 

Plots 3-5 feature bedroom windows in the first floor of the rear elevation. These 
would lookout on to the side wall and roof of Meadow Edge. It is generally 
accepted that side facing windows cannot be protected to the same degree as 
front or rear facing windows. Officers consider the intervening boundary fencing 
will also provide some screening for the windows. Taking all this into account, 
officers consider the potential for overlooking of the two windows in Meadow 
Edge is not sufficient to qualify as harmful and does not warrant refusal.

There is a tree on the boundary (in the garden of Meadow Edge) which 
exceeds the height of the eaves of the bungalow and would obscure and 
partially block some views from plot 6 to the rear garden of Meadow Edge.

Plot 7 has been revised so that the window on the rear elevation will serve as 
bathroom and will therefore be obscure glazed, and can be conditioned to have 

Page 144



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

5.31

 

a top hung vent only for ventilation. The bedroom window will be on the south 
elevation, overlooking the fields to the south. As such there will be no harmful 
level of overlooking to the garden of Meadow Edge from this plot. 

In this case, given the orientation of the dwellings and the positioning of 
boundary treatments and the first-floor windows, it is considered that no 
harmful level of loss of privacy, light or outlook would arise as a result of this 
proposal. The proposal is therefore considered compliant with policy DP23 of 
the Local Plan part 2. 

5.32

5.33

5.34

5.35

Landscape, Trees and Visual Impact
Policy CP44 states that measures should be sought to integrate development 
into the landscape character of the area and that development should preserve 
and promote local distinctiveness and diversity. It makes clear that landscape 
features of the area (including trees) will be protected from harmful 
development.

The application is supported by a landscaping scheme and a tree protection 
plan. The Tree Officer has reviewed the proposals and has no objection 
providing conditions are imposed to ensure the tree protection measures are in 
place before work on site commences, and that the landscaping scheme is 
carried out and maintained within a specified time frame.

The site, at the southern edge is currently well-screened and contained by 
existing planting and includes mature trees. Most of this existing screening and 
mature trees are retained within the proposal. As such, the proposal is not 
considered to give rise to harm to the landscape character of the area and 
securing this by conditions, will help maintain the edge of the settlement 
character. 

Officers have visited the site recently (18/2/21), when tree and vegetation cover 
is at minimum, and consider the site still remains well enclosed and screened, 
even in Winter months, and retains a strong defensible edge to restrict any 
further development or ‘sprawl’. In addition to the Bovis site opposite, it is clear 
this has now become the established edge of the settlement, with built form set 
behind these well-established, rural boundaries. (See Picture Below) 

 

Bovis Site  ↑                                                                           Application Site ↑

Page 145



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

5.36

Taking into account these matters and the mitigation and protection measures 
proposed, the application is considered acceptable on the grounds of 
landscape and visual impact and therefore compliant with policy CP44 of the 
Local Plan 2031 part1. 

5.37

5.38

5.39

5.40

Flood Risk and drainage
The site is within Flood Zone1 and is not known for any higher than average 
instances or rates of surface water flooding. The application has been 
supported with details of a foul water drainage strategy. This notes that the site 
will have to discharge into Thames Water main sewerage, which does not 
currently have capacity to accommodate the extra usage. 

Thames Water have commented on the application and made contact with the 
applicant as upgrades will have to be made to the system before the 
development can be occupied. Thames Water are satisfied that a planning 
condition they have suggested would be sufficient in this instance. Thames 
Water cannot begin to put any proposals or actions in place until such time as 
there is a valid planning consent. In essence, this would be a matter to be 
resolved between the applicant and Thames Water, pre commencement of the 
development, but post decision. 

The County Council as the Local Lead Flood Authority has no comment to 
make on the proposal. Officers suggest that both and Surface Water and Foul 
Water drainage pre commencement conditions are imposed to ensure these 
details are acceptable and agreed prior to any commencement on site. 

The proposal is not considered to pose a flood risk and there is an available 
mechanism (through working with Thames Water) which will accommodate the 
additional demands of the development on the local network. As such the 
proposal is considered compliant with policy CP42 of the Local Plan Part 1. 

5.41

5.42

Traffic, parking and highway safety
The County Councils’ Senior Transport Planner has commented on the 
proposal and sought additional highway information throughout the course of 
the application.

As is stands, the application has been provided with details of the parking 
layout, tracking drawings, swept paths, visibility splays and cycle parking. More 
recently speed surveys have been carried out and assessed. There are no 
overall objections to the proposal in terms of highway safety, however, at the 

Page 146



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

time of writing there are some matters that the applicant is working to clarify; 
these are 

 The plan submitted should show the pedestrian footway is raised and 
surrounded by a 125mm high kerb 

 Some form of pedestrian footway across the site via the green area to 
the north of spaces 9 should be shown, through the site

 The visibility splay to the south west (left) is 9m short of the standard; 
the speed survey shows that the speeds at this location (location B for 
the survey) are higher than 30mph. The applicant needs to provide 
details of mitigation measures (such as gateway feature) to show where 
the national speed limit reduces to 30mph. 

A verbal update on these matters will be provided at the committee meeting 
along with any additional suggested conditions. 

5.43

5.44

5.45

Biodiversity
The application has been submitted by a preliminary ecological survey and a 
further bat survey, which has confirmed there is no presence of any roosting 
bats in the buildings proposed to be demolished. Both reports make 
recommendations for proposed mitigation and enhancement; subject to a 
condition securing these enhancements, the countryside officer has no 
objections to the proposal. 

As such the application is considered compliant with policy CP46 of the Local 
Plan Part 1.

Community Infrastructure Levy
The proposal relates to the construction of new residential floorspace and 
therefore would be CIL liable at a rate (index linked) for Zone 1 per m2 of new 
floorspace over and above that to be demolished. The relevant liability notice 
would be sent out at the time of the decision. 

6.0 CONCLUSION
6.1

6.2

6.3 

It is considered the proposal makes efficient use of a brownfield site, which has 
been demonstrated to be no longer viable as a commercial site, in accordance 
with paragraph 118 of the NPPF. The proposal is of an acceptable design and 
density and will provide a number of smaller scale accommodation, as sought 
by the emerging Shrivenham Neighbourhood Plan. 

The proposal does not give rise to any harmful impacts on residential amenity, 
flood risk, highway safety or landscape and biodiversity.  The application will 
provide an opportunity for the local economy in terms of the trades, skills and 
materials which would be required during the construction phase, albeit a 
relatively short-term boost, as the economy recovers post the Covid pandemic. 

Taking into account all of the above matters which have been set out and 
assessed in the above report, the application is considered to represent and 
acceptable form of sustainable development and is compliant with policies CP3, 
CP4, CP29, CP35, CP37, CP42, CP44 and CP46 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 

Page 147



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

and policies DP2, DP16 and DP23 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 2 and is 
therefore recommended for approval subject to the conditions set out at the 
head of this report.

The following planning policies have been taken into account:

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 policies;

CP01  -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CP03  -  Settlement Hierarchy
CP04  -  Meeting Our Housing Needs
CP23 -   Housing Density
CP29  -  Change of Use of Existing Employment Land and Premises
CP35 – Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness 
CP42  -  Flood Risk
CP44  -  Landscape
CP46  -  Conservation and improvement of Biodiversity 

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 policies:

DP02  -  Space Standards
DP16  -  Access
DP23  -  Impact of Development on Amenity
DP28  -  Waste Collection and Recycling

Shrivenham Draft Neighbourhood Plan:

The publicity period on the draft Shrivenham neighbourhood plan concluded on 
1 October 2019. The proposed referendum has been postponed due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic. Only limited weight can therefore be given to the draft 
policies at this stage. 

DS1 – Settlement Gap
H1 – General requirements for development
H2 – Housing mix
H5 – Housing for elderly and younger residents
D1b – Design
D3 – Provision of support for electric vehicles
D4 – Provision of fibre to premises
P1a – Design – parking layout
P1b – Parking provision for new developments
EE1a – Employment sites
EE1c – Commercial sites
LC2 – Landscape setting
HE2a – Green environment – existing trees
HE2b – Green Environment – new planting
HE2c – Maintenance of planted areas including buffers and planting
HE3a – Hedgerows and trees

Page 148



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 March 2021

HE4a – Green and wildlife movement corridors
HE4b – Protection of biodiversity during development
HE4c – Provision of suitable habitats for indigenous wildlife
CSH3 – Requirement for a CEMO
CSH4 – Water hierarchy

Vale of White Horse Design Guide (March 2015)

National Planning Policy Framework, 2019

Planning Practice Guidance

Equality Act 2010
The application has been assessed against section 149 of the Equality Act. It is
considered that no recognised group will suffer discrimination as a result of the
proposal.

Human Rights Act, 1998
The application has been assessed against Articles 1 and 8. The impact on
individuals has been balanced against the public interest and the officer
recommendation is considered to be proportionate.

Case officer: Hannah Wiseman
Email: hannah.wiseman@southandvale.gov.uk
Tel: 01235 422600

Page 149

mailto:hannah.wiseman@southandvale.gov.uk


Appendix 1- P20/V1279/FUL- Submitted Plans 

Location Plan  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 150



Layout Plan  

 

 

 

Page 151



Landscape Plan  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 152



Combined Site Plan  

 

 

Elevations and Sections Plots 1 and 2  

 

Page 153



Elevations and section Plots 3 to 7  

Floor Plans Plots 3-7  

 

Page 154



Elevations and Roof Plan plots 8 to 10 

 

Floor Plans plots 8 to 10  

 

Page 155



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 March 2021

APPLICATION NO. P20/V2669/FUL
SITE Fourwinds, 26 Bagley Wood Road, 

Kennington, Oxford, OX1 5LY
PARISH KENNINGTON
PROPOSAL Proposed erection of a new detached 

dwelling with associated parking  and 
amenity space within curtilage of existing 
house served by a vehicular/pedestrian 
access.  External alterations to existing 
dwellinghouse 26 Bagley Wood Road. 
(Amended plans received 18 December 
2020- reducing the height of the 
boundary fence, additional levels plan)

WARD MEMBER(S) Bob Johnston
Diana Lugova

APPLICANT Mr J Lynch
OFFICER Abbie Barnes

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that authority to grant planning permission is 
delegated to the Head of Planning Services, subject to the completion of a 
section 106 agreement, and subject to the following conditions:

Standard
1. Commencement of development within three years
2. Development in accordance with approved plans

Pre-commencement
1. Details of materials to be submitted
2. Landscaping scheme submission
3. Surface water drainage
4. Foul water drainage
5. Construction traffic management plan

Pre-occupation
1. Obscure glazing to new first floor northern window
2. Obscure glazing to existing eastern dormer on existing dwelling
3. Removal of existing dormer on eastern elevation on existing 

dwelling
4. Car parking in accordance with approved plan
5. Boundary treatments in accordance with approved plan

Page 156

Agenda Item 10

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/V2669/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 March 2021

Informative
1. CIL
2. Wild bird informative
3. Works within the highway

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application is referred to committee at the request of Local Ward 

Councillor Bob Johnston.

1.2 The site lies on the western side of Bagley Wood Road and is located within 
the main built up area of Kennington. The site does not lie within the Oxford 
Green Belt, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty or a Conservation Area. 
The plot is bordered to the north, south, and west by existing neighbouring 
dwellings with its eastern boundary formed by Bagley Wood Road with houses 
located on the opposite side. The site is currently well screened by existing 
vegetation. Bagley Wood Road is a single-width road with no formal footways.

1.3 The existing site is the front garden of no.26 Bagley Wood Road. Existing 
development along Bagley Wood Road is extremely varied in terms of plot 
size, design and siting with some dwellings set back within the plot whilst 
others are built close to the road frontage. Building type are varied consisting 
of bungalows, chalet bungalows and two storey houses. The site gradually 
slopes up from the east to the west by approximately 3.4 metres. The existing 
property is served by an extant access located to the southern side of the 
property. 

1.4 A site location map is provided below:

1.5 The application is seeking planning permission for the erection of a three-
bedroom detached dwelling within the existing frontage of no.26 Bagley Wood 
Road. The existing dwelling would remain and the existing access drive down 
the southern side would be shared to serve both dwellings. The existing slope 
would be flattened to lower the proposed house relative to the existing one. 
Amended plans were received on18 December 2020 which reduced the height 
of the proposed boundary fence on the southern side and an additional plan 
received providing additional site level details. The application plans are 
attached at Appendix 1.

Page 157



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 March 2021

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Below is a summary of the responses received to both the original plans and 

the amendments. A full copy of all the comments made can be viewed online 
at www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

Kennington 
Parish Council

The Parish Council objects as follows:
“Kennington Parish Council objects to this application as the 
proposed development for an additional dwelling would 
result in a development which is not compatible with, or 
sympathetic to the grain and character of the surrounding 
area. It would create a cramped pattern of development 
which would be harmful to the established appearance and 
character of the area. The proposal is contrary to policy 
CP37 of the adopted Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 
Part one, to the adopted Design Guide 2015, and to the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework”.

Neighbour 
comments

2 households object on the following grounds:
 Over-looking from the proposed front windows
 Impact on the rural character and appearance of the 

road
 Impact on highway safety and pedestrians
 Ensure an appropriate boundary treatment
 Impact on wildlife
 Construction hours

Highway  
Liaison Officer 
(Oxfordshire 
County 
Council)

No objections subject to planning conditions and the signing 
of a section 106 agreement to maintain visibility splays on 
neighbour’s land.

Drainage 
Engineer

No objection subject to conditions

Contaminated 
Land

No objections

Countryside 
Officer

No objections subject to condition

Forestry Team No objection

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P17/V1274/HH - Approved (06/07/2017)

Rear extension and rebuild garage replacing flat roof with pitched roof.

P05/V0703 - Approved (05/07/2005)

Page 158

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/V1274/HH
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P05/V0703


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 March 2021

New dormer windows

P99/V1284 - Approved (16/12/1999)
Two storey extension to rear.

P96/V0837 - Approved (20/08/1996)
Loft conversion, porch and double garage.

P91/V0026 - Refused (07/03/1991) - Appeal allowed (23/07/1991)
Erection of a 3 bedroom single storey dwelling with new access to highway. 
New passing place for public highway.

3.2 Pre-application History
P20/V1338/PEM - (06/07/2020)
Proposed erection of a new detached dwelling with associated parking and 
amenity space within curtilage of existing house served by a separate 
vehicular/pedestrian access. External alterations to existing house.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 This proposal does not fall within one of the identified classes of development 

in Schedule 2 of the EIA regulations and is not in a sensitive area. A screening 
opinion under the Regulations is therefore not required.

5.0 MAIN ISSUES
The relevant planning considerations are:

 Principle
 Design and layout
 Residential Amenity
 Trees and Landscaping
 Flood risk and drainage
 Biodiversity
 Access and Parking
 Section 106 agreement
 CIL

5.1 Principle
Core Policy 3 of LPP1 classifies the settlements according to their role and 
function. Core Policy 4 of LLP1 specifies the scale and location of new housing 
ensuring development is built in the most appropriate locations.

5.2 Core Policy 4 sets out how the housing need will be met by allocated and 
unallocated sites. Part of the housing need is to be supplied by small ‘windfall’ 
or unallocated sites and these contribute to maintaining the council’s five year 
supply of housing. This policy gives a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development within the existing built up areas of market towns, local service 
centres and larger villages, as these have been identified as the more 

Page 159

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P99/V1284
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P96/V0837
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P91/V0026


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 March 2021

sustainable locations within the district. The proposal would comply with this 
policy on housing need.

5.3 Kennington is classed as a larger village in the Local Plan, therefore new 
dwellings are acceptable in principle within the built-up area under policy CP4. 
The principle of development is therefore acceptable, subject to details which 
will be considered below.

5.4 Design and Layout
Core Policy 37 of LPP1 requires new development to be of a high-quality 
design that is visually attractive and the scale, height, massing and details are 
appropriate for the site and surrounding area.  The government also attaches 
great importance to the design of the built environment. Paragraph 124 of the 
NPPF states that “Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities”. Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that decisions 
should ensure that developments will add to the overall quality of the area, are 
visually attractive as a result of good architecture, and are sympathetic to local 
character.

5.5 The council’s Design Guide provides a further guidance on how to achieve high 
quality, well-designed homes such as identifying the context of the site and 
how this should inform the development.  Section 6 of the Design Guide sets 
out the design approach that should be adopted when designing buildings in 
rural and lower density areas. This includes principles such as the scale, form 
and massing of buildings (DG79) and boundary treatments (DG81).

5.6 The site currently comprises of a single dwelling which is situated in a relatively 
spacious plot. Bagley Wood Road is characterised by a variety of plot sizes, 
designs and siting with some dwellings set back within the plot whilst others are 
built close to the road frontage. There is a variety of dwelling types consisting 
of bungalows, chalet bungalows and two storey houses. Taking into 
consideration the above it is considered that there is no definitive or consistent 
pattern of development. Although the proposed dwelling would be positioned 
closer to the road than the existing dwelling and the neighbouring dwelling 
located to the south, there are various other dwellings along Bagley Wood 
Road that are located in a similar location or closer to the frontage than the 
proposed.

5.7 The site gradually slopes up from the road (east to the west) by approximately 
3.4 metres. To ensure its overall scale and height is in-keeping, the height of 
the proposed dwelling has been designed with a similar height to the existing 
properties along the street. The site levels would be lowered to a flatter profile 
to accommodate the proposed dwelling, which would reduce the impact of the 
dwelling when viewed from the road.  It will also retain an appropriate 
relationship between the existing dwelling and neighbouring properties.

5.8 The proposed dwelling would be of a traditional design and form and would be 
constructed using timber cladding, stone and plain clay tiles. A condition has 
been imposed to request full details of the materials. The materials are 

Page 160



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 March 2021

considered to be in keeping with the wider area. The proposed design will 
incorporate a front projecting gable set down lower than the main roof ridge. 
The front elevation will be broken up by introducing a single storey side aspect. 
Juliet balconies are proposed on the front elevation with full height glazing and 
a Juliet balcony to the rear elevation. The dwelling would be positioned on the 
plot within an appropriate distance and relationship from the existing properties 
located to the north and south. The dwelling will be located approximately 3.0 
metres from the neighbour’s flank elevation to the  northern side boundary and 
over 8.0 metres from the southern side boundary. This will ensure that an 
element of space is retained around the proposed dwelling.

5.9 Overall, it is considered that the scale, form and massing of the proposed 
dwelling is acceptable in design terms, and the dwelling will not appear out of 
place within the street scene or harm the visual amenity of the area.

5.10 Residential Amenity
Policy DP23 of LPP2 seeks to ensure developments do not result in significant 
adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses. The council’s Design 
Guide SPD 2015 seeks any direct facing windows should be at least 21 metres 
apart to ensure no harm to privacy. A minimum distance of 12m is 
recommended between habitable windows and flank walls.

5.11 The nearest neighbouring property that will be affected by the proposal is no.24 
Bagley Wood Road with the existing flank elevation located approximately 3.0 
metres to the northern side of the proposal. There are no proposed first floor 
windows which would cause harm by overlooking no.24. The first-floor window 
in the northern elevation will serve a proposed en-suite. It is small and would 
be obscure glazed. A condition has been imposed to ensure the window is 
obscured.

5.12 The existing front (east) facing windows in no.24 serve a living room area. 
Officers acknowledge that the proposed front projecting gable will partially 
encroach on the 40-degree line to the southernmost ground floor window 
serving no.24. However, currently, the side boundary to no.24 is made up of a 
dense, tall conifer hedge which restricts existing sunlight to the front of number 
windows of no.24. It is proposed to remove the existing hedge and replace with 
a new native hedge and 1.8 metre high timber fence. A condition for which has 
been imposed to secure further details.

5.13 Officer’s consider that the removal of the hedge will offer an improved 
relationship in terms of the sunlight available to the no.24’s front windows 
which more than compensates for the slight infringement of the 40-degree rule.

5.14 In terms of any potential over-looking from the proposed front windows, the 
adjacent properties on the opposite side of the road are located over 21 metres 
away from the front elevation of the proposed dwelling. This relationship is 
considered acceptable and complies with the advice contained within the 
council’s Design Guide 2015.

Page 161



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 March 2021

5.15 The existing dwelling no.26 Bagley Wood Road would be located 
approximately 15 metres away from the proposed dwelling. Although this is 
less than the standard of 21 metres, which is designed to avoid harm from 
mutual overlooking into principal windows, the proposal has been carefully 
designed to prevent this harm from occurring. The proposed change in levels 
and intervening boundary treatment will prevent overlooking from the new 
dwelling into principal windows of no.26. In addition, the proposal includes 
minor changes to no.26, including the removal of front facing dormer window, 
the obscure glazing of another, and insertion of rooflights, to ensure there 
would be no harmful over-looking of principal windows in the new dwelling. A 
condition has been imposed to ensure the changes are implemented prior to 
the first occupation of the new dwelling.

5.16 There is adequate distance between the two dwellings to ensure neither 
building would be harmfully overshadowed. The private garden of the existing 
dwelling would be located to the rear and would measure in excess of 300 sq. 
m. The new dwelling would have a private garden which would measure 
approximately 190 sq. m.  Both of which comply with amenity standards as set 
out within the Design Guide.

5.17 Overall officers are satisfied the development would not result in harm to the 
amenities of neighbouring properties. It would therefore comply with 
Development Policy DP23 and Neighbourhood Plan Policy H1, as well as with 
the council’s Design Guide SPD 2015.

5.18 Trees and Landscaping
Core Policy 44 of LPP1 seeks to protect key features, such as trees, that 
contribute to the nature and quality of the District’s landscape, from harmful 
development and where possibly enhanced.

5.19 Concerns have been raised by the neighbouring property closest to the 
proposed dwelling (no.24) in relation to proposed boundary treatments and 
landscaping on the northern side. It is proposed to remove the existing front 
vegetation and hedge on the northern side boundary. The existing timber fence 
and vegetation to the front of the site is to be replaced with a 1.2-metre-high 
post and rail timber fence and replacement planting. The 1.2-metre-high fence 
will continue along part of the northern side boundary with new native hedge 
planting, then step up to a 1.8-metre-high close boarded fence. To the southern 
side boundary a 1.2-metre-high close boarded fence is proposed which will 
step up to a 1.8-metre-high close boarded fence. The front parts of the site 
include low fencing to ensure the openness of the site is retained.

5.20 The Forestry Officer does not consider that any trees of arboricultural merit will 
be affected by the proposed development.

5.21 Details of the new planting are required to be submitted, and it is considered 
reasonable and necessary to secure these details by way of a condition.

Page 162



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 March 2021

5.22 Flood risk and drainage
Core Policy 42 of LPP1 seeks to ensure that development provides appropriate 
measures for the management of surface water as an essential element of 
reducing future flood risk to both the site and its surroundings.

5.23 The site is not located within a flood zone and is therefore not considered to be 
at risk from flooding. The council’s Drainage Engineer has raised no objections 
to the proposal. To ensure an appropriate drainage scheme is implemented, it 
is considered reasonable and necessary to condition this.

5.24 Biodiversity
Core Policy 46 of LPP1 seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity across the 
district.

5.25 There are no known ecological constraints on the application site. The 
proposed development will result in the loss of garden vegetation. To 
compensate for the loss of this habitat, it is considered appropriate to impose a 
compliance condition which requests that a single integrated bat box, is 
installed in the southern elevation of the proposed dwelling at a height of no 
less than 4 metres.

5.26 As such, the council’s Countryside Officer has raised no objections to the 
proposed development. The applicant will be advised of the protection of wild 
birds and their nests through an informative.

5.27 Access and Parking
Policies CP33 and CP35 of LPP1, and DP16 of LPP2, seek to ensure that the 
impacts of new development on the strategic and local road network are 
minimised, adequate parking is delivered, and provision made for servicing and 
vehicle turning. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that development should 
only be refused on highways grounds if here would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety or the residual impact on the road network would be severe.

5.28 The application site is located within a relatively sustainable larger village as 
defined in the Local Plan. Car parking for three vehicles that meets standards 
is proposed to the front of the property along with the required turning space. 
The Highways Liaison Officer has raised no objections to the proposal subject 
to conditions, one of which, in light of the constrained nature of Bagley Wood 
Road, is a construction traffic management plan.

5.29 This application is accompanied by a highways statement and a car parking 
plan. The existing access requires improvement to ensure that adequate and 
safe visibility splays are provided. To the south the proposed visibility splay 
passes over neighbour’s land to the southwest. This means a condition cannot 
be used to control the splay. After discussions between officers and the 
applicant, it has been agreed that a section 106 legal agreement can be used 
to ensure the splay is provided and retained for the future. The officer 
recommendation is for delegation of authority to grant planning permission to 
the Head of Planning subject to the completion of the legal agreement.

Page 163



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 March 2021

5.30 Community Infrastructure Levy
As the proposed development involves the erection of a new dwelling, the 
proposal is fully liable for CIL.   

5.31 Pre-commencement conditions
These have been agreed with the agent in accordance with Section 100ZA (6) 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

6.0 CONCLUSION
6.1 The site is located within Kennington, designated as a larger village due to its 

level of services and facilities it offers. Larger villages are considered acceptable 
locations for new housing development.

6.2 The site is within the built-up area and the amended scheme is considered 
acceptable in terms of its impact on the character of the area and on 
neighbouring residents.  There are no objections from technical consultees. 
Therefore on this basis officers recommend the application for approval.

6.3 A section 106 agreement to ensure that the visibility splay to the south is 
maintained and kept free from obstruction is considered necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms and is fairly and reasonably related 
in scale and kind to the development.

The following planning policies have been taken into account:
Development Plan Policies

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 (LPP1) Policies:
CP01  -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CP03  -  Settlement Hierarchy
CP04  -  Meeting Our Housing Needs
CP20  -  Spatial Strategy for Western Vale Sub-Area
CP22  -  Housing Mix
CP23  -  Housing Density
CP33  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility
CP35  -  Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness
CP42  -  Flood Risk
CP44  -  Landscape
CP46  -  Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 (LPP2) Policies:
DP02  -  Space Standards
DP16  -  Access
DP23  -  Impact of Development on Amenity
DP28  -  Waste Collection and Recycling

Neighbourhood plan

Page 164



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 March 2021

Kennington Parish Council do not currently have an adopted neighbourhood 
plan.

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
Vale of White Horse Design Guide 2015

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

Other Relevant Legislation Due regard has been had to the following 
legislation; 

 Community & Infrastructure Levy Legislation
 Human Rights Act 1998
 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010
 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998
 Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 

(England) Order 2015 (amended)

Author: Abbie Barnes
Email: abbie.barnes@southandvale.gov.uk

Page 165

mailto:sarah.green@southandvale.gov.uk


2
0
8

76.6m

26

1
8

2

1

4

1
0

2

5

3

7

79.5m

71.9m

2

8

1

5

9

1
6

1
2

2

6

a

The Studio

2

9

1

5

3

1

8

B

A

G

L

E

Y

 

W

O

O

D

 

R

O

A

D

1

1

3

2

1

5

a

1

7

Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2020. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

W

O

O

D
C

R
O

F
T

24

22

Scale 1:1250

0m 25m 50m

Scale 1:500

0m 20m10m 30m

No. 24

No. 26

No. 26a

B

a

g

l

e

y

 

W

o

o

d

 

R

o

a

d

Conifers.

76.87

80.29

76.99

78.19

78.56

79.23

2
0
8

76.6m

26

1
8

2

1

4

1
0

2

5

71.9m

2

8

1

5

9

1
6

1
2

2

6

a

2

9

1

5

3

1

8

B

A

G

L

E

Y

 

W

O

O

D

 

R

O

A

D

1

1

1

5

a

1

7

W

O

O

D
C

R
O

F
T

24

22

5m0m

Scale 1:200

10m 15m

Application Site

Site Area: 0.16 hectares

Block Plan

1:500 @ A1

Location Plan

1:1250 @ A1

Existing Site Plan

1:200 @ A1

N

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to the
commencement of any construction.

The Studio, 22 Tower Close, Emmer Green, Berkshire, RG4 8UU

Tel: 07966489926, E-mail: office@mastersarchitecture.uk

ALL COPYRIGHT RESERVED
C

This drawing may not be reproduced without
written consent from Masters Architecture.

masters ARCHITECTURE

Drawing No:
Date:
Scale:

Drawing:
Project:
Client:

Revision:             Date: Change:

Drawn by: Approved:

26 Bagley Wood Road, Kennington, OX15LY
Mr & Mrs Lynch

Location, Block & Existing Site Plans

1:1250, 1:500 & 1:200 @ A1
September 2020

2005 01A
LM

Existing site levels added.30.11.20A

N

N

Planning

Appendix 1

P
age 166



Scale 1:100

1m0m 2m 3m 4m 5m 7m6m 8m 9m 10m

5m0m

Scale 1:200

10m 15m

No. 26

Bagley Wood Road

1
8
0
0

76.87

77.22

80.29

77.69

78.95

77.54

No. 24

Bedroom

Bathroom

No. 24

Bagley Wood Road

No. 26

76.87

78.19

78.56

79.23

80.29

Bedroom

Bathroom

Rooflights 1.8m above floor level

Obscured glass added to

existing dormer window.

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to the
commencement of any construction.

The Studio, 22 Tower Close, Emmer Green, Berkshire, RG4 8UU

Tel: 07966489926, E-mail: office@mastersarchitecture.uk

ALL COPYRIGHT RESERVED
C

This drawing may not be reproduced without
written consent from Masters Architecture.

masters ARCHITECTURE

Drawing No:
Date:
Scale:

Drawing:
Project:
Client:

Revision:             Date:                          Change:

Drawn by: Approved:

26 Bagley Wood Road, Kennington, OX15LY
Mr & Mrs Lynch

Existing Dwelling

1:200 & 1:100 @ A1
September 2020

2005 03A

Existing & Proposed Plans, Elevations & Sections

LM

Existing Dwelling:

Existing Partial First Floor Plan

1:100 @ A1

Materials Key:

Planning

Outline Sections:

1:200 @ A1

Proposed East-West Site Section

1:200 @ A1

Proposed North-South Site Section Through Boundary

1:200 @ A1

Existing Dwelling:

Existing Partial Roof Plan

1:100 @ A1

NN

Existing East-West Site Section

1:200 @ A1

Existing North-South Site Section Through Boundary

1:200 @ A1

Existing Dwelling - Existing East Elevation

1:100 @ A1

Clay Tile Roof

Painted Render Wall

Outline Sections:

1:200 @ A1

Existing Dwelling:

Proposed Partial First Floor Plan

1:100 @ A1

Existing Dwelling:

Proposed Partial Roof Plan

1:100 @ A1

Existing Dwelling - Proposed East Elevation

1:100 @ A1

Existing & proposed site levels added.30.11.20A
Minor adjustments to boundary fence.

P
age 167



Scale 1:100

1m0m 2m 3m 4m 5m 7m6m 8m 9m 10m

Living

Home

Office

CL

Up

Living Dining Kitchen

Utility

Covered Parking

2005 04

A

2005 04

A

Bike St

Entrance

Bedroom

E/S

D
r
e

s
s
i
n

g

Bedroom

E/S

E/S Bedroom

Up

Void

Study

1.8m head height

1.8m head height

1.6m head height

Bedroom Study

Living Lobby

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to the
commencement of any construction.

The Studio, 22 Tower Close, Emmer Green, Berkshire, RG4 8UU

Tel: 07966489926, E-mail: office@mastersarchitecture.uk

ALL COPYRIGHT RESERVED
C

This drawing may not be reproduced without
written consent from Masters Architecture.

masters ARCHITECTURE

Drawing No:
Date:
Scale:

Drawing:
Project:
Client:

Revision:             Date:                          Change:

Drawn by: Approved:

26 Bagley Wood Road, Kennington, OX15LY
Mr & Mrs Lynch

Proposed Plans & Elevations

1:100 @ A1
September 2020

2005 04A
LM

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

1:100 @ A1

Planning

N

Proposed First Floor Plan

1:100 @ A1

Proposed Roof Plan

1:100 @ A1

N N

Materials Key:

Clay Tile Roof

Brickwork

Natural Stone Wall

Generally, all windows and doors to be timber.

Sliding doors to be PPC aluminium.

Proposed North Elevation

1:100 @ A1

Proposed East (Street) Elevation

1:100 @ A1

Proposed South Elevation

1:100 @ A1

Proposed West Elevation

1:100 @ A1

Typical Section A-A

1:100 @ A1

Timber Cladding

30.11.20A Minor adjustments to boundary fence.

P
age 168



Scale 1:100

1m0m 2m 3m 4m 5m 7m6m 8m 9m 10m

Parking &

Turning Area

No. 24

No. 26

No. 26a

Existing dormer window removed

and replaced with rooflights

(each above 1800mm FL).

Bathrooom window.

Obscured glass to be added.

1

.
8

m

 
T

i
m

b

e

r
 
C

l
o

s

e

b

o

a

r
d

 
F

e

n

c

i
n

g

 
w

i
t
h

 
n

a

t
i
v

e

 
h

e

d

g

e

 
b

e

h

i
n

d

.

1.2m Post and rail

fence with hedge

behind.

Bins

V

i

s

i

b

i

l

i

t

y

 

S

p

l

a

y

 

2

.

4

 

x

 

2

2

.

1

m

.

V

i
s

i
b

i
l
i
t

y

 

S

p

l
a

y

 

2

.

4

 

x

 

2

0

.

7

m

.

Improved visibility

to existing access.

Landscaping reduced to

600mm (maximum height)

within Visibility Splay.

1

.
8

m

 
T

i
m

b

e

r
 
C

l
o

s
e

b

o

a

r
d

 
F

e

n

c
i
n

g

 
w

i
t
h

 
n

a

t
i
v
e

 
h

e

d

g

e

 
b

e

h

i
n

d

.

1

.
2

m

 
P

o

s

t
 
a

n

d

 
R

a

i
l
 
F

e

n

c

e

 
w

i
t
h

 
n

a

t
i
v

e

 
h

e

d

g

e

 
b

e

h

i
n

d

.

76.87

80.29

76.99

77.22

77.69

78.95

77.54

1.8m
 T

im
ber C

loseboard F
encing w

ith native hedge behind.

1.2m
 T

im
ber C

loseboard F
encing

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to the
commencement of any construction.

The Studio, 22 Tower Close, Emmer Green, Berkshire, RG4 8UU

Tel: 07966489926, E-mail: office@mastersarchitecture.uk

ALL COPYRIGHT RESERVED
C

This drawing may not be reproduced without
written consent from Masters Architecture.

masters ARCHITECTURE

Drawing No:
Date:
Scale:

Drawing:
Project:
Client:

Revision:             Date:                          Change:

Drawn by: Approved:

26 Bagley Wood Road, Kennington, OX15LY
Mr & Mrs Lynch

Proposed Site Plan

1:100 @ A1
September 2020

2005 02B
LM

Proposed Site Plan

1:100 @ A1

N

Materials Key:

Vehicle access and parking: gravel

Planning

Proposed site levels added.30.11.20A
Minor adjustments to boundary fence.

Minor adjustments to boundary fence.15.12.20B

P
age 169


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Public participation
	Planning Committee 31 March 2021 - Hester Hand, Friends of Abingdon Civic Society
	Frank Wright statement 31.03.21
	Cllr. Ware, statement 31March (003)
	Land at Townsend Road, Shrivenham (ref. P20V1279FUL) – Deputation (Sarah Hockin, Turley)
	2021_03_29 26 Bagley Wood Road letter to Planning Committee SENT 29_01

	7 P19/V3211/FUL & P19/V3212/LB - Austin House, 76 Bath Street, Abingdon
	Appendices 1-3
	Appendix 1 - 2019 Master Plan reduced
	690-15-010-p5-ah-sitelocationplan
	690-15-011-p4-ah-siteboundaryplan
	690-15-101-p6-ah-level0plan
	690-15-102-p6-ah-level1plan
	690-15-103-p6-ah-level2plan
	690-15-105-p3-ah-basementplan
	690-15-110-p5-ah-north&southelevations
	690-15-111-p5-ah-east&westelevations
	690-15-120-p3-ah-sectionsa&b
	690-15-121-p3-ah-sectionsc&d
	690-15-135-p2-ah-level1linkbridgedetail
	Appendix 3 - Development rationale


	8 P19/V3213/FUL - Crescent House, 21 Park Crescent,  Abingdon
	Appendices 1-3
	Appendix 1 - 2019 Master Plan reduced
	Crescent House Level 0 Plan Drwgno 690-15-201 Rev P5
	Crescent House Level 1 Plan Drwgno 690-15-202 Rev P5
	Crescent House Level 2 Plan Drwgno 690-15-203 Rev P4
	North & West Elevation Proposed Drwgno 690-15-210 Rev P4
	Sections A & B Drwgno 690-02-220 Rev P2
	Sections C & D Drwgno 690-02-221 Rev P2
	Site Boundary Plan Drwgno 690-15-021-P3
	South East & South West Elevation Proposed  Drwgno 690-15-211 Rev P4
	Appendix 3 - Development rationale


	9 P20/V1279/FUL - Land at Townsend Road, Shrivenham
	Appendices

	10 P20/V2669/FUL - Fourwinds, 26 Bagley Wood Road, Kennington
	Appendix 1
	201130_26BWR_2005_01A
	Sheets and Views
	01


	201130_26BWR_2005_03A
	Sheets and Views
	03


	201130_26BWR_2005_04A
	Sheets and Views
	04


	201215_26BWR_2005_02B_
	Sheets and Views
	02





